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The Perishable Products Export Control Board (PPECB) is an independent service 
provider of quality certification and cold chain management services for producers 
and exporters of perishable products.

These services support the PPECB’s strategic objectives of enhancing the credibility 
of the South African export certificate and supporting the export competitiveness of 
South Africa’s perishable product industries.
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cartons of table 
grapes inspected  

increase in inspected 
lemon volumes 

of maize exported  
to Africa  

of main perishable 
products inspected 

on TITAN 2.0® 

food safety audits 
conducted  

of pome fruit 
exported to Asia 

hectares of citrus 
orchards inspected 
in the 2020 season 

kilograms of 
vegetables inspected

activity points 
interfacing with 

TITAN 2.0® 

containers shipped   

of stone fruit 
exported to the 

Middle East  

cartons of avocados 
inspected 

metric tonnes 
of ground nuts 

inspected

cartons inspected on 
TITAN 2.0® 

increase in samples 
tested through the 

Pesticide Analytical 
Programme (PAP) 

cartons of citrus 
inspected 

of mangos went to 
the Middle East  

above-budget 
tree nut volumes 

inspected 

of all citrus fruit 
shipped from the 

Port of Durban 

satisfaction rating 
in our annual client 
satisfaction survey

65.1m

13% 

56% 

66%

1 286 

22%

54 097 

126m

824

173 217 

20%

12.7m 

11 211 

189.9m 

20%

150.4m

82.4% 

17%

51% 

84% 
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Chapter 1:  Forewords Chapter 1:  Forewords

Minister’s Foreword

As an organisation tasked to oversee the export of 
perishable produce, the PPECB plays a crucial role in 
ensuring that South Africa consistently delivers produce 
that is both safe to eat and of premium quality to more 
than 100 countries. By doing so, the PPECB supports the 
competitiveness of the South African agricultural export 
industry worldwide.

His Excellency President Cyril Ramaphosa reiterated the 
importance of agriculture during his 2021 State of the 
Nation Address. The President highlighted government’s 
focus on supporting smallholder and emerging farmers 
to further develop their skills and access markets. I am 
therefore pleased to note the PPECB’s efforts to train 53 
smallholder farmers. A further 129 farmers have also 
been certified as export ready, in collaboration with 
the Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development (DALRRD).

I am further delighted to note the PPECB’s progress 
on their electronic inspection platform, TITAN 2.0®, 
which now integrates with the Department’s electronic 
certification platform. This initiative is well aligned with 
government’s drive towards electronic data exchange 
and digitisation. 

I want to congratulate the PPECB on their achievements 
during 2020. I also want to thank the PPECB Board and 
staff for their collaboration and support during the year 
under review.

Ms AT Didiza, MP  
Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development

The year under review was certainly dominated by the devastating effects of COVID-19 and its lasting impact on the 
livelihoods of our people. Our thoughts and prayers remain with those who have lost loved ones. Notwithstanding the 
impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic, the South African agricultural export industry remained resilient, with citrus 
fruit delivering record export volumes.

Chairperson’s Foreword

As the world starts returning to a semblance of normality, it gives me pleasure to present the Annual Report of the 
Perishable Products Export Control Board (PPECB) for the 2020/21 financial year. During these extremely trying times, 
the PPECB has continued to provide a world-class service to its clients, thereby enhancing the credibility of the South 
African export certificate and supporting the export competitiveness of South Africa’s perishable product industries. 
My thanks must go to all the staff members of the PPECB who continued working diligently during these challenging 
times. Our thoughts and prayers are with the families of the two staff members who we lost due to COVID-19. To date, 
84 of our staff members have contracted the virus.

Since the first quarter of 2020, the agricultural sector 
has been a positive contributor to the country’s GDP 
growth, increasing by 28.6% and becoming the strongest 
performer (15.1%) in the second quarter of 2020, despite 
the unpleasant conditions of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Agriculture continued to increase in contribution at a 
rate of 18.5% in the third quarter of 2020.

During that third quarter, South Africa reported record 
exports of US$ 3.2bn1, i.e. a 5% increase year-on-year. 
The growth was primarily underpinned by citrus, 
wine, maize, nuts, deciduous fruit and sugar cane. The 
favourable weather conditions and volatile exchange 
rate had a positive impact on agricultural exports, 
which is why it helped sustain growth in the economy. 
Furthermore, successful collaboration between the 
government and private sector agricultural industries 
allowed the country to keep agriculture operational 
from the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic and through 
the lockdowns that followed. This collaboration, along 
with long-term export market development efforts, 
has continued to pay off for South Africa’s agricultural 
sector.

From a legislative point of view, the long-awaited PPEC 
Bill has also now received legal certification; but is still 
awaiting its introduction to Parliament.

Unusual times: sustaining excellent service, 
returning excellent results 
As mentioned in my previous report, the PPECB is 
considered an essential service and so remained at 
work throughout the lockdown, continuing to render an 
outstanding service to the perishable products industry 
across the country. The PPECB once again achieved a 
customer satisfaction rating of 84%. While the feedback 
is mostly positive, individual areas of potential service 
improvement were noted and addressed where possible.

The PPECB has judiciously managed its finances during 
these difficult times and has turned the loss of R4.7m in 
2020 into a profit of R23.4m in 2021. This is thanks in 
part to the record citrus crop but also due to extremely 
careful management of expenses. We are pleased to 
report that the PPECB has again received an unqualified 
audit report.

1 National Agricultural Marketing Council: https://www.namc.co.za/agricultural-sector-contribution-to-south-africas-gross-domestic-product-gdp/
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Ongoing digitising efforts: continuous 
improvement in many areas
During the year under review, the PPECB continued 
to invest in its ICT infrastructure to ensure a more 
efficient and effective service delivery to clients, both 
internal and external. The PPECB’s ICT infrastructure 
has therefore been considerably more stable than in 
the previous fiscal year. Its stability also ensured that 
the PPECB could introduce remote working during the 
national lockdown with minimal disruption.

The PPECB has continued with the development of the 
TITAN 2.0® system, and I am pleased to report that, in 
the last fiscal year, there has been an increased uptake 
on TITAN 2.0®, particularly for grapes (84%), avocados 
(73%), stone fruit (68%), citrus (60%) and pome fruit 
(48%), with a total of 192 million cartons inspected 
on TITAN 2.0® during the year under review. The  
TITAN 2.0®platform is also integrating well with 
e-certification and major industry systems. 

A major milestone for PPECB and TITAN 2.0® was 
the release of the first Cold Chain Module. Schedule 
1 (as referred to in the Perishable Products Export 
Control (PPEC) Bill) comprises look-ups of regime 
codes for products destined for certain countries, 
along with recommended carrying temperatures, 
False Codling Moth (FCM) status and other matters. 
These can now be electronically searched for on the  
TITAN 2.0® website. The development of the TITAN 2.0® 
system continues unabated.

TITAN 2.0® dramatically reduced the turnaround time 
and administration involved with export certification 
and improves compliance with the Department of 
Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development 
(DALRRD)’s requirements. Furthermore, the data 
provided by the system assisted the PPECB in providing 
timeous and accurate statistical data to industry 
stakeholders. It also ensured accurate billing.

The cloud migration project has completed the migration 
of all critical servers from the PPECB’s head office to 
the cloud. However, there are still a few applications and 
file servers that require further analysis. The disaster 
recovery and high availability plans are being designed 
to ensure full resiliency.

In keeping with the ongoing digitisation drive, the 
Board has approved the replacement of the PPECB’s 
legacy information and financial system with a fully-
fledged Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system. 
Implementation of this system will start in 2021. 
During the 2020/21 fiscal year, the PPECB remained  
ISO 9001:2015 compliant. The organisation’s  
ISO 9001:2015 accreditation lends further credibility 
to its systems and processes. In addition to this, the 
PPECB laboratory’s ISO 17025 accreditation was also 
maintained.

Operational issues: rising to our business 
challenges 
The inefficiencies at South African ports, including the 
limited availability of cold storage space and containers, 
are some of the major challenges that negatively impact 
the export of fresh produce from South Africa. For 
instance, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, pre-clearance 
inspectors from Japan and South Korea will not be 
present in South Africa this year. The PPECB will assist 
DALRRD in ensuring compliance at farm, packhouse and 
port level in this regard. 

The PPECB laboratory is facing numerous challenges. 
Although the commercial analytical services offered 
are doing well, the laboratory is facing competition as 
the operating environment is extremely competitive. 
Competitor laboratories do not have a rigid pricing model 
(including a sliding scale) and are able to offer more 
competitive pricing to clients. This has led to a decrease 
in minimum residue level (MRL) private samples for 
the PPECB laboratory. To become more profitable, the 
laboratory must grow its sample intake as well as its 
analytical programmes, but this is not possible in the 
current location due to limited space. The board is 
considering several options related to the laboratory.

A Memorandum of Understanding with FOODEX 
Morocco was signed by both parties during the year 
under review. The agreement mainly focuses on the 
exchange of relevant information, within the confines 
of legislation, and exploring opportunities for training.

As part of our business strategy for the forthcoming 
year we will focus on the implementation of the 
ERP system, the ongoing roll-out of TITAN 2.0®, the 
continued development of smallholder farmers, further 
development of business intelligence systems for 
improved reporting, ongoing digitisation and change 
methodologies to increase efficiencies and contain costs.

Socio-economic transformation: ensuring 
transformation in our industry
In line with the PPECB’s strategic objectives, the 
organisation remains focused on contributing to the 
socio-economic transformation of the agricultural sector. 
To this end, the PPECB trained 53 smallholder farmers 
during the year under review. A further 129 smallholder 
farmers have been issued with a South African Good 
Agricultural Practices (SA GAP) certificate. However, 
had it not been for the COVID-19 restrictions, this 
training would have been provided to even more farmers.

Staff development and communication: 
keeping the channels open
During the 2020/21 fiscal year, 2 292 people attended 
training initiatives. This took the form of a combination 
of technical and non-technical skills training, such as 
leadership and strategic management, occupational 
health and safety (OHS) training, Protection of Personal 
Information Act (POPIA) training and virtual facilitation 
training. Aligned with the PPECB’s strategy of digital 
transformation, the organisation will continue to focus 
on the development of new skills to support the business 
strategy. The PPECB is ready for the introduction of 
POPIA later in 2021.

Our marketing division continued with its quest to 
ensure that the PPECB remains visible: consequently, 
stakeholders are fully aware of the role of the 
organisation. Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the PPECB 
relied mainly on virtual platforms and publications to 
achieve these objectives. The PPECB website remains 
a source of valuable information for the industry and 
receives on average 6 000 visits per month.

In gratitude: my thanks to all for your efforts 
during this unprecedented year
I must thank our clients for their continued support 
of the PPECB during these times. Thank you also to 
the Honourable Minister Thoko Didiza, the Portfolio 
Committee and the team at DALRRD for their ongoing 
support and assistance. 

Thank you, too, to my fellow Board members for their 
continuing expertise and guidance in leading the PPECB. 
We have come through a difficult year but, under their 
diligent stewardship, we have managed to carefully and 
successfully navigate the stormy waters. 

Clive Garrett   
Chairperson, the PPECB

Chairperson’s Forward (continued)
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Chief Executive Officer’s Foreword

I am delighted to present you with the PPECB’s annual report for the period ending March 2021. This report provides 
you with an overview of the organisation’s achievements and the challenges we faced during the period under review. 
The global devastation caused by COVID-19 cannot be over-emphasised. Our thoughts and prayers remain with those 
who have lost loved ones during this time.

Delivering remarkable service during a 
pandemic
Notwithstanding the impact of COVID-19, the South 
African perishable product export industry remained 
resilient, with citrus fruit exports at an all-time high. 
A total of 150 million cartons of citrus were exported 
during the 2020/21 fiscal year, representing an 11% 
increase compared to the previous year. In addition, 
2.3 million tonnes of maize and grain were exported, 
which is 53% more than 2019/20. While these increases 
in volumes are certainly encouraging, combined with the 
impact of COVID-19, they placed significant additional 
strain on the export value chain. Throughout the year 
under review, the PPECB’s service delivery was tested 
to the extreme. 

Navigating uncharted territory, the PPECB had to put 
additional measures in place to ensure South African 
exports continued mostly uninterrupted, whilst ensuring 
compliance was not compromised. I would therefore 
like to thank our employees for their unwavering 
commitment and dedication, as well as the tremendous 
flexibility they have demonstrated during this time. 
In collaboration with the Department of Agriculture, 
Land Reform and Rural Development (DALRRD) and 
the industry, South African perishable produce exports 
continued to grow, despite unprecedented conditions.

Advancing our key strategic projects 
The PPECB’s electronic inspection platform, 
TITAN 2.0®, has undergone significant upgrades since we 
last reported. The upgraded version can now integrate 
with DALRRD’s electronic certification platform, 
allowing a more efficient flow of critical inspection 
information. At the end of March 2021, more than 
180 million cartons of fruit had been inspected using 
TITAN 2.0®, with grapes leading the way at 84% of 
cartons inspected. The progress to date would have not 
been possible without the collaboration and support of 
industry software vendors, exporters, pack houses and 
the e-certification team.

The replacement of the PPECB’s legacy information and 
financial system is well underway. With the software for 
the anticipated Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
system identified, the PPECB is now in the process of 
appointing an implementation partner and plans to have 
the initial implementation phase concluded by the end 
of 2021. The introduction of a fully-fledged ERP system 

will create much-needed process efficiencies, further 
supporting the PPECB’s drive towards a more customer-
centric approach.

In addition to the above, critical systems have been 
migrated to the cloud to improve accessibility and reduce 
downtime. Upgrades on the organisation’s wide area 
network (WAN) and business intelligence functionality 
have also been initiated. 

Empowering our communities and our people
The PPECB continued with its corporate social 
investment initiatives during the period under review. 
Notwithstanding the cancellation of our annual 
“Chip in for Charity” golf day in 2020, the PPECB still 
managed to provide much-needed relief to the value of  
R325 000. Support provided included mainly the 
provision of personal protective equipment and the 
establishment of sustainable gardens.

Collaboration with DALRRD and provinces on the 
training of smallholder farmers continued during the 
2020/21 financial year. While face-to-face training has 
been limited due to COVID-19 restrictions, a total of 53 
farmers have still been trained on matters of food safety 
and the responsible use of pesticides. In addition, 129 
smallholder farmers have been audited and certified as 
export ready.

The PPECB’s flagship Agricultural Export Technologist 
Programme (AETP) managed to graduate 42 students 
during 2020/21. The programme remains the 
organisation’s primary feeder programme, ensuring the 
availability of trained inspectors. In collaboration with 
DALRRD, the PPECB will therefore continue to invest in 
this programme over the medium to long term.

In closing, my thanks to all our stakeholders
Customer satisfaction and efficient service delivery 
remain the PPECB’s core priorities. I am therefore 
pleased to report that the PPECB achieved an 84% 
customer satisfaction rating in the year under review. 
The PPECB is fortunate to remain financially sound and 
will therefore further invest in initiatives to improve 
service delivery. Lastly, I wish to thank the PPECB 
Board, staff and all stakeholders for your continuous 
support during an extremely difficult year. I trust that 
this report will be of great value to you all.

Lucien Jansen  
Chief Executive Officer
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Board Members

Clive Garrett 
Chairperson

Age: 59

Dr Charlotte Nkuna 
Vice-Chairperson

Age: 47

Anton Kruger 
Human Resources  
Committee Chairperson

Age: 64

Martli Slabber 
Audit Committee Chairperson 
Age: 56

Dr Madel van Eeden
Human Resources Committee

Age: 46

Mooketsa Ramasodi 
Audit Committee

Age: 49

Mariette Kotzé 
Audit Committee

Age: 41

Khaya Katoo 
Audit Committee

Age: 46

Kathryn Sinclair

Human Resources Committee

Age: 54

Warren Bam
Human Resources Committee

Age: 52
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Board and Sub-Committees

Board Audit Committee Human Resources 
Committee

Who appoints 
members?

Minister of Agriculture, Land 
Reform and Rural Development

The PPECB Board The PPECB Board

Term and date 
appointed

2020-2023 
New Board appointed 
01/02/2020 for three years

2020-2023 
New committee appointed 
12/03/2020 for three years

2020-2023 
New committee appointed 
12/03/2020 for three years

Composition All non-executives and one 
ministerial representative

All non-executives and one 
ministerial representative

All non-executives

Charter approved 
by the Board 

Yes Yes Yes

Do members 
have to declare 
interests?

Yes  
(There is a policy approved by 
the Board)

Yes  
(There is a policy approved by 
the Board)

Yes  
(There is a policy approved by 
the Board)

Key roles as 
detailed in 
charters

• Define and ensure compliance 
with the Perishable 
Products Export Control Act 
(PPEC Act), the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA) and 
Treasury regulations

• Determine strategic direction
• Approve policies to achieve the 

objectives of the PPEC Act
• Annually approve the business 

plan, strategic plan and 
budget, as well as monitor the 
organisation’s performance 
against these plans

• Establish and oversee 
the framework of risk 
management and systems of 
internal control

• Determine the appropriate 
delegation of authority

• Ensure that management 
integrates strategy, 
sustainability and control

• Evaluate the independence, 
objectivity and effectiveness of 
the external auditor

• Review any accounting and 
auditing concerns identified 
as a result of external and/or 
internal audit

• Obtain assurance from the 
external auditor that adequate 
accounting records are being 
maintained

• Examine and review the 
financial statements and 
interim management reports

• Monitor the ethical conduct 
of the company, its executives 
and its senior officials

• Oversee the risk management 
plan of the PPECB

• Review the independence of 
the external auditor

• Make recommendations on the 
reappointment of the external 
auditor

• Monitor and supervise the 
performance of the internal 
auditors

• Act in accordance with the 
requirements set out in 
the PFMA and Treasury 
regulations

• Review defined human 
resource indicators and 
make proposals to the Board 
on policy amendments if 
necessary

• Make recommendations to 
the Board on human resource 
management policies

• Report to the Board on staff 
development, capacity and 
organisational structure 
requirements

• Monitor the implementation of 
employment equity targets and 
management’s action plans to 
achieve these

• Make recommendations to 
the Board on remuneration 
incentives and the annual 
salary review of the CEO, 
Executive Management and 
staff

• Monitor compliance with 
relevant employment and 
labour legislation

Board Audit Committee Human Resources 
Committee

Key focus areas • Leadership development
• Culture
• Transformation
• Talent management
• Key strategic projects, namely 

TITAN 2.0® and Enterprise 
Resource Planning (ERP)

• Regulatory affairs

• Quarterly and annual results
• Risk management
• Accounting and auditing 

functions
• Financial reporting
• Corporate governance 
• Compliance matters
• Approval of tenders

• Staff wellness: impact of 
COVID-19

• Leadership development 
• Culture
• Transformation
• Talent management

Number of 
meetings 
required to 
be held as per 
charter

4 4 4

Number of 
meetings held

4 4 4

Did all members 
attend all 
meetings? (Refer 
to table on page
20 for details of 
attendance)

No No No

Other permanent 
invitees

• Executive Committee (EXCO) 
• Legal and corporate 

governance manager

• EXCO
• Legal and corporate 

governance manager
• External auditor and internal 

auditors (with unrestricted 
access to chairperson of the 
committee)

• Financial accountant (by 
invitation of the CFO, as 
required)

• EXCO
• Legal and corporate 

governance manager
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Board member 
(Age) Qualifications Commencement 

of service
Other directorships/
professional positions

Clive Garrett 
(Chairperson)
(59)

CA (SA);
MBL;
BCom;
BCompt Honours

2016 • Director: South African Avocado 
Growers Association

• SAAGA Market Development 
Committee 

• Director: World Avocado Organisation 

Khaya Katoo
(45)

National Diploma in Electrical 
Engineering;
Agricultural Leadership Development 
Programme;
Citrus Excellence Programme;
Food Safety Short Course; 
Good Agricultural Practice Short 
Course

2016 • Director: Threepence Development
• Director: Three K
• Director: Gamtoos Valley Farming
• Director: Gamtoos Irrigation
• Citrus Development Chamber

Anton Kruger
(64)

Higher Education Diploma;
BA Honours (Geography);
BA (Psychology, Geography and 
Biblical Studies);
MBA;
Diploma in Investment Management;
Certificate in Financial Services 
Marketing

2016 • CEO: Fresh Produce Exporters' Forum 
NPC

• Director: Fruit Mzanzi Africa t/a Fruit 
South Africa NPC

Mooketsa Ramasodi
(48)

Diploma in Agriculture;
Bachelor of Agricultural 
Management;
BA Honours (InstAgrar);
Certificate in Industrial Marketing;
Master of Institutional Agriculture 
(Agronomy);
MBL

2016 • Deputy Director-General: Agricultural 
Production, Health and Food Safety: 
Department of Agriculture, Land 
Reform and Rural Development 
(DALRRD)

Martli Slabber
(55)

BA Honours (Afrikaans Nederlands)
BBA Honours

2016 • Managing Director: DJ Visser (Pty) 
Ltd

• Managing Director: Hexrivier Sitrus 
(Pty) Ltd

• Director: Regenwurm (Pty) Ltd
• Citrusdal Water Users Association

Warren Bam
(51)

Diploma in Marketing and Sales 
Management

2020 • 24 Rivers Irrigation Board
• Director: SATI
• SATI: Chairperson of the 

Transformation Committee
• Director: WCB Boerdery (Pty) Ltd
• Director: Wesvanni (Pty) Ltd
• Director: Wesland Boerdery (Pty) Ltd
• Partner: Rehoboth Boerdery
• Director: Events Cooling  (Pty) Ltd

Mariette Kotzé
(40)

Masters in Sustainable Agriculture;
BTech (Agricultural Management);
National Diploma in Agricultural 
Management

2020 • Chairperson: Commodity Project 
Allocation Committee

• Member: South African Plant 
Improvement (SAPO) Audit 
Committee

• Member: AgriBEE Charter Council

Dr Charlotte Nkuna
(46)

MBA;
BVMCh (Bachelor of Veterinary 
Medicine and Surgery);
Certificate of Principles and Practice 
of Brand Communications

2020 • General Manager: Veterinary Wildlife 
Services Sanparks

• Councillor: South African Veterinary 
Council

• Board Member: South African 
Veterinary Association (SAVETCON)

• Board Member: AgriSA

Kathryn Sinclair
(54)

BSc (Business Science);
National Higher Diploma in Food 
Technology; 
National Diploma in Food Technology

2020 • Chairperson: White Fish Technical 
Committee

Dr Madel van Eeden
(46)

BSc (Microbiology and Zoology);
BSc Honours (Microbiology);
MSc cum laude (Microbiology);
Doctor of Philosophy in Microbiology

2020 • Member: South African Fruit and 
Vegetable Canners Association

PPECB Board member qualifications and interests

Board and Sub-Committees (continued)
Management Committees

Executive Committee (EXCO) Risk Management Committee  
(RISCO)

Who appoints 
members?

CEO CEO

Term and date 
appointed

No term Members are appointed for a minimum of two years

Composition CEO, CFO and other executive managers (refer to 
page 21 for details)

Senior management representing the departments 
within the entity

Charter approved 
by the Board 

Yes Yes

Do members 
have to declare 
interests?

Yes  
(There is a policy approved by the Board)

Yes  
(There is a policy approved by the Board)

Key roles as 
detailed in 
charters

Supporting the CEO and the Board in the day-to-
day management through a formal delegation of 
authority, which includes but is not limited to:
• Developing PPECB strategy, business plans and 

budgets for approval by the Board
• Appointing a suitably qualified executive team 

and establishing the appropriate organisational 
structure necessary to support the CEO in 
executing the PPECB’s strategy

• Monitoring and reporting to the Board on the 
performance of the PPECB against its strategic 
objectives

• Setting an example of ethical conduct by leading 
the PPECB’s staff and its management ethically

• Ensuring that the PPECB complies with relevant 
laws, legislation and governance principles

• Providing the Board with corporate governance, 
guidance and support

• Managing and ensuring staff conform to the 
values, objectives and policies of the PPECB, 
through effective leadership

• Ensuring the Board is given the necessary 
information to perform its duties

• Ensuring that proper systems of control are 
established and maintained

• Performing a self-evaluation of its own 
performance and effectiveness

• Supporting the CEO and the executives in 
reviewing the effectiveness of the PPECB’s risk 
management systems, practices and procedures 
in accordance with policies approved by the 
Board 

• Ensuring that risks are identified, evaluated, 
effectively managed and, where practical, 
quantified

• Fulfilling the risk management and control 
responsibilities 

• Preparing reports for EXCO for consideration by 
the Audit Committee and the Board

• Advising the Board, through EXCO, on mitigating 
strategies for risks identified and monitoring 
these strategies

• Considering the effectiveness of the risk 
management system 

• As part of succession planning, the chairperson 
delegates certain meeting agenda items to the 
vice-chairperson

Number of 
meetings 
required to 
be held as per 
charter

Minimum of six meetings per annum Quarterly

Number of 
meetings held

6 4

Did all members 
attend all 
meetings? 

No No

Other permanent 
invitees

• Legal and corporate governance manager
• Assistant legal advisor

• Legal and corporate governance manager
• Financial systems and compliance auditor
• Occupational health and safety coordinator
• Assistant legal advisor



Cyril Julius 

Chief Operations Officer

Yanesh Ramiah 
Chief Information Officer

Pinki Luwaca 
Human Capital Executive  

Lucien Jansen 
Chief Executive Officer 

Johan Schwiebus 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Member Board Audit Committee Human Resources 
Committee

Meetings held 4 4 4

Number of meetings 
attended/total number 

of meetings held whilst a 
member of the Board

Number of meetings 
attended/total number 

of meetings held whilst a 
member of the Audit  

Committee

Number of meetings 
attended/total number 

of meetings held whilst a 
member of the HR  

Committee

Mr CG Garrett1 4/4 N/A N/A

Mr KB Katoo 4/4 4/4 N/A

Ms M Slabber3 4/4 4/4 N/A

Mr RM Ramasodi 2/4 4/4 N/A

Mr AJ Kruger4 4/4 N/A 4/4

Ms K Sinclair 4/4 N/A 3/4

Mr W Bam 3/4 N/A 4/4

Dr C Nkuna2 4/4 N/A N/A

Dr M van Eeden 4/4 N/A 4/4

Ms M Kotzé 4/4 4/4 N/A
1 Chairpersoon of the Board
2 Vice-Chairperson of the Board
3 Chairperson of the Audit Committee
4 Chairperson of the Human Resources Communittee

Board and sub-committee meetings: summary of attendance Executive Committee

Management Committees (continued)
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Corporate Governance Report

The following report sets out the corporate governance 
framework adopted by the PPECB Board and highlights 
the key activities for the year under review.

The corporate governance framework enables the  
Board to: 

• Fulfil its role and discharge its duties and 
responsibilities as required by legislation and the 
regulatory environment in which the PPECB operates

• Contribute to servicing the PPECB’s customers in a 
professional manner

• Decide on the PPECB’s policy and strategic direction

• Set the parameters for delegating authority in the 
organisation 

• Oversee risk management and internal controls at the 
PPECB.

An essential characteristic of the PPECB’s culture is its 
compliance with applicable legislation, including the 
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, relevant 
acts, regulations, standards, protocols and codes. The 
PPECB’s key enabling legislations are: The Perishable 
Products Export Control Act (PPEC Act); the Agricultural 
Product Standards Act (APS Act); and the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA). The PPEC Act is currently 
under review. During the reporting period, the PPECB 
Board approved a Legal and Compliance register, which 
ensures that the PPECB remains focused on complying 
with applicable legislation. 

The Legal Compliance register:

• Identifies relevant legislation, policies and best 
practice

• Indicates, where applicable, a management action 
plan, due date and responsible party. The Legal 
Compliance register is a standing agenda item for 
the Risk Committee (RISCO) and is considered and 
discussed at each RISCO meeting

• Provides an overview of the relevant sections of 
legislation the PPECB must comply with, as well 
as actions required to ensure compliance with key 
legislation. During the period under review, the PPECB 
focused on ensuring compliance with the Protection 
of Personal Information Act (POPIA). Following a 
personal information impact assessment, a POPIA 
implementation plan was drafted to mitigate identified 
risks. The implementation plan has been added as an 
action item and progress thereof is monitored by the 
RISCO.

The Board’s approach to corporate governance is 
based on the fact that sound governance is essential 
to creating a sustainable business. The new PPECB 
Board’s term commenced on 1 February 2020. Since 
a new Board commenced service on 1 February 2020, 
the continuing development and mentorship of Board 
members, particularly new Board members, was a focus 
area and remains a focus area for the year ahead. During 
the period under review, the PPECB Board, together 
with members of the Executive Committee (EXCO), 
attended a Supply Chain Management workshop. They 
also attended Enterprise Risk Management, Combined 
Assurance and Fraud Risk training, as well as an 
overview of POPIA.

The PPECB’s Board members and its sub-
committees 
The PPECB is a statutory body constituted in 
accordance with Section 4 of the PPEC Act. The PPECB 
Board comprises ten non-executive Board members, 
representing the industries in which the PPECB operates. 
An independent non-executive member has not been 
appointed as a lead independent: such an appointment 
is not provided for in the PPEC Act. 

PPECB Board members are appointed by, and are 
accountable to, the Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform 
and Rural Development. They represent seven of the 
largest export groups as determined by export volume, 
as well as a member designated by the Minister. As such, 
the majority of the non-executive Board members and 

Chairperson of the PPECB Board cannot be categorised 
as independent, as recommended by principle seven of 
the King IV Report™. In terms of the PPEC Act, Board 
members serve for a period of three years. 

To discharge its duties more effectively, the Board has 
approved and delegated authority on specific matters 
to the following committees: an Audit Committee and a 
Human Resources Committee, where social and ethics 
matters are considered and discussed. ICT strategic 
projects and risks are a standing agenda item for the 
Audit Committee. The Chief Information Officer (CIO) 
reports directly to the Board in respect of all matters 
relating to information and communications technology. 
The sub-committees serve under written and approved 
charters, which are reviewed and updated annually. 

The members of the Audit Committee and Human 
Resources Committee are satisfied that they have fulfilled 
their responsibilities in accordance with the relevant 
charters for the reporting period. The chairpersons of 
these sub-committees are responsible for relaying all 
proposals agreed by the sub-committees to the Board 
for approval, or otherwise.

Notices, agendas and documentation pertaining to the 
Board and sub-committee meetings are distributed 
well in advance. Minutes of all meetings are taken and 
are approved at the first and subsequent meetings. 
Where necessary, decisions can be taken between these 
meetings by round-robin resolutions via email. These 
round-robin resolutions are ratified at the subsequent 
committee or Board meeting. All documented minutes 
and resolutions are stored either in fireproof safes at the 
PPECB or at off-site storage facilities. Electronic copies 
are stored in secured folders with restricted access. 

Chairperson
The Board appoints the Chairperson, who is responsible 
for the effective functioning of the Board. The 
Chairperson’s primary duties include:

• Providing overall leadership to the Board

• Presiding over Board meetings, ensuring they function 
smoothly and managing conflicts of interest

• Ensuring that Board members receive professional 
advice when needed

• Serving as an informal link between Board members 
and the EXCO, as well as providing support and advice, 
while respecting executive responsibility

• Serving as the link between the PPECB Board and 
the Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development

• Ensuring that regular and objective appraisals are 
administered to assess the Board’s effectiveness.

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
The CEO has been appointed by the Board in terms of 
Section 13 of the PPEC Act and is entrusted with the 
power to manage and control the work authorised by the 
Board, as well as to exercise supervision over the other 
officers and employees of the PPECB. 

The Chairperson of the Board evaluated the performance 
of the CEO and reported thereon at the Board meeting 
in May 2021, following the previous reporting period. 
A three-month written notice period is applicable, 
should either party wish to terminate the employment 
agreement prior to the termination date.

Even though the CEO’s contract of employment has been 
renewed for a second term, succession planning for the 
CEO remains a focus area, which has been managed 
in terms of the PPECB Talent Framework. Succession 
planning has been implemented by ensuring that either 
the COO or CFO can take over the role at short notice, if 
necessary. When the CEO is required to travel abroad for 
an extensive period of time, either the COO or CFO are 
appointed to act in the position of CEO and fulfil all CEO 
duties accordingly. 

The CEO is a member of the Institute of Directors Southern 
Africa, a director of the Fresh Produce Exporters’ Forum 
(FPEF) and is a country council member of the Produce 
Marketing Association (PMA).

The Board is satisfied that it has determined the 
appropriate delegation of authority to ensure that both 
management and the CEO are empowered to manage 
the day-to-day activities of the PPECB. The PPECB 
acts in accordance with a Board-approved delegation 
of authority framework, which stipulates levels of 
authority for the CEO, EXCO and senior managers. 

Business conduct
The PPECB Board endeavours to lead ethically, 
effectively and with integrity. It has adopted a code of 
conduct, which was approved by the Board. The EXCO 
and RISCO monitor compliance with this code at all 
times. During the period under review, the Operational 
Management Committee (MANCO) platform was utilised 
to raise awareness on and highlight changes to the code 
of conduct.

The PPECB has an independently-managed fraud and 
ethics hotline to monitor and promote awareness of 
potentially unethical employee behaviour. During the 
reporting period, the PPECB created awareness through 
articles and presentations on the PPECB intranet in 
respect of fraud, declarations of interest, ethics and 
contract management. New employees and PPECB 
administrators also received training on POPIA and the 
Promotion of Access to Information Act (PAIA). 
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The PPECB has both a Board member and employee 
declaration of interest and gift policy in order to ensure 
that Board members and employees act in good faith. 
Employees and Board members are required to disclose 
any interests on an annual basis and as they arise. Board 
members are also required to disclose any interests 
relating to agenda items of a particular meeting. 
Such disclosures must be made prior to discussion 
of the agenda item and in writing on the attendance/
declaration register, which is circulated at every 
committee and Board meeting. Going forward, refresher 
training on declarations of interest will be conducted 
for all Board members prior to the submission of their 
annual declarations of interest.

During the reporting period, the Board member 
declaration of interest and gift policy was reviewed 
and updated. In addition, the PPECB’s EXCO accepts its 
responsibility to address matters of significant concern 
for all stakeholders, taking into account the need for 
accountability.

The Agricultural Portfolio Committee
The Portfolio Committee on Agriculture, Land Reform 
and Rural Development meets with the PPECB in 
Parliament twice a year. The Chairperson, Vice-
chairperson and members of the Executive Management 
team, if requested, represent the PPECB at these 
meetings.

The PPECB’s strategic plan and budget for the following 
year is tabled at the April meeting, while its financial 
results and annual report for the preceding year are 
tabled at the September meeting. The oversight role that 
the Portfolio Committee plays forms part of the PPECB’s 
overall governance. 

The Executive Committee (EXCO)
The Executive Committee comprises the CEO Lucien 
Jansen, the CFO Johan Schwiebus, the COO Cyril Julius, 
the CIO Yanesh Ramiah and the Human Capital Executive 
Pinki Luwaca. Details of the EXCO’s Management 
Committee activities are to be found on page 19. 

The Operational Management Committee 
(MANCO)
The Operational MANCO is made up of the CEO, general 
managers, regional operations managers and other 
senior managers. 

Operational MANCO meetings provide a platform to 
communicate and share information on day-to-day 
operational matters at a senior management level. These 
meetings are held bi-monthly or as required.

While the Operational MANCO does not have any specific 
authority delegated to it, it remains an important middle-
management forum that contributes towards decision-
making in the organisation.

Any organisational ethics outcomes may be addressed by 
the RISCO or at the Operational MANCO meetings and, 
where appropriate, directly with employees. During 
the reporting period, the RISCO considered whether 
compliance with the code of conduct remained a focus 
area as PPECB employees worked from home to minimise 
the risk and spread of COVID-19. No risks were noted in 
this regard and RISCO recommended that Operational  
MANCO members consider whether compliance with the 
code of conduct was still a focus area during the national 
lockdown. Operational MANCO members participated in 
a survey on compliance with the code of conduct during 
the national lockdown. The purpose of the survey was to 
determine whether the broader management committee 
experienced challenges with upholding the code of 
conduct and how such challenges were dealt with. The 
outcome of the survey will be discussed at the next 
Operational MANCO meeting, scheduled for 9 June 2021.

All legal, company secretarial and corporate governance 
matters are managed by the in-house Legal and 
Corporate Governance Manager, with the assistance 
of an Assistant Legal Advisor, both of whom are 
suitably qualified employees. The Legal and Corporate 
Governance Manager ensures that the Board and 
Board members have access to professional guidance 
on corporate governance and legal matters. The Legal 
and Corporate Governance Manager also coordinates the 
functioning of the Board and its sub-committees, as well 
as contracts with external specialist service providers 
on legal or corporate governance matters. The PPECB 
has contracted Ms Gaby Gess, an attorney, to assist 
primarily with the drafting of the PPEC Bill and the 
Regulations thereto. 

The Legal and Corporate Governance Manager fulfils 
the role of a company secretary for the Board and its 
committees. 

The PPECB has various written policies and procedures 
supporting management and staff in the day-to-day 
functioning of the business. Organisational policies are 
approved by the PPECB Board and operational policies 
are approved by the relevant departmental general 
managers. Organisational procedures are approved by 
the Board and operational procedures are approved by 
the relevant departmental EXCO member.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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For the purpose of interpreting and complying with the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), the following 
framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance were applied during the 2020/21 financial year: 

Materiality Framework

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(2)

(b) 
(i)

(2)
(a)

(ii)

(iii) 
(iv) 
(v)

PFMA Section Quantitative (Amount) Qualitative (Nature)

(1)(c)

Section 50
Fiduciary duties of Accounting Authorities
The Accounting Authority for a public entity must, on request, disclose to the executive authority responsible 
for that public entity or the legislature to which the public entity is accountable, all material facts, including 
those reasonably discoverable, which in any way may influence the decisions or actions of the executive 
authority or that legislature.

• Any fact discovered, whose amount exceeds the 
materiality figure of 0.5% of the annual gross operational 
expenditure of the previous year’s audited financial 
results, must be disclosed

• Any item or event for which specific disclosure is 
required by legislation, the King IV Report™ or Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP)

• Any fact discovered, whose omission or misstatement, 
in the Board’s opinion, could influence the decisions or 
actions of the executive authority or legislature

Section 54
Information to be submitted by Accounting Authorities
Before a public entity concludes any of the following transactions, the Accounting Authority for the public 
entity must promptly, in writing, inform the relevant treasury of the transaction and submit relevant 
particulars of the transaction to its executive authority for approval of the transaction:
• Participation in a significant partnership, trust, unincorporated joint venture or similar arrangement
• Acquisition or disposal of a significant shareholding in a company
• Acquisition or disposal of a significant asset
• Commencement or cessation of a significant business activity.

• Acquisition or disposal of a significant asset
• Acquisition where market value is greater than the 

materiality figure
• Disposal where market value is greater than the 

materiality figure

• Any participation outside of the approved strategic plan 
and budget

• Any acquisition or disposal of any asset that would 
increase or decrease the overall operational functions 
of the Board, outside of the approved strategic plan and 
budget

• Disposal of the major part of the assets of the Board
• Any business activity that would increase or decrease the 

overall operational functions of the Board, outside of the 
approved strategic plan and budget

Section 55
Annual report and financial statements
The annual report and financial statements referred to in subsection (1)(d) must:
• Fairly present the state of affairs of the public entity, its business, its financial results, its performance against 

predetermined objectives and its financial position as at the end of the financial year concerned
• Include particulars of:

–  Any material losses through criminal conduct, irregular expenditure, or fruitless and wasteful expenditure, 
that occurred during the financial year

–  Any criminal or disciplinary steps taken as a consequence of such losses, irregular expenditure or fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure

–  Any losses recovered or written off
–  Any financial assistance received from the state and commitments made by the state on its behalf
– Any other matters that may be prescribed.

• Any losses identified through criminal conduct
• Losses incurred through any expenditure where the 

combined total exceeds the planning materiality figure, 
after consultation with the Audit Committee for the year 
under review

• Any irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as 
defined by the PFMA, will be reported

• Any identified loss through criminal, reckless or negligent 
conduct

Section 66(1)
Restrictions on borrowing, guarantees and other commitments • Rnil • This public entity may not borrow money, nor issue a 

guarantee, indemnity or security, nor enter into any other 
transaction that binds or may bind the institution to any 
future financial commitment, unless acting through the 
relevant executive authority (PFMA section 66(3)(c))
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Principle Summary of disclosures Report in which 
disclosure was made

Principle 1
The governing body should lead 
ethically and effectively.

• The arrangements for ethical and effective 
leadership

• Operations Report
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report
• Financial Statements

Principle 2
The governing body should 
govern the ethics of the 
organisation in a way that 
supports the establishment of 
an ethical culture.

• An overview of the arrangements for governing 
and managing ethics, how they are monitored and 
how outcomes must be addressed

• Key focus areas
• Planned areas of future focus

• Operations Report
• Strategic Plan
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report

Principle 3
The governing body should 
ensure that the organisation is, 
and is seen to be, a responsible 
corporate citizen. 

• An overview of the arrangements for governing 
and managing responsible corporate citizenship, 
monitoring thereof and how outcomes were 
addressed

• Key areas of focus
• Planned areas of future focus

• Operations Report
• Human Capital Report
• CEO’s Report

Principle 4
The governing body 
should appreciate that the 
organisation’s core purpose, 
its risk and opportunities, 
strategy, business model, 
performance and sustainable 
development are all inseparable 
elements of the value creation 
process.

Information regarding the following should 
be published as is appropriate for access by 
stakeholders:
• Corporate governance disclosures
• Integrated reports
• Annual financial statements and other external 

reports

• Please visit https://ppecb.com/
document-category/annual-
reports/

Principle 5
The governing body should 
ensure that reports issued 
by the organisation enable 
stakeholders to make 
informed assessments of the 
organisation’s performance and 
its short-, medium- and long-
term prospects.

Information regarding the following should 
be published, as is appropriate, for access by 
stakeholders:
• Corporate governance disclosures
• Integrated reports
• Annual financial statements and other external 

reports

• Please visit https://ppecb.com/
document-category/annual-
reports/

Principle 6
The governing body should 
serve as the focal point 
and custodian of corporate 
governance in the organisation.

• The number of meetings held and attendance at 
those meetings

• Whether the governing body is satisfied that it has 
fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its 
charter for the reporting period

• Board Meetings Table
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report

King IV™ Disclosures

The table below outlines the reports within the 2020/21 Annual Report where disclosures relating to King IV™ can be 
found. For a comprehensive list of all disclosures, please visit www.ppecb.com 

Principle Summary of disclosures Report in which 
disclosure was made

Principle 7
The governing body should 
comprise the appropriate 
balance of knowledge, skills, 
experience, diversity and 
independence for it to discharge 
its governance role and 
responsibilities objectively and 
effectively.

• Whether the governing body is satisfied that 
its composition reflects the appropriate mix 
of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and 
independence

• The categorisation of each member as executive 
or non-executive

• The categorisation of each non-executive member 
as independent or not

• The qualifications and experience of members
• Each member’s period of service on the governing 

body
• Other governing body and professional positions 

held by each member

In addition, the following should be disclosed in 
relation to the chair:
• Whether the chair is considered to be independent
• Whether or not an independent non-executive 

member has been appointed as the lead 
independent

• Board Qualifications Table
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report

Principle 8
The governing body should 
ensure that its arrangements 
for delegation within its 
own structures promote 
independent judgement and 
assist with balance of power 
and the effective discharge of 
its duties.

• Role and responsibilities
• Its composition, including each member’s 

qualifications and experience
• Any external advisers or invitees who regularly 

attend committee meetings
• Key focus areas
• The number of meetings held and attendance at 

those meetings
• Whether the committee is satisfied that it has 

fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its 
terms of reference for the reporting period

In addition to required statutory disclosure and 
the above disclosures, the following should also be 
disclosed in relation to the Audit Committee:
• A statement as to whether the Audit Committee is 

satisfied that the external auditor is independent
• Non-audit services rendered
• The tenure of the external audit firm
• The rotation of the designated external audit 

partner
• Significant changes in the management of the 

organisation

• Board Meetings Table
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report
• Financial Statements
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Principle Summary of disclosures Report in which 
disclosure was made

Principle 9
The governing body should 
ensure that the evaluation of its 
own performance and that of 
its committees, its chair and its 
individual members supports 
continued improvement in its 
performance effectiveness.

The following should be disclosed in relation to the 
evaluation of the performance of the governing 
body:
• A description of the performance evaluations 

undertaken
• An overview of the evaluation results and 

remedial actions taken
• Whether the governing body is satisfied that the 

evaluation process is improving its performance 
and effectiveness

• Strategic Plan
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report

Principle 10
The governing body should 
ensure that the appointment of, 
and delegation to, management 
contribute to role clarity and 
effective exercise of authority 
and responsibilities.

The following should be disclosed in relation to the 
CEO:
• The notice period stipulated in the CEO’s 

employment contract and the contractual 
conditions related to termination

• Other professional commitments of the CEO, 
including membership of governing bodies outside 
of the organisation

• Whether succession planning is in place for the 
CEO position

In addition, a statement by the governing 
body should be disclosed regarding whether 
it is satisfied that the delegation of authority 
framework contributes to role clarity and the 
effective exercise of authority and responsibilities.

There should also be a statement on the 
arrangements in place for accessing professional 
corporate governance services and whether they 
are effective

• Corporate Governance Report
• Management Committees
• Board and Sub-Committees

Principle 11
The governing body should 
govern risk in a way that 
supports the organisation 
in setting and achieving its 
strategic objectives.

• The nature and extent of the risks and 
opportunities of the organisation

In addition, the following should be disclosed in 
terms of risk:
• An overview of the arrangements for governing 

and managing risk
• Key areas of focus during the period, the key 

risks, as well as undue, unexpected or unusual 
risks and risks taken outside the risk tolerance 
levels

• Actions taken to monitor the effectiveness of 
risk management and how the outcomes were 
addressed

• Planned areas of future focus

• Chairperson’s Report
• Operations Report
• Strategic Plan
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report
• Financial Statements

King IV™ Disclosures (continued)

Principle Summary of disclosures Report in which 
disclosure was made

Principle 12
The governing body should 
govern technology and 
information in a way that 
supports the organisation 
setting and achieving its 
strategic objectives.

The following should be disclosed in relation to 
technology and information:
• An overview of the arrangements for governing 

and managing information and technology
• Key areas of focus, including significant 

acquisitions and remedial actions taken as a 
result of major incidents

• Actions taken to monitor the effectiveness of 
technology and information management and how 
the outcomes were addressed

• Planned areas of future focus

• Operations Report
• ICT Report
• Strategic Plan
• CEO’s Report

Principle 13
The governing body should 
govern compliance with 
applicable laws and adopted, 
non-binding rules, codes 
and standards in a way that 
supports the organisation being 
ethical and a good corporate 
citizen.

• An overview of the arrangements for governing 
and managing compliance

• Key areas of focus
• Actions taken to monitor the effectiveness of 

compliance management and how the outcomes 
were addressed

• Planned areas of future focus

• Operations Report
• Human Capital Report
• ICT Report
• Corporate Governance Report
• Audit Committee Report
• Materiality Framework
• Financial Statements

Principle 14
The governing body should 
ensure that the organisation 
remunerates fairly, responsibly 
and transparently so as to 
promote the achievement of 
strategic objectives and positive 
outcomes in the short, medium 
and long term. 

The governing body should ensure that 
information on remuneration is disclosed

• Human Capital Report
• Financial Statements

Principle 15
The governing body should 
ensure that assurance services 
and functions enable an 
effective control environment 
and that these support the 
integrity of information for 
internal decision-making and 
the organisation’s external 
reports. 

External reports should disclose information 
about the types of assurance process applied 
to each report, in addition to the independent, 
external audit opinions provided in terms of legal 
requirements

• Audit Committee Report
• Financial Statements

Principle 16
In the execution of its 
governance role and 
responsibilities, the governing 
body should adopt a 
stakeholder-inclusive approach 
that balances the needs, 
interests and expectations 
of material stakeholders 
in the best interests of the 
organisation over time. 

• An overview of the arrangements for governing 
and managing stakeholder relationships

• Key areas of focus
• Actions taken to monitor the effectiveness of 

stakeholder management and how the outcomes 
were addressed

• Future areas of focus

• Operations Report
• Human Capital Report
• Strategic Plan
• CEO’s Report
• ICT Report



32 PPECB Annual  Report  2020/21 33PPECB Annual  Report  2020/21

Departmental Reports.3
34
51
58

60
62

Operations Report 

Human Capital Report

Information and Communications Technology 
Report

Chief Financial Officer’s Report

Audit Committee Report
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Operations Report

Having learned from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic during the previous year, the Operations department 
maintained its people-first policy and adopted a hybrid approach to remote working. In practice, this meant that 
employees that could avoid coming into the office did so, thus minimising contact with others. Office-based employees 
complied with the relevant guidelines, which included wearing of personal protective equipment, social distancing and 
regular hand sanitising. Health screening and temperature checks for employees, customers, service providers and 
visitors were also introduced at all PPECB offices. International and non-essential domestic travel were suspended. 
Contingency plans were effectively executed when either customers’ premises or the PPECB offices were closed, 
resulting in minimal delays and service interruptions. Service delivery at times was difficult, especially in areas with 
COVID-19 outbreaks. However, service levels were maintained throughout.

Despite the challenges experienced, the Operations department remains committed to ensuring the sustainability and 
longevity of the PPECB by upholding the highest standards of ethics and corporate governance practice. It executes the 
PPECB’s statutory mandates through its service streams of inspection, cold chain management, food safety certification 
and laboratory services, in terms of the Perishable Products Export Control Act (PPEC Act), as well as the Agricultural 
Product Standards Act (APS Act). To increase the PPECB’s value proposition to clients, certain commercial functions 
are also carried out. 

Highlights for the fiscal year under review

Maintaining ISO 9001:2015 
accreditation

Maintaining ISO 17025:2005 
accreditation pertaining to the 
PPECB laboratory

Including wheat and maize in pesticide 
residue testing

The laboratory successfully passing the 
DALRRD audit in the reporting period, 
thus maintaining its accreditation and 
its testing for all markets

The Food Safety programme concluding 
a total of 1 286 audits, comfortably 
exceeding the original target of 850 and 
resulting in the Food Safety programme 
ending the financial year 51% above 
target

Achieving an 84% satisfaction rating 
in our annual client satisfaction 
survey

Inspecting 189.9 million cartons 
of main perishable products (66%) 
during the year under review via the 
TITAN 2.0® platform at 824 activity 
points

Inspecting 54.6 million cartons of 
grapes (85%) via TITAN 2.0® during 
the year under review

Collaborating with the international 
Cool Chain Association (CCA) Board 
of Directors, to host their next Global 
Perishable Conference (virtual) in 
South Africa 

The PPECB COO being elected as 
Chairperson of the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD) Fruit and 
Vegetables Scheme, based in Paris

Successfully delivering on the South 
African False Codling Moth Risk 
Management mandate for the third 
year and PPECB’s responsibilities in 
terms of the South African Citrus Black 
Spot Risk Management System for the 
fourth year

The topline financial results for Operations
The Operations department realised a surplus of 
R142.7m at the end of the fiscal year under review, 
which is 22% above the budgeted surplus. 

Total income budgeted was R481.6m, with R479.7m 
realised. Thus, total income generated was 0.4% under 
budget. This was due to lower grape, pome fruit and 
avocado volumes. Expenditure was frugally managed 
and savings amounted to 7% against budget. Total 
expenditure amounted to R324.6m against a budgeted 
figure of R348.3m. 

The laboratory ended the year with a shortfall of R4m 
due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its 
commercial clients. The lingering drought in some parts 
of the country also played a role.

A committed team delivering effectively 
despite COVID-19
The 2020/21 Deciduous Relief Duty Plan was 
implemented successfully, with a considerable decrease 
in staff shortages during peak weeks due to an additional 
20 inspectors being appointed from April 2020. The 
total of 283 placements on the relief duty roster, in 
addition to inspectors, included 31 cold chain assessors 
and six temporary contract workers. Relief duty staff 
indicated that they would prefer single self-catering 
accommodation units or a maximum of two people 
sharing the same accommodation due to COVID-19. This 
was accommodated as far as possible. Relief duty staff 
qualifying for long-weekend flights were consulted and 
most of them decided to forfeit their flights due to the 
risks associated with the pandemic in exchange for an 
additional leave day at the end of relief duty.

The Final Citrus Relief Duty Plan for 2021 was fully 
resourced for the first time in more than 20 years, with 
no vacancies. It consisted of 322 placements, including 
114 unemployed graduates, 12 retirees and 12 acting 
chief inspectors. The PPECB also benefits from a standby 
cohort able to perform relief duty across provincial 
borders on short notice. This assisted regions affected 
by COVID-19. 

The acting chief inspector initiative, with the dual 
purpose of improving operational oversight and 
developing supervisory capacity, was successfully 
implemented for the second year, with minimal 
challenges and mostly positive experiences. The PPECB 
are reaping the benefits from this initiative, as evidenced 
by the subsequent successful appointment of the 
participants in permanent supervisory roles.

Inspectors, cold chain assessors and TITAN 2.0® support 
staff members spent a total of 20 143 days on relief 
duty (a 2% decrease compared to the previous year) 
and travelled approximately 4.8 million kilometres  
(a decrease of 8%), to ensure that service delivery was 

done timeously and in accordance with the stakeholders’ 
needs. The reduction in activity drivers is largely due to 
COVID-19 precautions taken by staff and management to 
limit the risk of exposure to both clients and PPECB staff.

The Agricultural Export Technologist Programme 
(AETP) is still a flagship programme that is used by the 
PPECB as a feeder programme for new appointees. The 
programme is designed to develop a pool of competent 
inspectors for entry into the agricultural sector. During 
the 2020/21 financial year, 42 AETP participants were 
trained in operations. The PPECB is also using this pool of 
competent inspectors to make temporary appointments 
to ensure service excellence and the meeting of clients’ 
expectations. 

Export certification: progressing towards 
digitisation
Notwithstanding the many challenges presented by 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent national 
lockdowns, the PPECB still managed to process 
certificates within 24 hours of submission, except for 
a few delays during the height of the first and second 
waves of the pandemic. 

At the Cape Town Airport office, our biggest certification 
hub, 52 519 export certificates were signed, of which 
14.7% were submitted on day five, which is a 3% 
improvement on the previous year’s figure. These results 
were delivered despite a very challenging year for the 
industry as a whole.

During the 2020/21 fiscal year, the certification 
desks processed a total of 159 289 export certificates 
nationally, an increase of 2% compared to the previous 
year. These certificates represent more than 303 million 
cartons (a 7% increase compared to the previous year) 
and 386 million kilograms (a 3% decrease compared 
to the previous year) of vegetables, flowers, canned 
products, dried fruit, rooibos and other products. 7 623 
certificates (0.2% less than the previous year) were 
submitted with mistakes and had to be re-issued. 6 728 
certificates (a 16% decrease) were cancelled for various 
reasons. In total, 9% of all certificates were cancelled and 
identified as incorrect. 

The automation of special market validations on the 
TITAN 2.0® platform via Application Programme 
Interfaces (APIs), using Phytclean and E-Cert, decreased 
risk for PPECB stakeholders and reduced the manual 
special market validations required to be performed by 
PPECB inspectors. This freed up valuable time for the 
inspectorate to focus on the PPECB’s core mandate. 
The PPECB went live with the Electronic Addendum 
and Electronic Export Certification on the TITAN 2.0® 
platform in August 2020. However, uptake was initially 
slow due to industry software vendors not being ready 
but eventually increased as vendors became ready to 
integrate with the TITAN 2.0® platform. The PPECB 
business analysts and business solution specialists 
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are in continuous collaboration with clients to cater 
for their specific needs to be included in the PPECB's  
TITAN 2.0® priorities for 2021. 

PPECB certification offices managed to successfully 
accommodate clients’ operational challenges to conclude 
manual export certification within the required five-

Operations Report (continued)

Region Total export  
certificates signed

Total export  
certificates incorrect

Total export  
certificates cancelled

Cape Town Airport 52 519 3 922 2 175

Ceres 5 171 0 409

Citrusdal 3 501 4 641

Durban  29 721 1 018 594

Gauteng 24 801 1 299 39

Grabouw 6 327 123 569

Nelspruit 2 171 12 184

Paarl 10 402 0 412

Gqeberha (Port Elizabeth) 21 480 873 1 694

Robertson 2 950 326 0

Tzaneen 246 46 11

TOTAL 159 289 7 623 6 728

Percentage 4.8% 4.2%

day timeframe. The TITAN 2.0® Electronic Addendum 
and Export Certification platform will automate the 
current hard copy manual validations, which have 
required considerable investment in printing and other 
resources, and will ultimately reduce process time and 
costs significantly for PPECB's clients.

Business optimisation: providing support, 
increasing efficiency
The Business Optimisation department embarked 
on regular and meaningful virtual interactions with 
employees in all regions to keep them engaged and 
informed of developments within the PPECB. These 
interventions were conducted with the support of the 
Finance, Human Capital and ICT departments to address 
issues and concerns. The sessions included TITAN 2.0® 
feedback, the priorities for 2021, the Talent Management 
Framework, the Learning Management System and 
Organisational Development. They were successfully 
conducted via the Microsoft Teams platform.

Internal controls to ensure completeness of income 
were reviewed and strengthened in collaboration with 
PPECB regions to improve oversight and mitigate the 
risk of credit notes. Subsequently, actual audit results 
were limited to only minor findings and observations in 
the majority of cases. Approximately 25% of the credit 
notes generated were due to incorrect billing party 
identification and mitigating actions were implemented 
in cooperation with regional management to reduce this. 
A huge concern is the high incidence of invalid queries: 
approximately 32% of total queries.

Inspection services: the PPECB’s core 
competence
Operations Regions achieved an 80% ratio of product-
related hours (a 2% increase compared to the previous 
year) and the 20% non-billable hours were attributed 
to, among other things, leave (10.4%), training (4.2%), 
meetings (0.6%) and administration (2.2%). Productivity 
(time allocated for legitimate reasons) of 98.8% was 
maintained, with the balance of unproductive time 
(1.2%) being the result of diminished activity in regions 
between the seasons (particularly during the month of 
October). Customer satisfaction was measured through 
the Q78 regional level client survey, with 100% positive 
feedback received from the 1 016 respondents. 80% 
(815) of respondents rated the services of the PPECB 
as excellent. 

Volumes Actual Budget Variance Percentage

Canning (kg) 95 292 222 95 000 000 292 222 100%

Citrus (cartons) 150 436 032 143 908 727 6 527 305 105%

Dried fruit (kg) 70 918 919 61 262 246 9 656 673 116%

Flowers (kg) 6 988 189 4 421 145 2 567 044 158%

Frozen fruit and vegetables (kg) 18 133 007 12 417 347 5 715 660 146%

Grapes (cartons) 65 128 056 69 329 563 -4 201 507 94%

Ground nuts (ton) 11 211 13 070 -1 859 86%

Tree nuts (pecan and macadamia) (ton) 41 893 35 680 6 213 117%

Maize and grain (ton) 2 344 756 1 839 064 505 692 127%

Other fruit (cartons) 10 041 348 5 661 472 4 379 876 177%

Deciduous — Pome (cartons) 50 614 981 54 064 366 -3 449 385 94%

Deciduous — Stone (cartons) 21 849 894 21 833 769 16 125 100%

Rooibos (kg) 16 357 018 10 027 700 6 329 318 163%

Subtropical — Avocados (cartons) 12 777 371 16 000 000 3 222 629 80%

Subtropical — Mangoes (cartons) 920 389 1 694 001 -773 612 54%

Subtropical — Litchis (kg) 3 116 430 2 992 000 124 430 104%

Vegetables (kg) 126 003 377 104 744 463 21 258 914 120%

Below-normal exports for fruit were recorded for grapes (- 6%), pome fruit (-6%), avocados (-20%) and mangoes (-46%). 
Above-normal exports for fruit were recorded for citrus (+5%) and other fruit (+77%). In the “other products” category, 
the total weight (kg) exported increased for dried fruit (+16%), rooibos (+63%) and vegetables (+20%).

National inspection volumes of all products: 1 April 2020 – 31 March 2021
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Table grapes
Inspected grape volumes as at 31 March 2021 totalled 
65 128 056 cartons, 6% below budgeted expectations.

The 2020/21 grape season started two weeks later 
than normal in the Lower Orange River region (LOR), 
due to the abnormal weather conditions experienced. 
Similar conditions were also experienced in Trawal/
Vredendal, Piketberg, Paarl, Saron and the Hex River 
Valley. This phenomenon impacted LOR grape volumes 
negatively and it was exacerbated by heavy rainfall 
during December that resulted in a loss of approximately 
five million cartons in total. The Berg River and Olifants 
River areas experienced better than predicted harvest 
volumes. The new cultivars produced an above-average 
yield and the harvesting conditions were favourable. 

During February the Hex River Valley experienced 
record weekly volumes, exceeding two million cartons 
per week for three consecutive weeks. Intermittent 
rain during March, as well as a shortage of shipping 
containers, impacted packing; but the area still managed 
record volumes. 

The grape season was very successful overall, with 
record production volumes being recorded. It is the 
biggest crop that South Africa has ever produced, despite 
the losses experienced due to rain in the LOR and Hex 
River Valley.

Export destinations were primarily the European Union 
(EU) (58%), United Kingdom (UK) (23%) and Asia (7%).

Operations Report (continued)
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Deciduous fruit inspections
Pome fruit
Pome fruit volumes as at 31 March 2021 totalled  
50 614 981 cartons inspected against a budget of  
54 064 366 cartons, 6% below budget. However, this is 
still a favourable result for a challenging year. 

Pome fruit ended below the annual budgeted figure 
mainly due to changes in packing patterns because 
of COVID-19 challenges. This negatively impacted 
operations throughout the sub-Saharan region. Although 
the season gained good momentum towards the end 
of March 2021, the disruption during the onset of the 
COVID-19 pandemic resulted in pome fruit volumes 
being less than anticipated. The international market 
was subdued and special markets like China, Taiwan and 
Malaysia were quiet for most of the year. Clients packed 
mainly for Africa, where demand was not significant. 

There are positive expectations for the 2021 pome 
season. Last season’s winter brought favourable rains 
in most production areas. Cooler weather during spring 
and the flowering period has resulted in a good crop. 

Pome fruit inspections 2020/21
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Operations Report (continued)

Stone fruit
Stone fruit volumes as at 31 March 2021 totalled  
21 849 894 cartons against a budget of 21 833 769 
cartons, which was 100% in line with expectations.

The new stone fruit season started 7 to 10 days later 
than expected in November 2020 and volumes increased 
significantly as from end-December 2020. Uneven 
ripeness due to fluctuating weather conditions was a 
major concern, especially with regard to plums during 
January 2021. 

The current season will end with much higher volumes 
than anticipated compared to the past three seasons. 
This is a sign that the stone fruit industry is recovering 
from the severe drought of the past few seasons.

Stone fruit was mainly exported to the EU (47%), the UK 
(24%) and the Middle East (20%).

Stone fruit inspections 2020/21

Stone fruit export destinations 2020/21
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Citrus fruit inspections
The actual volumes of citrus fruit inspected during 
the 2020/21 fiscal year increased by 11% measured 
against the previous year. This is despite the challenges 
experienced by the industry with COVID-19, climatic 
conditions, additional measures implemented for 
phytosanitary compliance and difficult marketing 
conditions. The total citrus volumes inspected were  
150 436 032 cartons for the fiscal year under review. 
The increases in inspected citrus volumes were 
predominantly in soft citrus (increased by 25%), lemons 
(increased by 13%) and oranges (increased by 9%). 
Favourable weather conditions within the production 
regions of South Africa resulted in a good citrus blossom 
and fruit set. However, more importantly, good rains 
have given the growers water security after years 
of drought.

Europe continued to be the main export market of citrus, 
absorbing 37% of the total South African citrus fruit 
export volumes. Most of the export countries showed 
good growth in volumes compared to the previous fiscal 
year.

The 2020 citrus season marked the last year in the 
citrus orchard inspection agreement between the PPECB 
and the Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and 
Rural Development (DALRRD) as per Citrus Black Spot 
Risk Management System (CBS RMS) requirements.

For the 2020 citrus season there were six interceptions 
of CBS from the EU, lower than the nine cases in the 
previous season. However, there were 14 False Codling 
Moth (FCM) occurrences intercepted in the EU, which 
is an increase compared to the nine from the previous 
season.

Citrus fruit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 vs 
2020/21

Oranges 75 407 064 70 039 742 76 067 720 109%

Lemons 19 740 493 25 395 071 28 787 687 113%

Soft citrus 20 104 354 24 494 984 30 672 514 125%

Grapefruit 17 195 670 15 241 622 14 625 227 96%

Kumquats 147 608 101 716 164 369 162%

Pummelos (pomelos, shaddocks) 94 056 85 127 81 795 96%

Limes 43 005 42 043 36 720 86%

TOTAL 132 732 250 135 400 306     150 436 032 111%

Citrus fruit inspections (cartons)

Citrus fruit destination distribution (pallets)

Destination trade region 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 vs 
2020/21

European Union 606 999 570 721 705 814 124%

Asia 425 547 358 141 367 298 103%

Middle East 276 014 314 733 319 474 102%

United Kingdom 170 292 154 919 184 994 119%

Russian Federation 153 534 128 329 144 068 112%

North America 118 637 101 852 151 933 149%

Africa 13 314 12 226 14 830 121%

Indian Ocean Islands 11 336 11 581 10 502 91%

Oceania 20 80 80 –

Central America 20   – 140 –

South America – 20 980 –

South East Asia –  –  103 –

TOTAL 1 775 713 1 652 601     1 900 216 115%
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2020/21 Citrus Fruit EU citrus inspection mandate
The 2020/21 financial year was the fourth year 
the PPECB implemented the CBS RMS and the 
third year we implemented the False Codling Moth 
Risk Management System (FCM RMS) on behalf 
of DALRRD. The role of the PPECB was to perform 
orchard inspections, conduct inspections on fruit 
dipped in ethephon (as part of the CBS RMS) 
and perform inspections and fruit loading as per 
appropriate temperature regimes (FCM RMS). Below 
are the orchards and total hectares inspected over 
the last four seasons. There is a general upward trend 
in the orchards and hectares inspected.

Month

Number of 
orchards 

inspected 
2017

Number of 
orchards 

inspected 
2018

Number of 
orchards 

inspected 
2019

Number of 
orchards 

inspected 
2020

Number of 
hectares 

inspected 
2017

Number of 
hectares 

inspected 
2018

Number of 
hectares 

inspected 
2019

Number of 
hectares 

inspected 
2020

January  45 11 0  194.9 22.0 0.0

February  68 122 191  157.2  781.0 584.7

March  330 735 966  1 748.5 2 441.1 4 475.1

April 1 862 1 673 1 558 2 834 5 998.0 6 536.9 6 266.2 9 893.0

May 3 287 3 703 3 879 3 326 10 476.3 10 090.5 11 975.6 10 475.7

June 2 984 2 779 2 897 3 120 10 920.7 9 387.9 9 802.6 10 743.0

July  2 730 2 883 3 515 3 366  9 052.7 9 388.6 12 395.0 11 757.4

August 809 1 884 2 253 2 303 2 298.4 6 147.5 7 535.5 6 146.7

September 20 109 171 8 42.0 488.5 563.9 21.5

October    0     0.0

November    0    0.0

December    0    0.0

TOTAL 11 692 13 031 15 202 16 114 38 788.1 41 989.7 51 782.8 54 097.1

Number of hectares and orchards inspected over the past four citrus seasons
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Avocados

The 2020/21 financial year was considered an  
“on year” for avocados but only resulted in a marginal 
increase of 5.3% compared to the previous season. In total 
only 12 777 371 cartons were inspected for export, while 
the initial industry estimate was 18.5 million cartons. 
Persisting drought in the North was the main reason for 
the low volumes, although excellent local market prices 
at the start of the season saw high volumes of early green 
skin cultivars going to local markets. Frost damage and 
small fruit on Hass varieties also impacted negatively 
on volumes. In general, quality was good, with visible 
spray residue and collective deviations being the main 
rejection reasons. The EU remains our most lucrative 
market, absorbing 92.2% of our export volumes.

Litchis

The litchi volumes for the 2020/21 season were higher 
compared to budgeted volumes. The total crop exported 
was 1 558 215 cartons, compared to the budgeted  
2 992 999 kg equivalent. When the cartons are converted 
to kg equivalent, the total is 3 116 430 kg, 4% higher 
than budget target. The levy per kg was changed during 
the year to a levy per carton, after consultation with the 
industry. Good volumes of the Mauritius cultivar were 
exported up to week three, but the rain had a detrimental 
effect on the quality of McLean Red and volumes dropped 
significantly in week four. A total of 7 821cartons were 
rejected, of which 83% were for incorrect marking. The 
EU is still the biggest market for litchis (76.8%) whilst 
the USA programme declined compared to previous 
seasons and only received 2.5% of exports.

Target market
Volumes 

(cartons)
Percentage

European Union 11 772 157 92.1%

Russian Federation 533 303 4.2%

United Kingdom 200 081 1.6%

Middle East 99 572 0.8%

South East Asia 86 107 0.7%

Africa 64 089 0.5%

Indian Ocean Islands 16 494 0.1%

North America 2 160 0.0%

Asia 3 408 0.0%

TOTAL 12 777 371 100.0%

Target market
Volumes 

(cartons)
Percentage

European Union 1 197 045 76.8%

Middle East 154 410 9.9%

United Kingdom 124 709 8.0%

North America 38 584 2.5%

Africa 24 375 1.6%

Russian Federation 10 080 0.6%

Indian Ocean Islands 5 056 0.3%

South East Asia 1 536 0.1%

Asia 1 400 0.1%

Central America 1 020 0.1%

TOTAL      1 558 215 100.0%

Subtropical fruit inspections

Mangoes

Export volumes were 45.7% lower than the previous 
season with only 920 389 cartons exported. Exports 
only commenced in week 51 due to unfavourable 
weather, resulting in a two-week delay in the season. 
Only the cultivars Tommy Atkins, Keitt and Kent 
were exported. In general, quality was fair, with some 
rejections for jelly seed and mango weevil, but heavy rain 
resulted in excessive lenticel skin damage and a high 
percentage of class three fruit. Good local market prices 
also contributed to less exports taking place. 

The Middle East remains the most important market, 
followed by Africa and the Russian Federation, as shown 
in the adjacent table.

Target market
Volumes 

(cartons)
Percentage

Middle East 758 435 82.4%

Africa 66 936 7.3%

Russian Federation 62 538 6.8%

South East Asia 19 294 2.1%

European Union 10 792 1.2%

Asia 2 394 0.2%

TOTAL 920 389 100.0%

Maize

Good rainfall experienced in the production regions led 
to an excellent grain crop nationally. The South African 
maize volumes inspected for export during the 2020/21 
financial year totalled 2 344 756 tonnes. These volumes 
were inspected and exported via the Durban Harbour  
(1 083 414 tonnes) and inland ports (1 261 442 tonnes). 
The adjacent table indicates that the bulk of the maize 
exported went to the African market followed by Asia 
and the EU.

Target market
Volumes 

(MT)
Percentage

Africa 1 302 342 56.0%

Asia 896 000 38.0%

European Union 95 000 4.0%

Indian Ocean Islands                                                  51 414 2.0%

TOTAL 2 344 756 100.0%

Operations Report (continued)
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Groundnuts and tree nuts
Due to the persistent drought in the North and the high 
demand for groundnuts locally, the groundnut volumes 
inspected for export was down by 14% compared to 
budgeted volumes. A total of 11 211 metric tonnes of 
ground nuts were inspected compared to a budget of  
13 070 metric tonnes. The target markets for the 
volumes were Asia and the EU.

Tree nut volumes inspected were 17% above budgeted 
volumes. Macadamia nut exports are growing steadily 
since being regulated. For the 2020/21 season the 
volumes inspected were 22 045 metric tonnes and the 
bulk of the nut-in-shell product went to South East Asia. 
The pecan nuts presented for export during the same 
period totalled 20 461 metric tonnes. The main target 
market for pecan nuts is South East Asia. with only a few 
consignments going to the Middle East and EU.

Product Batch TITAN 2.0® % TITAN 2.0® 

Avocados 3 465 079 9 274 669 73.0%

Citrus fruit 55 977 121 87 799 910 61.0%

Grapes 9 872 474 54 631 441 85.0%

Pome fruit 22 527 822 23 338 709 51.0%

Stone fruit 6 709 065 14 860 249 69.0%

TOTAL 98 551 562 189 904 979 66.0%

Project TITAN 2.0®: making digital 
progress, rolling out version 2 

Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021,  
189 904 979 cartons of main perishable products (66%) 
were inspected on TITAN 2.0® at 824 activity points. In 
April 2020, TITAN 2.0® took a significant step forward by 
integrating with the Tracking Unit Register (TUR). TUR 
has been introduced by DALRRD as a central database 
for the official export certification system. It has been 
designed to store relevant data regarding tracking units, 
which will allow clients to send their tracking unit data 
(pallet information) to the PPECB for quality inspection 
after they have added the tracking unit into the TUR. 
Subsequently, TITAN 2.0® will update the TUR with the 
PPECB inspection result, which will allow clients to apply 
for an electronic phytosanitary certificate on the eCert 
platform. 

The uptake of TITAN 2.0® by clients is dependent on the 
readiness of the client’s software vendor to integrate 
with the TITAN 2.0® platform. Up to 31 March 2021, 
nine software vendors had successfully integrated with 
this platform. Due to vendors and packhouses not being 
ready for TITAN 2.0® version 2, the PPECB continued 
to support version 1, as well as version 2. The second 
iteration of TITAN 2.0® is integrated with the eCert TUR 
and offers electronic addendum and certification, which 
is a significant improvement on the previous version. It 
also caters for special market validations. These steps 
resulted in the decommissioning of TITAN 2.0® version 
1 on 14 December 2020.

The following results were achieved per product on 
TITAN 2.0® between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021:

Vegetables
There was an overall increase in vegetable volumes 
inspected for export compared to the previous fiscal 
year. In 2020/21, 126 003 377 kg were inspected 
compared to 104 744 463 kg in 2019/20, which is 20% 
above the budget volumes. Large volumes of potatoes 
and onions were exported to the African market, whilst 
“mini vegetables” ― such as mini carrots, turnips and 
beetroot ― mostly went to the EU and UK markets.

In March 2021, a search function for temperature 
regimes known as Schedule 1 was launched on the  
TITAN 2.0® platform. Schedule 1 allows cold chain 
assessors and clients to look up and cross-reference 
specifications, ventilation settings, temperature 
tolerances, target countries and temperature regime 
codes for all products, resulting in less documentation 
and a more efficient process. Cold chain electronic 
export notifications (bookings) are in the process of 
user application testing, which will be finalised in due 
course. The "go live" date for the bookings module is 
ultimately dependent on external clients’ software 
vendor readiness.

Enhancements to the orchard inspection module of 
TITAN 2.0® included a view of the orchard size to 
improve planning of resources and division of regions 
into sub-regions to improve the orchard inspection 
bookings process. These were deployed in April 2020. 
The PPECB was, however, informed during 2020 by 
DALRRD that the orchard inspection mandate will not 
be renewed for the 2021 citrus season. This is due to the 
automation of certification activities, resulting in excess 
capacity. The planned update of the orchard inspection 
application platform was therefore cancelled. DALRRD 
commended the PPECB for exceptional execution of the 
orchard inspection mandate.

Citrus fruit exports 
Durban remained the preferred port for citrus fruit 
exports, shipping 51% of the total citrus export volumes 
in the year under review. The ports in Cape Town and 
the Eastern Cape shipped 23% and 26% respectively. 
Lower citrus volumes were shipped from Ngqura 
(Coega) during this fiscal year, compared to the previous 
year. Many of the citrus special market programmes 
are predominantly conducted from Durban. The USA 
programme is currently only executed from Cape Town. 

Specialised refrigerated vessels
The decline in volumes shipped on specialised 
refrigerated vessels is a global trend. However, South 
Africa is one of the few countries that have increased 
volumes shipped on these types of vessels. The relaxation 
of restrictions by China, allowing these vessels into their 
ports and adding new shipping temperature regimes for 
Europe, assisted in the increase in volumes in this mode 
of shipping. 

The increase in citrus volumes exported to the USA, 
during the fiscal year, also contributed to the increase 
in volumes of this mode of transportation. During 
the reporting period, 12 vessels sailed to the USA in 
comparison to six vessels in the previous fiscal year. 

During the fiscal year, a total of 198 600 pallets were 
shipped on specialised refrigerated vessels. This is 
a 47% increase in volumes shipped on this mode of 
transportation compared to the previous reporting 
period. 

Electronic USDA pre-cooling certificate
Electronic pre-cooling certificates for citrus fruit 
shipments were successfully conducted with the United 

States Department of Agriculture (USDA). Training 
was provided to the PPECB by USDA staff. The main 
benefits of the pre-cooling certification process are the 
efficiencies of receiving the information on an electronic 
platform and a reduction in paper. 

Refrigerated containers
There has been a year-on-year increase in perishable 
commodities transported in refrigerated containers. The 
reporting period recorded a 9% increase in refrigerated 
containers compared to the previous fiscal year. During 
2020/21, the availability of refrigerated containers on 
the African continent was limited. This was primarily 
due to the impact of COVID-19 within Asian ports, which 
negatively impacted logistics. The PPECB reviewed its 
internal processes and engaged with the container 
industry to facilitate assistance. The cold chain 
personnel provided additional assistance to container 
depots to meet the demand for containers. 

International collaboration
The PPECB has been a longstanding member of the Cool 
Chain Association (CCA). The CCA, based in Europe 
(Luxembourg), was established to promote quality, 
efficiency and value for the transport logistics of 
perishable and temperature-sensitive products by air, 
road, rail and sea. The PPECB is proudly represented on 
the CCA Board of Directors. The CCA Board of Directors 
has collaborated with the PPECB to host their 2021 
virtual Africa Global Perishable Conference.

In addition, the PPECB Chief Operations Officer has been 
re-elected as Vice-Chairperson of the United Nations 
Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE)'s Specialised 
Section on Fresh Fruit and Vegetables, which is charged 
with standards setting.

Cold chain services: keeping perishable produce cool on the move

Loading ports 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 vs 
2020/21

Durban 1 039 235 889 241 970 829 109.0%

Cape Town 343 298 350 633 441 989 126.0%

Ngqura 218 477 293 777 240 262 82.0%

Gqeberha 174 883 118 694 247 136 208.0%

Maputo – 434 – 0.0%

TOTAL 1 775 713 1 652 601     1 900 216 115.0%

Citrus fruit port distribution (pallets)
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Operations Report (continued)

Gqeberha

13%

13%

23%

51%

Cape Town

Ngqura

Durban

Loading ports 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 vs 
2020/21

Cape Town 80 653 88 156 95 323 108.0%

Durban 51 488 45 750 48 937 107.0%

Ngqura 13 982 16 930 15 084 89.0%

Gqeberha 11 482 8 298 13 841 167.0%

Other – 20 31 155.0%

TOTAL 157 605 159 154 173 217 109.0%

Ports 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 vs 
2020/21

All South African ports 180 269 134 755 198 600 147%

Container 
inspections Total inspected Passed volume Rejected volume % rejected 

Reasons for 
rejections

Cleanliness       209 244         182 112          27 132 12.97% Dirty taint, damaged 
panels, oxidation, wetTechnical       162 139         162 115              24 0.01%

TOTAL       371 383         344 227          27 156 7.31%

Total inspected Total passed Total rejected % rejected Reasons for rejections

675 624 51 8% Damaged panels, faulty sensors, dirty

Total inspected Total passed Total rejected % rejected Reasons for rejections

641 637 4 1%
Damaged panels, damaged doors,  

ice build-up, dirty

Total inspected Total passed Total rejected % rejected Reasons for rejections

31 31 4 13% Faulty sensors, faulty calibration

Total containers shipped

Total container inspections 2020/21

Total refrigerated road motor transport inspections 2020/21

Total cold storage inspections 2020/21 

Total specialised refrigerated vessel surveys 2020/21

Total volumes shipped on specialised refrigerated vessels (pallets)

2020/21 Citrus Fruit

Food safety programme: continuing 
to improve compliance 

Food safety audits
The food safety programme is primarily responsible 
for ensuring compliance with Regulation R707. 
This relates to the food hygiene and food safety of 
regulated agricultural food products of plant origin 
intended for export, commonly known as SA GAP  
(South African Good Agricultural Practices). 

Food safety auditors concluded 1 286 audits for the 
period under review. Due to the pandemic, only desktop 
audits were carried out during quarter one and the first 
half of quarter two. As the lockdown levels were lowered 
from five to one, auditors regained access to the various 
sites and the auditing process resumed. 

Transformation
The food safety programme continues to contribute 
towards the transformation of smallholder farmers via 
the development programme. The 2020/21 fiscal year 
ended with 129 small-scale farmers SA GAP certified.

Drying facilities
During the 2020/21 fiscal year, 621 raisin-drying 
facilities were audited in accordance with SA GAP 
compliance criteria. A total of 534 drying facilities 
complied and 87 were found non-compliant. Raisins 
South Africa categorised the drying facilities into Gold, 
Silver and Bronze levels, according to criteria developed 
by the industry body and growers, with input from the 
PPECB. Gold drying facilities will be audited by the PPECB 
during the 2023/24 season, Silver during 2022/23 and 
Bronze during 2021/22. 

The private sampling initiative
This initiative was launched during 2015 in collaboration 
with industry (HORTGRO) and DALRRD with a view 
to improving the cost efficiencies of compliance. The 
purpose of the initiative is to "reduce the number of 
samples that are drawn for official regulatory analytical 

tests on consignments destined for export", thus reducing 
the financial burden of testing on the industry. To date  
89 packhouses have participated in the initiative and that 
number is growing. The biggest uptake is experienced 
in the citrus industry in Nelspruit, Hoedspruit and the 
Eastern Cape.

Laboratory services
Despite the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which affected the way many businesses operate, the 
laboratory has continued to expand its accredited 
testing methods, especially in the Pesticide Analytical 
Programme (PAP), where it broadened the PAP’s scope 
by the addition of various matrices. The laboratory also 
successfully passed the DALRRD audit in the reporting 
period, thus maintaining its accreditation and its testing 
capability for all markets. 

In general, over the 2020/21 fiscal year, there was a 
decrease in the volumes of samples analysed, compared 
to the previous financial year. Numbers fell by 50% for 
the Mycotoxin Analytical Programme, by 30% for the 
Fat Analytical Programme and by 5% for the Dairy 
Analytical Programme. The sample decrease was mainly 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its regulations and 
the persistent drought in the North. The end result was 
that the laboratory ended the fiscal year with a R4m 
loss. To stay viable in a very competitive operating 
environment, the laboratory must expand its existing 
programmes and diversify by adding new ones to satisfy 
client needs. 

PAP was the one programme that showed a more 
than 20% increase in sample volumes, compared to 
the previous year. This is because of the constant 
development of methods, matrices and validations by 
the laboratory. In general, the laboratory has increased 
the number of active ingredients it can test for, leading 
to the increase in the number of samples analysed by 
the PAP.
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Operations Report (continued)

Research and development: 
continuously searching for shipping 
solutions

The research conducted on pome varieties with high 
susceptibility to internal browning was concluded 
during the reporting period. Many internal quality 
problems, especially with regard to internal browning, 
had been reported from the previous pome export 
season. Combinations of temperature and ventilation 
were researched and trials conducted to alleviate the 
internal browning challenge. These trials included open 
ventilation settings on Fuji apples shipped above 0°C, 
Jazz apples shipped above 0°C; and Twist apples shipped 
at 2°C. This study culminated in the development of open 
ventilation settings on deciduous shipping regime codes, 
which was then published in the handling protocols. 

The Research and Development division also 
investigated pallets that arrived in poor condition in 
export markets. The research focused on the condition 
of fruit pallets transported from inland regions to port 
cold storage facilities. Investigations revealed that 
problems with unstable pallets and cartons collapsing 
are caused by several factors. The spacing of the top 
deck slats of pallets was not according to specifications, 
resulting in a negative effect on the vertical airflow. 
Furthermore, the use of poor-quality corner pieces and 
insufficient numbers of straps to keep the corner pieces 
in place contributed to the problem. Recommendations 
were made to the industry, awareness was created and 
improvements were subsequently noted. 

There has been an increasing demand for blueberries 
worldwide because of their nutraceutical properties. 
Before COVID-19, most blueberry exports were 
freighted by air. However, with limited international 
flights, exporters were forced to use sea freight. In 
addition, exporters did not have sufficient pallets to 
fill a container, so blueberries were mixed with other 
deciduous products. Successful trials were conducted 
into the viability of shipping blueberries at -0.5°C, 
mixed with other deciduous fruits within containers. 
The preliminary study measured quality parameters 
such as Brix, pH and moisture content, using standard 
techniques and reviewing shape, colour and fungal 
presence. Consignments were subsequently exported 
with no negative feedback from the markets.

Looking ahead: the outlook for 
2021/22 and beyond 

Focus areas going forward include:

• Further embedding TITAN 2.0® into Operations and 
increasing the number of associated activity points

• Increasing the uptake of the electronic addendum and 
export certification on the TITAN 2.0® platform

• Launching export notification and other cold chain 
functions on the TITAN 2.0® platform

• Integrating TITAN 2.0® with the DALRRD TUR on the 
eCert platform to facilitate electronic phytosanitary 
certification 

• Continuing to introduce internal controls and 
strengthening processes for increased efficiencies

• Starting the lease-to-purchase process for new 
premises for the laboratory

• Increasing the employment of differently-abled people 

• Leveraging technology to improve business processes

• Adapting the Operations environment to ensure that 
employees are adequately and effectively protected 
against the COVID-19 pandemic

•  Improving the financial situation of the laboratory

• Strengthening the high-performance culture in 
Operations 

• Re-capacitating the Research and Development 
division.

Human Capital Report

The following section presents the highlights and challenges experienced by the PPECB’s Human Capital department, 
which acts as the first point of contact for all PPECB employee-related matters, including learning and development, 
organisational development and transformation.

In this reporting period, the Human Capital department delivered in line with the five organisational strategic focus 
areas, namely: becoming more customer-centric; enhancing data analytics and business intelligence capabilities; 
redesigning the PPECB’s service delivery model to increase efficiencies and contain costs; improving business process 
efficiencies through digital transformation; and developing black smallholder farmers and suppliers to improve their 
business sustainability.

Key highlights for the year

Corporate citizenship 

The PPECB strives to be “a responsible corporate 
citizen”, as set out in Principle 3 of the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa  
(King IV™). Below are some of the ways in which the 
PPECB has applied the recommended practices to 
achieve the principle and outcomes, as proposed by  
King IV™. 

• Compliance with South African labour legislation: The 
Human Capital department has the requisite expertise 
and knowledge to deal with labour-related matters and 
has maintained compliance with South African labour 
legislation over the reporting period. The Department 
of Labour conducted inspections at two of the PPECB’s 
regional offices in the Western Cape during the year 
under review and found the PPECB to be fully compliant 
in terms of the Basic Conditions of Employment Act 
and the Occupational Health and Safety Act, as well as 
all guidelines relating to COVID-19 safety regulations 
and protocols. Additionally, we included proactive 
clauses in our policies and procedures documents and 
employment contracts to reduce the risk of disputes 
between the PPECB and employees.

• Response to the COVID-19 pandemic: The Human 
Capital department played a primary role in formulating 
a COVID-19 policy with additional guidelines, as and 
when required, to address anticipated issues arising 
from the pandemic. The department also worked 
very closely with other departments across the 
organisation, to implement new protocols and modified 
policies, procedures and communication methods. 
Employee morale was successfully maintained and 
risks arising from COVID-19 were minimised.

• Employee experience: A great deal of time and effort 
went into ensuring the Human Capital department’s end-
to-end processes were streamlined and standardised, 
including clarification of roles to increase consistency 
of practice across the organisation. As the PPECB was 
strategically oriented towards becoming a customer-
centric organisation, the Human Capital department 
took a conscious decision to focus on internal employee 
experience as an essential contributor towards 

improved external customer experience. A number 
of the main changes that have taken place within the 
Human Capital department have ensured alignment of 
the department’s structure, roles and responsibilities 
to ensure we provide a positive, effective, consistent 
and comprehensive employee experience that enables 
a similar external customer experience. 

• Employee turnover: The total number of employees 
who left the PPECB were 15, which translates to an 
employee turnover rate of 3% for the reporting period. 
Nine of these employees resigned. 

• Salary negotiations: Management and the Trade Union 
executed an efficient and streamlined negotiation for 
2021/22 salaries and conditions of employment. An 
agreement on an annual salary increase of 5% across 
the board was reached after two online discussions 
between the parties. 

• Health and safety: Occupational health and safety 
audits, as well as training plans scheduled for the 
year, were implemented successfully throughout 
the organisation. The total number of injury-on-duty 
incidents have decreased from 14 in the previous 
year to 10 in this reporting period, a 29% decrease. 
All the incidents that entailed medical expenses 
and/or absence from work for more than three days 
were reported timeously, according to Compensation 
for Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act (COIDA) 
requirements. 

• Grievances: The total number of grievances recorded 
for the reporting period were six, of which five have 
been finalised. This is a 25% decrease compared to the 
eight grievances recorded during the previous year. 

• Discipline: A total of 32 disciplinary cases were 
recorded, of which four resulted in dismissals within 
the 2020/21 financial year, while in the previous year 
there were 48 disciplinary cases and five dismissals. 
Therefore, there was a significant decrease of just over 
33% in disciplinary cases for the period in question. All 
32 cases were finalised within reasonable timeframes. 
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• Labour disputes: A total of seven labour disputes 
against the PPECB were referred to the Commission for 
Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) in this 
reporting period. Two of these cases were withdrawn 
at arbitration level. Another two were awarded in 
the PPECB’s favour, while the balance of the disputes  
(i.e. three) are still pending as they were more recently 
referred to the CCMA. 

• Wellness: PPECB employees have been held up as an 
example for their participation in the employee wellness 
programme (EWP), compared to the Manufacturing 
and Industrial Sector and the Careways multi-sector 
benchmarks for the year under review. Judging by the 
number of recent enquiries received from employees, 
we believe there is a need to provide even more support 
to help employees and their eligible family members to 
manage trauma, stress and disruption brought about 
by the COVID-19 pandemic. Employees are becoming 
more open and interested in self-help wellness tools 
for themselves and their families, including access 
to expert mental health support. They are also more 
willing to have mental health conversations with 
peers, which is encouraging to see. In line with this, 
individuals are accessing the EWP in numbers to 
seek help. 

Careways utilisation overview

The table below presents the total number of cases 
managed through Careways for the reporting period, 
compared to the Manufacturing and Industrial Sector 
as a whole.

Reporting period Number of 
cases

Annualised 
case utilisation 

rate %

January – March 2020 25 13.3%

April – June 2020 12 6.4%

July – September 2020 16 8.5%

October – December 2020 34 18.1%

January – March 2021 28 14.9%

Manufacturing and 
Industrial Sector:  
January – March 2021

– 8.3%

Careways Benchmark:  
January – March 2021 – 9.6%

Source: Careways Quarterly Report

Human Capital Report (continued)

Revising remuneration and benefits
The PPECB’s remuneration policy is applied on an 
organisation-wide basis and is one of the key components 
of the entity’s Employee Value Proposition, in support 
of the overall PPECB business strategy. It supports the 
business strategy by helping to build a competitive, 
high-performance and innovative culture that attracts, 
retains, motivates and rewards high-performing 
employees. 

Adapting learning and development 
The learning and development department developed 
and implemented a business continuity plan in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown. The plan 
focused on fast-tracking digitalisation to be able to 
continue delivering learning and development. Funding 
was reallocated from travel and accommodation savings, 
that would have been required for traditional classroom-
based training, to upgrade the learning management 
system.

 

 

This unit also focused on the provision of learnerships 
and bursaries, in partnership with the Department 
of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development 
(DALRRD) and the AgriSETA. In addition, we continued 
to concentrate on identifying critical skills through our 
talent management forums.

Total:  
2 292

Total:  
870

Non-technical:  
373

Non-technical:  
34

Technical:   
1 919

Technical: 
836
(includes competency 
evaluations and tests)

Employees trained:

Training interventions delivered:

Offering support and progressing 
transformation

From the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, it was critical 
to keep employees connected and informed. The PPECB 
launched a series of online People Connect sessions, 
which gave employees the opportunity to share concerns 
and seek support. A cross-functional team launched the 
We Care programme, which provided employees' families 
with care packs containing healthy supplements. A video 
was also created which encouraged community support 
by sharing inspirational stories and experiences. 

There was a continued focus on leadership development, 
with the overarching theme of “Advancing our Digital 
Transformation Journey”. This leadership development 
series was delivered in six online sessions, focusing on 
how we can move the PPECB forward by learning, sharing 
and collaborating. In addition, the new business strategy 
workshops were rolled out to all leaders at management 
and supervisory levels to ensure understanding and 
accountability.

Employment Equity
The PPECB’s achievement of targets is impacted by the 
temporary workforce required for the seasonal nature of 
the work we do. The overall representation for African 
employees stands at 58% and the ratio of male to female 
staff is 53% vs 47%. We have increased the number of 
African women we employ year on year, largely via our 
Agricultural Export Technologist Programme (AETP), 
which is our talent pipeline for developing a technically-
skilled workforce. Our focus now is on increasing the 
number of African male employees to achieve the 34.1% 
target through new engagement and recruitment drives.

People with disabilities remain under-represented at 
0.7% of the workforce, with a shortfall of 10 employees 
before we reach our target of 2%. The PPECB is in the 
process of implementing a learnership programme for 
people with disabilities, which will take on eight learners 
in administrative roles in the new financial year.

Actual Targets

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

27.2

34.1

14.0
12.2

2.93.8
5.9

8.6

29.730.3

10.511.0

1.42.2
3.43.0

Actual vs Target

AM - African Male
CM - Coloured Male
IM - Indian Male
WM - White Male

AM AFCM CFIM IFWM WF

AF - African Female
CF - Coloured Female
IF - Indian Female
WF - White Female
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Human Capital Report (continued)

Transformation 
Our transformation strategy focuses on building lasting 
partnerships with organisations already making a 
difference in the industry. Details of our transformation 
initiatives for the year under review are as follows: 

Smallholder farmer development 

A smallholder farmer or producer is defined as a 
producer that produces (at primary, secondary and 
tertiary level) for household consumption and markets, 
therefore farming is consciously undertaken in order to 
meet the needs of the household and derive a source of 
income. These are usually the new entrants aspiring to 
produce for market at a profit with a maximum annual 
turnover of up to R5 million per annum. The PPECB 
smallholder farmer development programme focuses 
on the training and up-skilling of smallholder farmers 
from designated groups, with the objective to see them 
graduating from subsistence to commercial farming. 

The Provincial South African Good Agricultural Practices 
(SA GAP) programme

The PPECB has agreements with all provinces where  
SA GAP certification and training are provided to 
selected smallholder farmers:

• SA GAP training workshops for 53 smallholder farmers 
were conducted in the year under review

• 129 farmers were certified ready to export in the 
2020/21 financial year. They were mainly raisin 
producers linked to the Raisin SA certification for 
export framework.

The Agri Academy training programme (2019-2021) 

This programme has been running since 2019 for six 
groups of black farmers. The programme has supported 
102 farmers and maintained jobs for 717 workers to date. 
In addition, each group has focused their production to 
meet market and client demands.

• Successes
– Farmers’ financial contribution: farmers are paying 

for getting their produce to market and for seeds/
seedlings

– Record keeping: this has been aligned to SA GAP 
standards

– Planting and harvesting schedules are in place
– Market access has been improved
– Value chain partners: relationships are being built 

with clients to produce according to demand.
• Challenges

– Logistics costs: getting produce to market is 
the biggest expense for the farmers, as they are 
dependent on transport companies

– Blended finance: lack of access to suitable finance 
from government grants and commercial funding 
restricts infrastructure development and growth.

• Total investment (2019-2021) 
– Total for training and coaching: R1 740 000
– Total for reimbursables: R501 000
– Total investment: R2 241 000
– Cost per job maintained, based on training fee and 

reimbursable expenses: R3 138.

Partnership ― Social 
Enterprise Development/
CSI

Call 2 Care Soil for Life Beacon Sustainable Food 
Supply

What they do Waterwise gardening, 
providing food security, 
improved nutrition and 
education in communities at 
a grassroots level

Local home food growing, 
natural food-growing 
methods and training 
methodologies to achieve food 
security

Educational programmes 
in aquaponics and other 
farming methods to Youth 
Employment Service (YES) 
interns, learners and the 
community

Spend at end-March 2021 R140 870 R143 571 R96 000

Beneficiaries
1 825 direct and indirect 
beneficiaries in seven 
communities

40 direct beneficiaries and 
families in two communities

20 direct beneficiaries out of 
320 (remainder in new fiscal 
year) in two communities

Impact Assisted schools and 
communities in Gugulethu, 
Nyanga, Paarl and 
Simondium in the following 
ways:
• Improved food production 

and security
• Assisted small business 

development and 
sustainability

• Provided access to markets
• Distributed food and care 

parcels
• Provided education 

and support regarding 
COVID-19, as well as 
Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE)

Tulbagh Collective 
• Increased household food 

security
• Improved health and well-

being
• Improved soil fertility 
• Reduced environmental 

degradation
• Enhanced human 

development
• Sold excess produce to 

locals

Malmesbury YES interns
• Conducted first workshop 

on mixed farming methods, 
including aquaponics 

• Long-term goals: improved 
food security, youth skills 
development and small 
business development

Corporate Social Investment (CSI) 

This involves projects that are external to normal business activities and not directly used to increase organisational 
revenue. The PPECB continued to support a number of Western Cape community-based initiatives that aim to improve 
people’s lives. Their work and impact are outlined below.



Human Capital Report (continued)

56 PPECB Annual  Report  2020/21

Chapter 3:  Departmental  Reports

Progress on the Institutional Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Programme/ 
Sub-programme Intervention

Geographic location
(province/district/local 
municipality, where possible)

Number of 
beneficiaries 
(where possible)

Disaggregation of 
beneficiaries
(where possible)

Total budget allocation 
per intervention (R 000) 

Budget spent per 
intervention

Contribution to the outputs in
the Annual Performance Plan (APP)  
(where applicable)

Immediate
outcomes

Operational services Procurement of PPE Across all provinces

Between 600 and 
1 100 employees, 
depending on the 
season

Unbudgeted R2 563 945
Assisting the operational staff to perform the 
organisation’s mandated duty, thereby meeting 
the majority of the organisation’s targets

Operational services

Cleaning and sanitising 
of offices (monthly, 
quarterly and after 
positive cases)

Across all provinces

Between 600 and 
1 100 employees 
depending on the 
season

Unbudgeted R714 000 
Assisting the operational staff to perform the 
organisation’s mandated duty, thereby meeting 
the majority of the organisation’s targets

Corporate services Supplying PPE to family 
members of staff Across all provinces

Between 600 and 
1 100 employees, 
depending on the 
season

Unbudgeted

R465 106

No direct contribution to the APP: however, from 
a social responsibility perspective, it contributed 
to reducing the stress of the staff. Assisting the 
operational staff to perform the organisation’s 
mandated duty, thereby meeting the majority of 
the organisation’s targets

Corporate services

Assisting temporary 
employees to get tested 
by paying for their 
COVID-19 tests and 
associated medical 
consultations, where 
applicable

Across all provinces

About 500 
temporary 
employees, 
depending on the 
season

Unbudgeted
Assisting the operational staff to perform the 
organisation’s mandated duty, thereby meeting 
the majority of the organisation’s targets

Transformation and 
development services

Supplying PPE to social 
enterprise development 
recipients

Western Cape 50 families
Approximately 
250 individuals in 
total

Unbudgeted R54 000

No direct contribution to the APP: however, from 
a social responsibility perspective, it contributed 
to the organisation’s socio-economic contribution 
to the industry

COVID-19 education 
and hunger relief 
for St Joseph School 
for Chronically Ill 
Children

Total spend R3 797 052
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Information and Communications 
Technology Report

ICT governance: monthly strategic 
oversight and global best practice 
standards

ICT within the PPECB is governed by the PPECB Board, 
which addresses all strategic ICT issues. There is also 
an internal committee for executive level governance 
over the strategic projects within the PPECB, referred to 
as the Strategic Projects steering committee, which also 
includes external advisors. This provides oversight for 
the TITAN 2.0® and ERP projects. This committee meets 
on a monthly basis to ensure that the strategic goals of 
the project are achieved.

To maintain appropriate ICT governance, the PPECB 
is embracing the international Control Objectives 
for Information and Related Technologies (COBIT) 
governance framework, which provides guidelines 
for best practices, standards and methodologies. Key 
objectives were identified, with phase one focused on 
conforming to the COBIT framework. The PPECB also 
ascribes to the Information Technology Infrastructure 
Library (ITIL).

ICT objectives and achievements for 
the year under review 

• Promoting and maintaining strategic relationships 
between ICT and its stakeholders, providing superior 
customer service and innovative technologies to 
support the business. One key strategic project,  
TITAN 2.0®, has fully implemented the Product 
Inspection and Export Certification module, with 66% 
of total export volumes of major products ― citrus, 
grapes, pome fruit, stone fruit and avocados ― now 
covered.

• Entrenching the PPECB’s cloud adoption through 
migrating critical systems to the cloud. This resulted 
in improved uptime and availability, especially during 
load shedding.

• Improving cybersecurity is a key focus area, together 
with ensuring compliance with the Protection of 
Personal Information Act (POPIA) and the Promotion 
of Access to Information Act (PAIA). We continue to 
strive to protect the PPECB from cyber vulnerabilities 
and adopt a proactive approach to safeguard the 
organisation.

• Embedding the PPECB’s adoption of the agile 
development approach with the adoption of cloud 
administrative and management tools to govern and 
assess application development against best practices 
and methodologies. The agile development approach 
is continuously reviewed for process improvements.

• Focusing on data accuracy, data being the nucleus of 
our digital journey. Emphasis is placed on the integrity 
of the PPECB’s Masterdata, which supports the 
TITAN 2.0® and ERP projects. This is critical to 
achieving our data analytics strategic objective.

• Improving data accessibility is critical to support 
operational activities and decision-making on a 
daily basis. The PPECB’s Business Intelligence 
unit expanded its reporting capabilities to provide 
enhanced stakeholder access to information during 
the year under review. 

Monitoring the effectiveness 
of technology and information 
management 

ICT continues to provide insight and reporting to its 
stakeholders to create awareness of information and 
technology projects, as well as issues that are being 
addressed. Quarterly reports are produced for the Board, 
highlighting key projects and strategic issues, as well as 
ICT investments and expenditure. Moreover, suppliers 
are managed to ensure that contractual obligations are 
fulfilled. Internally, a number of forums have been created 
to engage on projects, issues and other ICT matters in 
order to keep the business appraised of progress.

The past financial year highlighted the PPECB's Information and Communications Technology (ICT) division’s strategic 
importance to the organisation. The digital transformation journey was catapulted forward by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
resulting in faster delivery of strategic projects and initiatives to support the business, particularly with regard to 
enabling remote working. The TITAN 2.0® Product Inspection and Export Certification module also became fully 
operational, accelerating new processes, ecosystems and integration into the South African export value chain. 

Outlook: key focus areas for 2021/22

The following objectives will be the focus for the coming 
year:

• Continue with providing data and analytics to support 
insight into business efficiencies and planning

• Continue with data governance and assurance to 
enable data correctness and integrity, which is of 
benefit to both projects and stakeholders

• Continue with the deployment of the cold chain 
module on our mobile technology application (i.e.  
TITAN 2.0®), to deploy further digital services and 
other functionality to the industry

• Implement enhancements to the Product Inspection 
and Export Certification module

• Finalise the COBIT 2019 objectives for implementation 

• Continue to migrate all information reporting to the 
cloud, with automation and self-service capability, 
where possible

• Continuously enhance our cyber threat intelligence 
to ensure we provide secure services to the industry

• Further secure our mobile devices and the software 
therein

• Increase uptake of TITAN 2.0® for both major and 
minor products

• Plan for the decommissioning of legacy financial 
systems once the ERP project is successfully 
implemented

• Agree service level deliverables with the PPECB 
business to ensure business-ICT alignment

• Utilise the enterprise Masterdata framework and tool 
to create a single repository of shared data

• Continuously review and improve our overall 
architecture and technologies to reduce costs and 
create further efficiencies in the business.



i

“Heroes mostly wear capes; here at the PPECB they 
wear white coats and caps.” – Lucien Jansen,  
PPECB Chief Executive Officer; April 2020
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There are defining moments in business and, for the 
PPECB, those words set in motion a series of events which 
changed the course of operational and support activities, 
spanning the financial year under review and beyond. 
The employees of the PPECB were designated by the 
Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional 
Affairs as essential workers, which allowed continued 
working during the period of lockdown, as announced 
by the President of South Africa, Cyril Ramaphosa, in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Decisive measures were taken by management to ensure 
the safety of all employees, whilst maintaining a high 
level of service offered to South Africa’s perishable 
product industries in support of export competitiveness.

By responding quickly and realigning business objectives, 
the PPECB successfully limited the financial impact 
caused by the devasting global pandemic, culminating 
in the financial year ending in a strong financial position, 
with an enhanced cash flow profile and a significant 
surplus of R23.4 million.

It has been a time of challenges and navigation of 
uncharted waters, yet also a period of innovation, 
improvisation and leveraging on technology. This 
was demonstrated in the financial and organisational 
performance of the PPECB for the fiscal year 
under review. 

I am comfortable confirming that the financial 
statements fairly and accurately reflect the performance 
of the entity and, moreover, am pleased to report that 
the PPECB has once again received an unqualified audit 
opinion for the fiscal period ended 31 March 2021.

Financial highlights 
• A significant R23.4 million surplus generated for 

accumulation to the general reserve fund

• A healthy R91.3 million in investments attributed to 
free cash flow

• Net cash flows from operating activities of R39 million, 
reflecting a pleasing improvement on the prior year’s 
outflow of R12.2 million 

• Good asset management, which saw growth in 
property, plant and equipment value of R8.6 million, 
despite supply chain disruptions due to global import 
restrictions

• A commendable steady 43-day collection period 
on receivables, which is accredited to close review 
of customers’ ability to pay: an effective approach, 
considering the challenges experienced by many who 
were in unexpected and difficult economic situations

• Satisfactory revenue realisation of R479.2 million, 
a 13.9% increase compared to the prior year due to 
exceptional citrus and maize volume exports

• A noteworthy R26.9 million underspend on 
operating expenses against budget: an outcome of 
the digitalisation of many support activities, such as 
meetings, workshops and training, as well as improved 
efficiencies through workforce adjustments

• An unbudgeted spend of R3.8 million on personal 
protective equipment (PPE), due to the pandemic

• The successful conclusion of the procurement process 
for Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software: 
this acquisition will ensure further efficiency 
enhancements and improvements to customer 
centricity

• The acquisition of cloud services, through Microsoft, 
the PPECB’s largest acquisition in recent years

• No irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Chief Financial Officer’s Report

Summary financial performance

 
2021

 R'000
2020

 R'000
Index

%
 Budget 2021

 R'000

Total income 487 623 431 459 113 490 604

Total expenditure 464 241 436 174 106 511 254

Employee expenses 347 091 306 617 113 367 196

ICT expenses 31 101 25 371 123 16 348 

Other expenses 86 049 104 186 83 127 710

Surplus/(deficit) 23 382 (4 715) (20 650)

Rising to the challenge of COVID-19

The President of South Africa called for ‘swift, purposeful 
and collective action’ to curb the spread of the COVID-19 
virus. At the same time, the South African perishable 
products export industry proved resilient during the 
pandemic, with excellent international market demand 
for citrus products. 

Management’s prompt response was to institute 
measures to create a safe environment for our employees 
and stakeholders, which included the procurement of 
unbudgeted PPE at a cost of R3.8 million. 

Management considered a participatory approach from 
all reportable segments to initiate targeted cost reduction 
initiatives without harming operations, project success 
and disruptions to business activities.

To avoid compromising on strategic objectives, 
particular attention was given to ensuring the PPECB’s 
infrastructure and technology platforms were robust 
enough to meet the demands of the business, specifically 
during season peaks and to support those employees 
who had rapidly adopted remote working. Capability, 
resilience and speed were identified as critical to 
mitigating operational disruptions. Computer expenses 
grew to R31.1 million, a judicious R5.9 million increase 
compared to the prior year costs of R25.2 million. This 
investment was made to ensure the resilience of the 
PPECB’s ICT infrastructure as its digital journey was 
fast-forwarded by the introduction of modern workplace 
tools such as Microsoft Teams and Office 365, within a 
short period of time.

The complexities of customer behaviour patterns, as well 
as the nuanced performance of suppliers during these 
challenging times, led to critical analysis of business 
continuity risks and enhanced focus on predicting 
appropriate levels of required liquidity. The PPECB 
management must be congratulated on their ability to 
ensure exceptional cash collection and preservation over 
the period under review, which can only be attributed to 
proactive efforts and informed decision-making.

To protect our employees, a moratorium was placed 
on all non-essential travel, on-site meetings and 
workshops, as well as face-to-face training initiatives. 
On-line learning systems and virtual conferences 

were initiated, and local travel permitted only once 
business critical and traveller confidence principles 
were implemented. Tightly controlled expenditure 
was encouraged and a R47 million underspend against 
budget ultimately reported.

Looking ahead 

Total assets reflect a 25% increase compared to 
the previous financial period and total reserves of 
R154 million was reported. Given the heightened 
uncertainty of economic recovery, the coming year is 
likely to be challenging. The PPECB’s strong foundation 
of financial discipline will underpin the imperative to 
maintain a strong working capital base and bolster 
the general reserve fund. The organisation’s long-term 
financial health remains strong and, through prudent 
decisions to contain costs and improve on efficiencies, 
the PPECB anticipates continued successful delivery on 
its mandates and strategic objectives.

The implementation of the ERP and further development 
of the PPECB’s TITAN 2.0® electronic inspection platform 
are scheduled for the new fiscal year. They will require 
extensive capital expenditure, which will be funded from 
the general reserve to mitigate reliance on excessive 
levy increases. 

Acknowledging a successful 
collaborative effort

My appreciation firstly goes to the PPECB Board for your 
unwavering support, commitment to good governance 
and purposeful leadership. To my fellow executives and 
the PPECB management team, thank you for leading 
effectively amidst the year’s challenges. To my finance 
team, your firm commitment and dedication to ensuring 
integrity for every transaction, as well as compliance to 
policy and legislation, remains invaluable.

To each PPECB employee, despite the challenges over 
the last year, you have shown resilience, diligence and 
commitment and these pages tell the story of each of 
you, everyday heroes and heroines who contributed to 
the successful audited financial results.

Johan Schwiebus
Chief Financial Officer

Summary financial position

 
2021

 R'000
2020

 R'000
Index

%
Variance

R’000 

Current assets 189 886 150 920 126 38 966

Property, plant and equipment 44 551 35 930 124 8 620

Total assets 234 436 186 850 125 47 586

Current liabilities 80 395 56 191 143 24 204 

Reserves 154 041 130 659 118 23 382 



The fundamental role of the Audit Committee is to assist the PPECB Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities 
regarding internal control systems and financial reporting, as well as external and internal audit functions. 
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The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient 
resources to perform its duties, including support, when 
necessary, from the internal and external auditors, legal 
and corporate governance specialists and executive 
management. The committee’s role includes examining 
all matters relating to the PPECB’s accounting principles 
and practices, as used to review all material financial, 
operational and compliance controls.

On behalf of the Audit Committee, I am pleased to present 
its report for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

Composition

The Audit Committee is formally appointed and comprises 
four non-executive Board members, who provide a 
diverse range of competent perspectives based on their 
expertise and experience. An understanding of how 
management develops essential internal controls, applies 
effective accounting policies and presents important 
financial information is a primary responsibility of the 
Audit Committee. Additional responsibilities include 
being conversant with accounting principles, industry 
knowledge and the assessment of the completeness and 
accuracy of reports, which are jointly evaluated by the 
committee members. 

The members are independent and are not involved in 
the day-to-day management of the PPECB.

The Audit Committee members serve for a period of 
three years and the committee chairperson is appointed 
by the Chairperson of the PPECB Board. For the year 
under review, the members listed below served on the 
Audit Committee:

• Ms M Slabber – Independent non-executive Board 
member: Chairperson

• Mr KB Katoo – Independent non-executive Board 
member

• Ms M Kotzé – Independent non-executive Board 
member

• Mr RM Ramasodi – Independent non-executive 
Board member.

Audit Committee’s statement of 
responsibility and mandate 

The Audit Committee’s primary function is to assist the 
PPECB Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in 
matters related to financial reporting, internal auditing, 
compliance, effective risk management and sound 
internal control systems. 

The committee operates independently of management 
and has a rolling agenda, which ensures full oversight of 
all matters within its delegated mandate. 

The roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee, 
as set out in the Audit Committee Charter, are reviewed 
and approved annually, with consideration given to the 
relevant regulatory changes and recommended best 
practices. The Charter, compliant with section 51(1)
(a)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) 
and Treasury Regulation 27.1, directs the committee in 
terms of its objectives, authority and responsibilities, 
both statutory and those assigned by the Board. 

The Audit Committee keeps the PPECB Board informed 
of its activities and recommendations after each 
committee meeting. Matters of interest and concern 
are promptly reported to the PPECB Board, where 
action or improvement is required regarding any 
aspect of financial reporting, risk management, internal 
control, compliance or audit-related activities. The Audit 
Committee appreciates the importance of the oversight 
role required on matters such as internal controls, 
financial sustainability, integrated reporting and the 
maintenance of corporate governance standards. 

Activities  

During the financial period under review, the Audit 
Committee received comprehensive reports from 
management and the external auditor. These related 
to various aspects of the financial sector, as well as 
business risk, which include compliance, management 
controls, accounting policies and practices, audit plans 
and financial reporting.

Reports related to internal audits conducted by the in-
house and outsourced internal auditors are reviewed 
quarterly and management’s responses and conclusions 
to the various audit findings are reviewed and measured 
for appropriateness. 

Engagement with management was conducted in a 
robust and transparent manner where discussions were 
held on the progress of key issues related to financial 
reports, internal controls and financial risk exposure. 
Sufficient time was spent confirming that all information 
provided was balanced, understandable and provides the 
necessary information for the Board to assess the PPECB’s 
position and performance, objectives and strategy. All 
reports are critically assessed for consistency and all 
business and regulatory requirements are met.

The following key activities were performed:

Audit Committee Report

Reporting
• Considered the integrity of the quarterly financial 

statements 

• Reviewed accounting policies and practices, 
including compliance with accounting and reporting 
standards

• Reviewed management’s assessment of going 
concern and longer-term viability

• Reviewed the internal controls in relation to 
financial reporting

• Advised the PPECB Board of the committee’s 
assessment of the financial statements

• Confirmed the fairness, understandability and 
completeness of the statements and that they 
provide the necessary information for decision-
making.

Risk management and internal control
• Monitored the effectiveness of the PPECB’s risk 

management and internal control system, with a 
specific focus on ICT risks

• Assessed management’s response to significant 
audit findings and recommendations

• Evaluated the quality, efficiency and effectiveness 
of the internal audit function

• Assessed the performance of the internal and 
external auditors and Chief Financial Officer

• Discussed significant matters arising from the 
internal audit

• Considered and noted compliance with applicable 
external legal and regulatory requirements.

External auditor
• Considered the independence of SNG Grant 

Thornton Inc.

• Recommended the reappointment of the external 
auditor for the financial year ended 31 March 2021

• Reviewed and approved the engagement letter for 
SNG Grant Thornton Inc.’s annual audit 

• Considered the annual external audit plan and 
monitored the execution and results of the audit

• Monitored the expertise, resources and independence 
and objectivity of SNG Grant Thornton Inc.

• Recommended the appointment of external auditor 
Morar Incorporated for the financial year to 
31 March 2022.

Compliance and governance
• Performed its statutory duties as prescribed in the 

PFMA and by the PPECB Board

• Reviewed the Audit Committee Charter

• Considered the progress in respect of the Fraud 
Plan.

External audit  

The Audit Committee’s role includes determining the 
independence and effectiveness of the external auditor. 
The objectivity and independence of SNG Grant Thornton 
Inc. was evaluated, combined with the quality and 
effectiveness of the external audit process. The following 
criteria were included in the evaluation:

• Professionalism and competence

• Integrity and objectivity

• Audit quality priorities

• Constructive responses to management and key 
judgements

• Efficiency of service delivery in the audit process

• Compliance with all relative legislation and 
regulations. 

Furthermore, consideration was given to the Audit 
Committee’s own experience with the external auditor 
during their interactions throughout the year. In view 
of the above, the Audit Committee was satisfied that 
SNG Grant Thornton Inc. provided a high quality and 
effective audit, as well as maintained its independence 
and objectivity.

The Audit Committee considered the external audit fee 
appropriate for the financial year ended 31 March 2021. 
The external auditor did not provide non-audit services 
during the period under review.

A meeting held with the external auditor, without 
management present, satisfied the Audit Committee that 
there are no matters of concern. 

SNG Grant Thornton Inc. completed its final year of 
external audit in the year under review. The Audit 
Committee was satisfied with the audits conducted by 
SNG Grant Thornton Inc. and thanked them for the 
professional services rendered to the PPECB over the 
years they have served as external auditor to the PPECB. 

With the conclusion of SNG Grant Thornton Inc.’s tenure, 
the Office of the Auditor-General of South Africa approved 
the appointment of Morar Incorporated for a period of 
no more than five years, subject to annual performance 
assessments. Morar Incorporated will conduct the 
external audit for the period ended 31 March 2022.
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A complete assessment of the risk management function 
and framework was performed regularly to confirm 
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control systems. Furthermore, regular monitoring of 
the effectiveness of procedures for internal control over 
financial reporting, compliance and operational matters 
was conducted.

Whistleblowing

During the period under review, the Audit Committee 
considered recommended changes to the Ethics Hotline 
policy and recommended such changes to the Board. 
All whistleblowing reports are reviewed by the Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee considered the 
independent investigations undertaken by management, 
as well as the various findings, follow-up actions 
and conclusions of such reports, and confirmed all 
measures appropriate.

Performance management

The Audit Committee reviewed the in-year performance 
reports and results reported by management and 
considered them appropriate. The process of planning, 
identifying, monitoring and reporting the predetermined 
organisational objectives was deemed satisfactory. The 
relevance and measurement of the indicators and that 
of the performance reports are compliant with the 
PFMA, Treasury Regulations and any other related 
regulatory requirements for reporting on organisational 
performance.

In-year management and quarterly 
reporting

As required, the PPECB submitted quarterly reports to 
the Executive Authority. The Audit Committee reviewed 
the reports and was satisfied that the Board and the 
Executive Authority were appropriately informed of the 
activities of the PPECB, the progress on its performance 
information and its financial management.

Internal audit  

The internal audit function is an independent and 
objective assurance function. This function supports 
the PPECB in maintaining a systematic and disciplined 
approach to improving its overall control framework, 
evaluating and improving PPECB’s risk management, 
compliance and governance practices. 

The PPECB has an in-house internal audit division, 
which is enhanced by a co-sourced internal audit model 
to ensure optimal efficiency of this function. KPMG was 
appointed as the internal audit co-sourced department, 
whose annual audit plan was guided by the PPECB’s 
risk register, as well as previous internal and external 
audit reports. The primary role of the internal audit 
function, through its assurance and enquiry activities, 
is to safeguard value by protecting the PPECB’s assets, 
reputation and sustainability in relation to its goals and 
strategic objectives.

The responsibility and scope of the audit function is 
approved annually by the Audit Committee. The internal 
audit function reports functionally to the Chairperson of 
the Audit Committee and administratively to the Chief 
Financial Officer. Official meetings are held with internal 
audit throughout the year to confirm that the function 
is executed effectively and objectively.

The Audit Committee was satisfied with the content 
and quality of the quarterly reports prepared and 
issued by the internal auditors of the PPECB. The Board 
also considered the suitability of KPMG as PPECB’s 
auditor and their availability of capacity to monitor and 
guide management and the board on ICT risks. In line 
with the PFMA and the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV™), internal 
audit provides the Audit Committee and management 
with assurance that the PPECB’s internal controls are 
appropriate and effective. This was achieved by means of 
a risk management process, as well as the identification 
of corrective actions and identified opportunities for 
improvement to the controls and processes.

Based on assurance obtained throughout the year, the 
Audit Committee confirmed that the system of internal 
control employed by the PPECB for financial and 
risk management was considered effective, efficient 
and transparent.

Combined assurance and risk 
management  

The Audit Committee was satisfied that the entity 
has optimised the assurance coverage obtained from 
management, as well as internal and external assurance 
providers, in accordance with an appropriate combined 
assurance model.

Financial statements and 
accounting practices

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
March 2021 were reviewed by the Audit Committee and 
the committee believes that the statements presented 
a balanced view of the PPECB’s performance for the 
period under review and were in compliance with South 
African Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
GRAP). The committee reviewed and satisfied itself 
on the entity’s compliance with legal and regulatory 
provisions and confirms that there were no significant 
adjustments made. The external auditor’s management 
letter and management’s response were assessed and 
deemed satisfactory.

Evaluation of the expertise and 
experience of the Chief Financial 
Officer and the finance function

The expertise and experience of the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) is evaluated on an ongoing basis during 
regular engagements with him. The Audit Committee 
has satisfied itself that the CFO holds the appropriate 
expertise and experience to execute his designated 
function. The attendance of the CFO at every Audit 
Committee meeting allowed for his in-depth analysis 
on specific matters and demonstration of his technical 
knowledge. The Audit Committee further considered 
and has satisfied itself on the appropriateness of the 
skill, experience and adequacy of resources of the 
finance function. 

Conclusion of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee accepts the auditor’s opinion of 
the PPECB’s Annual Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2021. The Audit Committee conveys its 
appreciation to the PPECB for maintaining an unqualified 
audit opinion with no material findings.

Martli Slabber 
Chairperson: Audit Committee

Audit Committee Report (continued)
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Board Responsibilities and Approval

The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of 
the PFMA.

The annual financial statements are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied 
and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The members of the Board acknowledge that they 
are ultimately responsible for the system of internal 
financial control established by the entity and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the members of the 
Board to meet these responsibilities, they set standards 
for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error 
or deficit in a cost effective manner. The standards 
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within 
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees are required 
to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in 
all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The 
focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it 
by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The members of the Board are of the opinion, based on 
the information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or deficit.

The members of the Board have reviewed the entity’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in 
light of this review and the current financial position, 
they are satisfied that the entity has or has access to 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements are prepared on the 
basis that the entity is a going concern. The members of 
the Board have no reason to believe that the entity will 
not be a going concern in the foreseeable future. These 
financial statements support the viability of the entity.

The external auditor is responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the entity’s external auditor and their 
report is presented on pages 69 to 71.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 78 to 
101, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, together with the Board Report set out on pages 
73 to 77 and the Report on Predetermined Objectives set 
out on pages 102 to 107, were approved by the Board on 
28 May 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Clive Garrett
Chairperson of the Board

Lucien Jansen
Chief Executive Officer

The members of the board are required by the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the members to ensure that the annual financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its 
operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The external auditor is engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the annual financial statements and was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.

To the Board of the Perishable Products Export Control Board

Opinion
We have audited the separate financial statements of 
the Perishable Products Export Control Board set out on 
pages 78 to 101, which comprise the separate statement 
of financial position as at 31 March 2021, the separate 
statement of financial performance, statement of 
changes in net assets, cash flow statement and statement 
of comparison of budget and actual amount for the year 
then ended, as well as notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the separate financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Perishable Products Export Control Board as at  
31 March 2021, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with South 
African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements 
of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA) and the Perishable Products Export Control Act 
(Act 9 of 1983) (PPEC Act).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial 
Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Perishable Products Export 
Control Board in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of consolidated financial statements in South 
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(Parts A and B).

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Accounting Authority 
for the separate financial statements
The Board members who constitute the Accounting 
Authority are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the separate financial statements, 
in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the 
requirements of the PFMA and the PPEC Act, and for 
such internal control as the Accounting Authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate financial statements, the 
Accounting Authority is responsible for assessing the 
Perishable Products Export Control Board’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Accounting 
Authority either intends to liquidate the Perishable 
Products Export Control Board or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these separate financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the separate financial statements is included in the 
annexure to this auditor’s report.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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report material findings on the entity’s compliance 
with specific matters in key legislation. We performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance.

We did not identify any material findings on compliance 
with the specific matters in key legislation set out in the 
general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Other information
The Perishable Products Export Control Board Accounting 
Authority is responsible for the other information.

The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report, which includes the 
Board’s Responsibilities and Approval and the Board 
Report. The other information does not include the 
separate financial statements, the auditor’s report and 
those objectives in the entity’s report on its performance 
against predetermined objectives that have been 
specifically reported on in the auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the separate financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the separate financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the separate 
financial statements and the selected programme 
presented in the annual performance report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

Internal control deficiencies
We considered internal control relevant to our audit of 
the separate financial statements, reported performance 
information and compliance with applicable legislation; 
however, our objective was not to express any form of 
assurance on it.

We did not identify any significant deficiencies in 
internal control.

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
Director: Donovan Simpson
Registered Auditor

Date: 31 May 2021

Report on the audit of annual performance 
information
In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 
Africa (Act 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, we have a responsibility to 
report on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected programmes presented in the 
annual performance report. We performed procedures 
to identify material findings but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance.

Our procedures address the usefulness and reliability of 
the reported performance information, which must be 
based on the approved performance planning documents 
of the entity. We have not evaluated the completeness 
and appropriateness of the performance indicators/ 
measures included in the planning documents. Our 
procedures do not examine whether the actions taken by 
the entity enabled service delivery. Our procedures also 
do not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating 
to planned performance strategies and information in 
respect of future periods that may be included as part 
of the reported performance information. Accordingly, 
our findings do not extend to these matters.

We evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information set out on pages 102 
to 107 in accordance with the criteria developed from 
the performance management and reporting framework, 
as defined in the general notice, for the following selected 
programmes presented in the Report on Predetermined 
Objectives of the entity for the year ended 31 March 
2021:

Programmes Page

Programme 3 – Food Safety Services 102

We performed procedures to determine whether the 
reported performance information was properly 
presented and whether performance was consistent 
with the approved performance planning documents. 
We performed further procedures to determine whether 
the indicators and related targets were measurable and 
relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported 
performance information to determine whether it was 
valid, accurate and complete.

We did not identify any material findings in respect of the 
usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the selected programmes.

Report on the audit of compliance with 
legislation
In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, we have a responsibility to 

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Perishable Products Export Control Board 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the separate financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the separate 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Perishable Products 
Export Control Board to express an opinion on the 
separate financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the Perishable Products Export Control Board audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Communication with those charged with 
governance
We communicate with the Accounting Authority 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Accounting Authority with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Accounting 
Authority, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

ANNEXURE
Auditor’s responsibility for the audit
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit of the separate 
financial statements, and the procedures performed on 
the reported performance information for the selected 
programme and on the entity’s compliance with respect 
to the subject matters.

Financial statements
In addition to our responsibility for the audit of the 
separate financial statements as described in this 
auditor’s report, We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Perishable Products Export 
Control Board’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board members.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Accounting 
Authority’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Perishable Products Export Control Board’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the separate financial statements or, 
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The PPECB also delivers inspection and food safety 
services assigned by DALRRD under the Agricultural 
Product Standards Act (APS Act). The presence of the 
PPECB in the export industry is furthermore enhanced 
by South Africa’s recognition as an approved country 
under the European Commission Regulation 543 of 2011. 
This agreement recognises the South African inspection 
system as equivalent to those of the European Union 
inspection bodies and therefore ensures less frequent 
checks at the port of import into the European Union.

Vision, mission and values
The vision of the PPECB is to enable its customers to 
be the preferred suppliers of perishable products 
worldwide. This vision is supported by the PPECB’s 
mission to empower its people to execute its mandates 
to ensure the integrity of customers’ products. This 
mission is further underpinned by the PPECB’s values 
of professionalism, accountability, passion, integrity, 
confidence and collaboration.

Board
The constitution of the Board is prescribed by the PPEC 
Act, which requires that nine and a maximum of ten 
members be appointed by the Executive Authority. At 
the date of this report, there were ten members of whom 
all are non-executive members.

In the opinion of the Board, which fulfils the role of an 
Accounting Authority as envisaged by the PFMA, the 
annual financial statements fairly reflect the financial 
position of the PPECB as at 31 March 2021 and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the year 
then ended.

We have pleasure in submitting to Parliament, through 
the Minister of the Department of Agriculture, Land 
Reform and Rural Development (DALRRD), this report 
and the audited annual financial statements of the 
PPECB for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Our statutory basis
The PPECB was established in 1926. As a Schedule 3A 
National Public Entity, the PPECB is constituted and 
mandated in terms of the PPEC Act to perform cold 
chain services.

Our mandate
The PPECB is an independent service provider of quality 
certification and cold chain management services for 
producers and exporters of perishable food products. 
These services support the PPECB’s strategic objectives 
of enhancing the credibility of the South African export 
certificate and supporting the export competitiveness of 
South Africa’s perishable product industries.

In terms of the Perishable Products Export Control Act (PPEC Act) and the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), this 
report addresses the performance of the Perishable Products Export Control Board (PPECB) and relevant compliance 
with statutory requirements.

Name Industry Date of appointment

Mr W Bam Table Grapes Appointed 1 February 2020

Mr CG Garrett Subtropical Re-appointed 1 February 2020

Mr KB Katoo Citrus Re-appointed 1 February 2020

Ms M Kotzé Pome and Stone Appointed 1 February 2020

Mr AJ Kruger Pome and Stone Re-appointed 1 February 2020

Dr C Nkuna Organised Agriculture Appointed 1 February 2020

Mr RM Ramasodi Ministerial Representative Re-appointed 1 February 2020

Ms K Sinclair Marine Appointed 1 February 2020

Ms M Slabber Citrus Re-appointed 1 February 2020

Dr M van Eeden Processed Foods Appointed 1 February 2020

The tenure of office for the members of the Board shall not exceed three years, as per the conditions determined by 
the Executive Authority.
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Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that the realisation of 
assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations 
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course 
of business.

The Board reviewed and approved the PPECB’s financial 
budgets for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 
and is satisfied that adequate resources exist to continue 
business for the foreseeable future. The Board confirms 
that there is no reason to believe that the PPECB’s 
operations will not continue as a going concern in the 
year ahead.

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation 
officially declared the novel coronavirus a pandemic, 
triggering various government interventions in order 
to curb the spread.

The PPECB took a people-first approach and introduced 
remote working for employees. Customer centricity 
remained a top priority and engagements with clients 
continued uninterrupted, albeit using virtual platforms 
in many instances. South African exports grew 
significantly during the financial year under review, 
mainly due to increased citrus and grain exports. The 
increased export volumes combined with a reduction and 
postponement of certain operational and administrative 
costs, resulted in a positive net financial result for the 
PPECB. In its quest to further drive efficiencies and 
contain costs, the PPECB will continue with initiatives 
that were successful and cost efficient during the initial 
stages of the pandemic and lockdown. This includes but 
is not limited to virtual meetings, reduced travelling and 
potential reduced office spaces.

Operational services
The PPECB’s operational services were categorised 
as essential during the national state of disaster and 
lockdown. Operational employees worked remotely 
with appropriate job permits and those employees 
required to be on site, needed to comply with the 
relevant guidelines, which included wearing of personal 
protective equipment, social distancing and regular 
hand sanitising. Health screening and temperature 
checks of employees, customers and service providers 
were introduced at all the PPECB offices.

An embargo was placed on international travel and non-
essential domestic travel. Whilst the entity continued 
with service delivery without major interruptions, the 
availability of essential goods and services remained 
challenging during the lockdown. The PPECB’s 
contingency plans were effectively executed when either 
customers’ premises or the PPECB offices were closed, 

Board meetings
The Board meets at least four times per annum, or as 
circumstances necessitate. Board meetings follow a 
formal agenda to ensure that all substantive matters are 
addressed and information relevant to the meetings is 
supplied to Board members in advance so that they can 
make informed and reasoned decisions.

All documents submitted to the Board are reviewed 
by the PPECB Executive Committee and are approved 
by the Chief Executive Officer to ensure completeness 
and relevance.

Executive management
The PPECB’s executive management is listed below:

• Chief Executive Officer: Mr LP Jansen

• Chief Financial Officer: Mr JA Schwiebus

• Chief Operations Officer: Mr CA Julius

• Chief Information Officer: Ms Y Ramiah

• Human Capital Executive: Ms PS Luwaca

There were no changes in the PPECB’s executive 
management during the year under review.

Board members’ interest in contracts
None of the members of the Board had any interest in 
contracts entered into during the year under review.

Finances
The PPECB is self-funded by charging levies to 
recover costs for services rendered. The PPECB made 
a net surplus of R23.4 million (2020: net deficit of 
R4.7 million) for the year ended 31 March 2021. The 
financial statements provide further details regarding 
financial performance.

Financial statements
The Board confirms that they are responsible for 
preparing the annual financial statements that fairly 
present the state of affairs of the PPECB as at the end 
of the financial year. The annual financial statements 
contained on pages 78 to 101 have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of 
the PFMA.

They are based on appropriate accounting policies and 
are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates. The external auditor is responsible 
for carrying out an independent examination of the 
financial statements in accordance with International 
Standards of Auditing (ISAs) and for reporting any 
findings thereon.

The external auditor’s report is set out on pages 69 to 71.

Board Report (continued)

scope of activities and matrices. During the lockdown, 
focus shifted from validation of methods to analysis of 
samples. Closure of restaurants during lockdown led to 
the laboratory losing significant volumes from spices on 
the commercial segment of the programme. Worldwide 
delays in the procurement of laboratory equipment and 
standards impacted operational activities. Low volumes 
impacted laboratory income and a decision was taken 
that going forward GC-MS/MS equipment is dedicated 
during the citrus season for quicker turnaround times. 
This will allow for other laboratory equipment to be 
utilised for method validations and catch up on lost time.

Corporate Services Programme
The Corporate Services Programme, which includes 
various support sub-programmes, operates cross-
functionally with the primary aim to deliver professional 
support and strategic leadership to the entire entity. The 
programme plays an essential role in ensuring coherence 
among the respective business units within the PPECB. 
During the pandemic, the programme remained 
focused on achieving its objectives with different tactics 
employed to meet its deliverables.

ICT
The COVID-19 pandemic catapulted the PPECB’s digital 
journey as the transformation to modern workplace 
tools such as Office 365 and Microsoft Teams was 
adopted at a rapid pace without the need for robust 
change management and training interventions 
normally applied. While the ICT staff worked remotely, 
the PPECB’s infrastructure and technology platforms 
proved resilient to meet the demands of the business 
especially during peak season and delivered on project 
and business commitments. Delays were experienced 
with the procurement of equipment (laptops, tablets) 
due to lockdown restrictions impacting imports and 
transportation across the world.

Human Capital
The pandemic brought with it many changes in the 
manner in which the Human Capital division delivered 
its services. It moved Human Capital from being 
reactive to proactive. Human Capital became a trusted 
advisor and lead the way in ensuring compliance to 
COVID-19 protocols. The pandemic promoted wellness 
issues be moved to the top of the agenda and enhanced 
collaboration. Instant collaboration among internal 
departments; saving of time and costs; and increased 
trust and dependability with employees and external 
stakeholders were experienced. Decision-making 
and communication were instantaneous as decisions, 
commitments and feedback were made in the Crisis 
Management Meeting followed by clear and concise 
communication to internal and external stakeholders.

A We Care campaign was initiated which focused 
specifically on COVID-19 employee safety protocols 

resulting in minimal delays and service interruptions on 
the part of the PPECB.

Service delivery at times was difficult especially in 
areas with COVID-19 outbreaks, however, all protocols 
and standard operating procedures were maintained. 
Risk mitigation included the correct use of personal 
protective equipment, social distancing, sanitising 
of work areas, remote working where possible and 
restricted entry inspection facilities at packhouses. 
The PPECB inspectors and assessors were encouraged 
to minimise time spent at regional offices when dropping 
off or collecting documentation. The PPECB regional 
offices took the necessary precautions and shift work 
was adopted to reduce the number of staff on premises. 
At times, administration (processing of operational and 
financial information) was behind schedule due to staff 
self-isolations, however, through concerted efforts and 
some overtime all administration was completed by 
end of season and financial year end. Limited resources 
resulted in staff working over 15 hours per week to 
prevent delays in operational activities and ensuring 
that exports were unhampered.

The pandemic resulted in a shortage of containers 
globally and negatively impacted shipping opportunities. 
In the initial stages, it resulted in congestion within 
international ports and had an adverse impact on 
refrigerated containers within South Africa. South 
Africa’s shortage of containers had employees work 
overtime to ensure that available stock was efficiently 
approved and available for export. Vessels placed under 
quarantine resulted in fruit cooling for extended periods 
of time with cold storages reaching maximum capacity, 
with blockages within some of the cold stores. Due to 
limited resources, port terminals did not operate at full 
capacity resulting in several shipping delays, which 
caused congestion within those terminals, impacting 
turnaround of trucks and adding additional cost to 
the export industry. This congestion often resulted in 
containers being moved to other ports at a significant 
cost. The closure of cold stores and packhouses resulted 
in delays, placing pressure on the export value chain.

Food Safety Services and Laboratory
The purpose of the Food Safety Programme is to provide 
food safety assurance and contribute towards capacity 
building of small-scale farmers, which is enabled 
through the PPECB’s strategic objective to enhance the 
credibility of the South African export certificate and 
to contribute to the socio-economic transformation of 
the agricultural sector. These strategic objectives were 
unchanged during the pandemic with increased revenue 
and reduced travel, accommodation and subsistence 
expenses through realignment of best practices and 
conducting of desk-top audits.

The main objective of the laboratory is analysis of 
samples and validation of new methods to increase the 
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Finance
In respect of revenue, the shortage of grains and higher 
demand for citrus fruit (due to the perceived associated 
benefits in combating the effects of the coronavirus) 
contributed to excellent international market demand for 
South African produce exports. Certain administrative 
and operational costs improved against budget due to the 
postponement of selected projects. During the period of 
lockdown different methods used in respect of training 
and meetings led to reduced costs.

As at 31 March 2021 and the foreseeable future, the 
Board and management conclude that the PPECB 
generates sufficient cash flow and reserves to support 
its future business.

Strategic planning policy
The corporate strategic plan is approved by the Board 
and Executive Authority, and contains predetermined 
strategic and operational objectives. The plan, together 
with associated budgets, is approved at the beginning of 
the financial year in compliance with the provisions of 
the PFMA.

The PPECB has analysed the environment within 
which it operates and has identified as some of its 
biggest challenges the cost of doing business; financial 
performance of the laboratory; and the retention of 
core technical skills. Informed by this analysis, the 
PPECB developed a five-year plan focusing on customer 
centricity, operational efficiency and competent human 
capital to effectively deliver on its mandate.

Shareholders’ Compact
In terms of the Treasury’s Regulations issued in 
accordance with the PFMA, the PPECB must, in 
consultation with the Executive Authority, annually 
agree on its key performance objectives, measurements 
and indicators. These are captured in the Shareholders’ 
Compact, which is annually concluded between the 
PPECB and DALRRD. The Shareholders’ Compact 
promotes good governance practices in the PPECB by 
helping to clarify the roles and responsibilities of the 
Board and DALRRD, as well as ensuring agreement on 
the PPECB’s mandate and key objectives.

Annual performance information
In the PPECB’s annual performance information, its 
achievements, are highlighted against the predetermined 
objectives for the year. The PPECB achieved 12 of its 14 
objectives for the year, an 86% success rate. Further 
details of the PPECB’s performance against its objectives 
are set out in the Report on Predetermined Objectives on 
pages 102 to 107.

(personal protective equipment and processes). 
Regional Connect sessions were initiated to keep in touch 
with employees virtually and to address concerns. Care 
packs were issued to boost morale, virtual care cards 
created for motivation and workshops held focusing on 
coping mechanisms for stress and anxiety. The wellness 
programme Careways provided psychosocial support 
to employees. New leave categories were approved, and 
buddy support instigated for those in isolation. All these 
initiatives will continue and be incorporated into the 
PPECB’s wellness strategy going forward.

The PPECB was embarking on a journey of a blended 
learning approach. The pandemic accelerated the process 
with all learning being completed virtually as opposed 
to face-to-face training. This resulted in underspend of 
costs related to travel, venue hire, accommodation and 
subsistence expenditure.

Transformation
Agri Academy programme: Smallholder farmer 
development for farmers who are black, women or youth, 
which provides training to enable access to the market. 
The focus remained however with a change in the 
training methodology to utilisation of digital platforms. 
This reduced costs as no venues were required and is 
now built into the programme as digital stewardship.

Call2Care iGardi programme: Food security garden 
projects in underdeveloped and unsupported 
communities. The implementation of these projects 
was limited as the programme is mainly based at 
schools which were closed with limited onsite presence. 
Call2Care identified a need for personal protective 
equipment and basic food during the winter months, to 
which the PPECB contributed through donations.

SA GAP programme: Smallholder farmer development is 
funded by the provinces on identified projects which are 
approved by DALRRD. The programme was negatively 
impacted due to unavailable funds as the provinces’ 
budgets were reallocated to COVID-19 requirements.

Two new programmes were implemented towards the 
end of the financial year when COVID-19 restrictions 
were lowered: Soil for Life and the Beacon Sustainability 
projects, which focus on food gardens and outreach 
programmes to educate communities on creating their 
own food gardens and thereby ensuring food security.
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Events subsequent to reporting date
The members of the Board are not aware of any matters 
or circumstances arising since the end of the financial 
year, not otherwise dealt with in the financial statements, 
which will have a significant impact on the operations, 
financial results or the financial position of the PPECB.

Compliance with legislation
The Board believes that management has, during 
the year, complied, in all material respects, with all 
legislation and regulations applicable to it, including 
without limitation, the PFMA, Treasury Regulations and 
the Income Tax Act. The PPECB has compiled a Legal 
Compliance Register which is monitored and updated as 
legislation changes and reported to the Risk Committee 
periodically.

External auditor
The Board appointed SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant 
Thornton Inc. as the PPECB’s external auditor for the 
period under review, which was ratified by the Office 
of the Auditor-General of South Africa. This is their 
final term as external auditor and the appointment of 
Morar Incorporated was approved by the Office of the 
Auditor-General of South Africa for the financial period 
31 March 2022.

PPECB levies
The PPECB may, with a view to meeting expenditure 
incurred by the entity in the performance of its functions 
in terms of the Perishable Products Export Control Act 
(PPEC Act) and regulations, by notice in the Gazette 
impose a levy on any perishable product exported under 
contract or other arrangement made by, through or with 
the consent of the members of the board. The proposed 
levies for the financial year are subject to review and 
approval by the Executive Officer: APS Act, on an annual 
basis.

Significance and materiality framework
The significance and materiality framework for 
reporting losses through criminal conduct and irregular, 
fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as well as significant 
transactions envisaged per Section 54(2) of the PFMA 
has been confirmed by the Board. Losses through 
criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure which are identified are disclosed as 
prescribed in terms of relevant legislation.

Delegation of authority
The Board has delegated a range of matters to the PPECB 
Executive Committee, and has established two Board 
committees to assist in discharging its responsibilities. 
Delegating authority to committees or management 
does not in any way release the Board of its duties and 
responsibilities. There is always transparency and full 
disclosure from the Board committees to the Board.

Employees
The PPECB had 538 (2020: 502) permanent employees, 
26 (2020: 35) fixed-term contract workers and 
314 (2020: 251) seasonal contract workers as at 
31 March 2021.
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As at 31 March 2021

Note(s) 2021
R

2020
R

Assets

Current assets

Inventories – 2 892

Trade and other receivables 3 66 178 408 53 201 385

Investments 4 91 333 198 63 067 977

Cash and cash equivalents 5 32 374 008 35 369 288

189 885 614 151 641 542

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 44 550 611 35 930 158

Total assets 234 436 225 187 571 700

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Operating lease liability 7 840 000 1 603 898

Trade and other payables 8 61 266 226 53 154 877

Provisions 9 18 288 794 2 154 011

80 395 020 56 912 786

Total liabilities 80 395 020 56 912 786

Net assets 154 041 205 130 658 914

Reserves

Asset replacement reserve 10 13 150 000 26 000 000

General reserve fund 110 947 752 73 778 461

Revaluation reserve 18 350 453 18 350 453

Self-insurance reserve 11 11 593 000 12 530 000

Total net assets 154 041 205 130 658 914

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Note(s) 2021
R

2020
R

Revenue 12 479 203 232 420 615 878

Other income 13 3 719 080 3 743 030

Operating expenses 14 & 15 (464 239 286) (436 168 643)

Operating surplus/(deficit) 18 683 026 (11 809 735)

Investment revenue 16 4 700 633 7 100 191

Finance costs 17 (1 368) (5 583)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 23 382 291 (4 715 127)

Statement of Financial Performance

Statement of Financial Position

For the year ended 31 March 2021 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Revaluation
 reserve

R

Asset 
replacement 

reserve
R

Self-
insurance 

reserve
R

General 
reserve 

fund
R

Total 
reserves

R

Surplus levy 
for disposal

R

Total net 
assets

R

Balance at 
1 April 2019 18 350 453 24 360 000 12 164 000 80 499 586 135 374 039 – 135 374 039
Changes in net 
assets
Transfer to asset 
replacement reserve – 1 640 000 – (1 640 000) – – –
Transfer to self-
insurance reserve – – 366 000 (366 000) – – –
Transfer from 
surplus levy for 
disposal in terms of 
Sections 18(8) and 
(9) of Act 9 of 1983 – – – (4 715 127) (4 715 127) – (4 715 127)
Transfer to general 
reserve fund – – – – (4 715 127) 4 715 127 –
Net income/(losses) 
recognised directly 
in net assets – 1 640 000 366 000 (6 721 127) (4 715 127) 4 715 127 –
Deficit for the year – – – – 4 715 127 (4 715 127) –
Total recognised 
income and 
expenses for the 
year – 1 640 000 366 000 (6 721 127) (4 715 127) – 4 715 127
Total changes – 1 640 000 366 000 (6 721 127) (4 715 127) – (4 715 127)

Balance at 
1 April 2020 18 350 453 26 000 000 12 530 000 73 778 461 130 658 914 – 130 658 916

Changes in net 
assets
Transfer from asset 
replacement reserve – (12 850 000) – 12 850 000 – – –
Transfer from self-
insurance reserve – – (937 000) 937 000 – – –
Net income/(losses) 
recognised directly 
in net assets – (12 850 000) (937 000) 13 787 000 – – –
Surplus for the year – – – – (23 382 291) 23 382 291 –
Total recognised 
income and 
expenses for the 
year – (12 850 000) (937 000) 13 787 000 – 23 382 291 23 382 291
Transfer from 
surplus levy for 
disposal in terms of 
Sections 18(8) and 
(9) of Act 9 of 1983 – – – 23 382 291 23 382 291 – 23 382 291
Transfer to general 
reserve fund – – – – 23 382 291 (23 382 291) –
Total changes – (12 850 000) (937 000) 37 169 291 23 382 291 – 23 382 291

Balance at 
31 March 2021 18 350 453 13 150 000 11 593 000 110 947 752 154 041 205 – 154 041 205

Note(s) 10 11
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 

Note(s) 2021
R

2020
R

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Rendering of services 469 945 289 417 702 130

Interest income 4 700 633 7 100 191

474 645 922 424 802 321

Payments

Employee costs (330 955 764) (318 610 838)

Suppliers (104 734 648) (118 408 133)

Finance costs (1 368) (5 583)

(435 691 780) (437 024 554)

Net cash flows from operating activities 18 38 954 142 (12 222 233)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (13 796 062) (1 597 719)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6 111 860 677 962

(Increase)/decrease of investments (28 265 214) 16 309 008

Net cash flows from investing activities (41 949 416) 15 389 251

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2 995 274) 3 167 018

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 35 369 283 32 202 265

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 32 374 009 35 369 283

Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Budget on cash basis

Approved 
budget

R
Adjustments

R
Final budget

R

Actual amounts 
on comparable 

basis
R

Difference 
between final 

budget and 
actual amounts

R
Reference

R

Statement 
of financial 
performance

Revenue

Revenue 484 189 382 – 484 189 382 479 203 232 (4 986 150) 12

Interest received – 
investment 6 000 000 – 6 000 000 4 700 633 (1 299 367) 16

Other income 414 900 – 414 900 3 719 080 3 304 180 13

Total revenue 490 604 282 – 490 604 282 487 622 945 (2 981 337)

Expenditure

Employee 
compensation (367 196 081) – (367 196 081) (347 090 547) 20 105 534 14

Operating 
expenses (144 058 332) – (144 058 332) (117 148 739) 26 909 593 15

Finance costs – – – (1 368) (1 368) 17

Total expenditure (511 254 413) – (511 254 413) (464 240 654) 47 013 759

(Deficit)/Surplus (20 650 131) – (20 650 131) 23 382 291 44 032 422

Actual amount on 
comparable basis (20 650 131) – (20 650 131) 23 382 291 44 032 422

Statement of Comparison of Budget 
and Actual Amounts

Budgeted revenue is calculated on industry-approved 
volume expectations. For the financial period under 
review, actual volumes on most major products were 
higher than anticipated, with citrus and grain the 
significant contributors. Contributors to higher than 
anticipated volumes include market demand, favourable 
weather conditions and beneficial rains. Laboratory 
revenue did not meet budget due to lower samples 

analysed as a result of the lockdown. Interest received 
was lower than anticipated due to muted interest rates.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent 
lockdown, administrative costs (meetings and 
workshops, travel costs, depreciation, training and 
consultant costs) were significantly lower against budget.
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1. Presentation of Annual Financial 
Statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).

These annual financial statements have been prepared on 
an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, 
unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South 
African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied in the preparation of 
these annual financial statements, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period.

1.1 Going concern assumption
These annual financial statements have been prepared 
based on the expectation that the entity will continue to 
operate as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.2 Materiality
Material omissions or misstatements of items are 
material if they could, individually or collectively, 
influence the decisions or assessments of users made on 
the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends 
on the nature or size of the omission or misstatement 
judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature 
or size of the information item, or a combination of both, 
could be the determining factor.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could 
influence decisions of users, and so be material, requires 
consideration of the characteristics of those users. The 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 
Financial Statements states that users are assumed 
to have a reasonable knowledge of government, its 
activities, accounting and a willingness to study the 
information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the 
assessment takes into account how users with such 
attributes could reasonably be expected to be influenced 
in making and evaluating decisions.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty
In preparing the annual financial statements, 
management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the 
annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use 
of available information and the application of judgement 
are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results 
in the future could differ from these estimates which 
may be material to the annual financial statements. 
Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables
The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment 
at the end of each reporting period. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 
surplus or deficit, management makes judgements 
as to whether there is observable data indicating a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
from a financial asset.

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to the short-term nature of these 
assets and liabilities.

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available and current 
applicable internal policies.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held 
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are 
expected to be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow 
to the entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured 
at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses 
except for land and buildings which is carried at revalued 
amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Accounting Policies

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such 
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from 
that which would be determined using fair value at the 
end of the reporting period.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is 
revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of 
the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount of the asset.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result 
of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation 
reserve. The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to 
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the 
same asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result 
of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in 
the current period. The decrease is debited directly 
to a revaluation reserve to the extent of any credit 
balance existing in the revaluation reserve in respect 
of that asset.

The revaluation reserve related to a specific item of 
property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to 
the general reserve fund when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item
Depreciation 
method

Average useful 
life

Buildings Straight-line 50 years

Computer 
equipment Straight-line 3 – 7 years

Furniture and 
fixtures Straight-line 3 – 20 years

Motor vehicles Straight-line 5 years

Technical 
equipment Straight-line 3 – 20 years

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Minor assets of R5 000 or less are charged 
to the Statement of Financial Performance in full as 
expenditure in the year.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that the entity’s expectations 
about the residual value and the useful life of an asset 
have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any 
such indication exists, the entity revises the expected 
useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The change 
is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
surplus or deficit.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and 
the carrying amount of the item.

1.5 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
a residual interest of another entity.

A financial instrument is classified as measured at 
amortised cost or fair value.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through 
the use of an allowance account) for impairment or 
uncollectibility.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised 
financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s 
Statement of Financial Position.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-
derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial 
liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, 
excluding those instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial 
recognition; or

• are held for trading.
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Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits 
(other than termination benefits) that are due to be 
settled within 12 months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service.

• wages and salaries;

• short-term compensated absences (such as paid 
annual leave) where the compensation for the 
absences is due to be settled within 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period in which the 
employees render the related employee service; and

• bonus and performance-related payments payable 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related 
service.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus and 
performance-related payments when the entity has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate 
of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists 
when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make 
the payments.

Long-term benefits
The entity has an obligation to provide long-term service 
benefits to all employees appointed prior to 1997. 
According to the long service award policy, which the 
Board institutes and operates, permanent employees 
are entitled to a long service award after completion of 
a continuous period of 20, 30 and 40 years.

1.8 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a 
past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be 
required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions 
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potential will be required, to settle the obligation.

Classification
The entity has the following types of financial assets 
(classes and category) as reflected on the face of the 
Statement of Financial Position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured at 
fair value

Investments Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

Trade and other receivables Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities 
(classes and category) as reflected on the face of the 
Statement of Financial Position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and other payables Financial liability measured 
at amortised cost

1.6 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it 
does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and building elements, 
the entity assesses the classification of each element 
separately.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating 
lease asset or liability.

1.7 Employee benefits
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given 
by an entity in exchange for services rendered by 
employees.

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives 
from an entity’s actions whereby an established pattern 
of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently 
specific current statement, the entity has indicated to 
other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities 
and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation 
on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities.

Accounting Policies (continued)

1.11 Investment income
Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion 
basis using the effective interest method.

1.12 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses 
incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing 
of funds.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.

1.13 Reserves

Self-insurance reserve
A self-insurance reserve was established to manage the 
uninsured risks of the PPECB. The reserve covers 20% of 
uninsured movable assets (laptops and tablets) as well 
as technical equipment carried by inspectors and also 
provides for potential indemnity claims.

Asset replacement reserve
The PPECB is a non-profitable entity. It has significant 
investment in technical equipment. This reserve was 
established to provide for the replacement of technical 
equipment of the laboratory, without placing reliance on 
excessive levy increases.

Revaluation reserve
This reserve was established due to surpluses that were 
generated on the revaluation of land and buildings.

General reserve fund
The general reserve fund is maintained to protect the 
PPECB’s operating capacity by funding non-recurring 
or unforeseen needs, including severe weather or other 
natural disasters and unexpected obligations after the 
budget process has occurred, or opportunities to achieve 
cost savings.

1.14 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was 
made in vain and could have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Financial Performance in the year that the 
expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified 
in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.9 Commitments
Items are classified as commitments when an entity 
has committed itself to future transactions that will 
normally result in the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised 
contractual commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to 
achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note 
to the financial statements, if both the following criteria 
are met:

• contracts should be non-cancellable or only 
cancellable at significant cost (e.g. contracts for 
computer or building maintenance services); and

• contracts should relate to something other than 
the routine, steady, state business of the entity 
– therefore salary commitments relating to 
employment contracts or social security benefit 
commitments are excluded.

1.10 Revenue recognition
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential during the reporting period when those 
inflows result in an increase in net assets.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable.

Rendering of services
When the outcome of a transaction involving the 
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 
associated with the transaction is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can 
be estimated reliably when all the following conditions 
are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow 
to the entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the 
reporting date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.
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entity or person in the same circumstances and terms and 
conditions are within the normal operating parameters 
established by that reporting entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in 
accordance with the above, the entity discloses narrative 
information about the nature of the transactions and 
the related outstanding balances, to enable users of 
the entity’s financial statements to understand the 
effect of related party transactions on its annual 
financial statements.

The entity operates in an economic sector currently 
dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by 
the South African Government. As a consequence of 
the constitutional independence of the three spheres 
of government in South Africa, only entities within the 
national sphere of government are considered to be 
related parties.

1.18 Events after reporting date
Events after reporting date are those events, both 
favourable and unfavourable, that occur between 
the reporting date and the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events 
can be identified:

• those that provide evidence of conditions that 
existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after 
the reporting date); and

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose 
after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after 
the reporting date).

The entity will adjust the amount recognised in the 
financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the 
reporting date once the event occurred.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and an 
estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such 
estimate cannot be made in respect of all material non-
adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements.

1.19 Tax
In terms of the Income Tax Act, the PPECB is not 
subject to normal taxation. No provision has been made 
for taxation.

1.15 Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure is expenditure that is contrary 
to the PFMA and is in contravention of any legislation. 
Irregular expenditure excludes unauthorised 
expenditure. All expenditure relating to irregular 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Financial Performance in the year that 
expenditure was incurred. Expenditure is classified in 
accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.16 Budget information
The entity is subject to budgetary limits in the form of 
appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), 
which is given effect through authorising legislation, 
appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall 
provide information on whether resources were obtained 
and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis 
and presented by functional classification linked to 
performance outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 
01/04/2020 to 31/03/2021.

The annual financial statements and the budget are on 
the same basis of accounting, therefore a comparison 
with the budgeted amounts for the reporting period have 
been included in the Statement of Comparison of Budget 
and Actual Amounts.

1.17 Related parties
A related party is a person or an entity with the ability 
to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise 
significant influence over the other party, or vice versa, 
or an entity that is subject to common control, or 
joint control.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, 
services or obligations between the reporting entity and 
a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in 
relation to related party transactions if that transaction 
occurs within normal supplier and/or client/recipient 
relationships on terms and conditions no more or less 
favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect 
the entity to have adopted if dealing with that individual 

Accounting Policies (continued)
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2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in 
the current year
There are no standards and interpretations that have 
been adopted in the current financial year, that are 
effective for the current financial year and that are 
relevant to the entity’s operations.

2.2 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet 
effective
The entity has not applied the following standards and 
interpretations which have been published and are 
mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 April 2021 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation: Effective date: Expected impact:

GRAP 104 (amended): Financial Instruments To be determined Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

3. Trade and other receivables
2021

R
2020

R

Trade debtors 65 414 892 52 114 278

Sundry debtors 793 983 1 215 509

Provision for impairment of receivables (30 467) (128 402)

66 178 408 53 201 385

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2021, R970 133 
(2020: R643 576) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there 
is no recent history to default.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

2021
R

2020
R

+ 60 days after statement 970 133 643 576

Trade and other receivables impaired
At 31 March 2021, trade and other receivables of R30 467 (2020: R128 402) were impaired and provided for. 
The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to producers and exporters, who are in unexpectedly difficult 
economic situations.

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2021
R

2020
R

Less than three months 3 673 2 591

Six to 12 months 26 794 125 811

30 467 128 402

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
2021

R
2020

R

Opening balance 128 402 18 466

Provision for impairment 30 467 128 402

Amounts written off as uncollectible (111 526) (18 466)

Amounts recovered (16 876) –

30 467 128 402

4. Investments
2021

R
2020

R

ABSA 13 932 536 13 088 559

Nedbank 38 064 341 16 431 094

Standard Bank 39 336 321 33 548 324

91 333 198 63 067 977

Investments comprise of short-term money market securities of four months or more, but do not exceed 12 months.

5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2021
R

2020
R

Cash on hand 3 654 4 192

Bank balances 7 850 048 13 253 478

Short-term deposits 24 520 306 22 111 618

32 374 008 35 369 288

The effective interest rate is between 3.10% and 4.60%.

A Standard Bank guarantee was issued to Branvest Close Corporation, in terms of the Montague Gardens office rental 
agreement, amounting to R112 020 (2020: R112 020).
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

6. Property, plant and equipment
2021 2020

Cost/
Valuation

R

Accumulated
 depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

R

Carrying 
value

R

Cost/
Valuation

R

Accumulated
 depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

R

Carrying
 value

R

Computer 
equipment 20 070 053 (8 386 086) 11 683 967 14 388 244 (10 838 739) 3 549 505

Furniture and 
fixtures 6 030 065 (2 919 989) 3 110 076 5 403 031 (2 826 971) 2 576 060

Land and buildings 23 850 000 (592 958) 23 257 042 23 850 000 (296 479) 23 553 521

Motor vehicles 374 271 (3 148) 371 123 212 281 (212 279) 2

Technical 
equipment 16 761 735 (10 633 332) 6 128 403 15 368 907 (9 117 837) 6 251 070

Total 67 086 124 (22 535 513) 44 550 611 59 222 463 (23 292 305) 35 930 159

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2021

Opening 
balance

R
Additions

R
Disposals

R
Depreciation

R
Total

R

Computer equipment 3 549 505 11 280 705 (103 516) (3 042 727) 11 683 967

Furniture 2 576 060 697 455 (4 297) (159 142) 3 110 076

Land and buildings 23 553 521 – – (296 479) 23 257 042

Motor vehicles 2 374 271 (2) (3 148) 371 123

Technical equipment 6 251 069 1 443 631 (4 045) (1 562 252) 6 128 403

35 930 157 13 796 062 (111 860) (5 063 748) 44 550 611

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2020

Opening 
balance

R
Additions

R
Disposals

R
Depreciation

R
Total

R

Computer equipment 6 006 434 648 269 (645 533) (2 459 665) 3 549 505

Furniture and fixtures 2 088 373 659 726 (32 368) (139 671) 2 576 060

Land and buildings 23 850 000 – – (296 479) 23 553 521

Motor vehicles 2 – – – 2

Technical equipment 6 767 273 289 724 (61) (805 866) 6 251 070

38 712 082 1 597 719 (677 962) (3 701 681) 35 930 158

Revaluations
Cape Town – Erf 19927, Parow with office building 
thereon: the property was revalued by DJB Hoffman, 
an independent registered valuer as at 28 March 2019. 
Valuations were made in accordance with the investment 
approach method using the basis of recent market 
transactions, rentals of similar properties in the area 
and an insurance valuation of the property.

Durban – Portion 1 of Erf 1736, Wentworth with office 
building thereon: the property was revalued by Roper 

Associates, an independent registered valuer as at 
6 March 2019. Valuations were made in accordance 
with the investment approach method using the basis of 
recent market transactions, rentals of similar properties 
in the area and an insurance valuation of the property.

Land and buildings are revalued independently every 
three years. Valuations are conducted more frequently 
if deemed necessary to ensure the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from its fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

7. Operating lease liability
2021

R
2020

R

Operating lease liability 840 000 1 603 898

The entity’s obligations under operating leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. Refer to note 
on Commitments.

8. Trade and other payables
2021

R
2020

R

Accrued expenses 2 038 562 1 960 396

Accrued leave pay 20 563 038 16 842 495

Agricultural product samples 70 731 223 781

Deposits received 6 402 136 7 588 250

Payroll control accounts 10 052 761 6 770 871

Provision for audit fees 641 118 432 957

South African Maritime Safety Authority services 445 351 885 438

Trade payables 21 052 529 18 450 689

61 266 226 53 154 877

9. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions – 2021
Opening 
balance

R
Additions

R

Reversed during
 the year

R
Total

R

Performance incentive – 16 500 000 – 16 500 000

Long service award 2 154 011 – (365 217) 1 788 794

2 154 011 16 500 000 (365 217) 18 288 794

Reconciliation of provisions – 2020

Opening 
balance

R
Additions

R

Reversed during
 the year

R
Total

R

Performance incentive 12 956 629 – (12 956 629) –

Long service award 1 213 986 940 025 – 2 154 011

14 170 615 940 025 (12 956 629) 2 154 011

The performance incentive is paid out in accordance with 
the Board-approved performance incentive policy. The 
performance incentive payment is subject to approval 
by the Board and approval based on the outcome of the 
audited financial results, the achievement of the PPECB 
against its predetermined objectives and individuals’ 
agreed performance objectives for the past financial year.

All permanent employees appointed prior to 1997, may 
become entitled to a long service award upon completion 
of 20, 30 or 40 years of service.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

10. Asset replacement reserve
2021

R
2020

R

Opening balance 26 000 000 24 360 000

Transfer to general reserve fund (12 850 000) 1 640 000

13 150 000 26 000 000

An asset replacement reserve was established to provide 
for the replacement of technical equipment of the 
laboratory, without placing reliance on excessive levy 
increases. On an annual basis, a review of the

asset replacement reserve for the replacement of 
technical equipment is conducted and adjustments made 
to ensure sufficient levels of reserve.

11. Self-insurance reserve
2021

R
2020

R

Opening balance 12 530 000 12 164 000

Transfer to general reserve fund (937 000) 366 000

11 593 000 12 530 000

A self-insurance reserve was established to manage 
the uninsured risks of the PPECB. On an annual basis, 
a review of the self-insurance reserve on uninsured

movable assets (laptops and tablets), potential indemnity 
claims and cyber security insurance is conducted and 
adjustments made to ensure sufficient levels of reserve.

12. Revenue

2021
R

2020
R

AETP and internal development services 883 552 579 666

APS inspection services 296 923 149 247 885 376

Container services 12 685 647 10 664 034

Export services 129 099 559 111 320 961

Food safety certifications 6 442 650 6 412 413

Laboratory services 15 279 577 18 331 113

Orchard and phytosanitary services 11 992 792 20 399 941

Sea services 4 814 101 4 350 813

Transformation and development services 1 082 205 671 561

479 203 232 420 615 878

13. Other income
2021

R
2020

R

Information delivery services 2 120 323 2 611 915

Sale of assets 8 140 –

Sundry income 1 590 617 1 131 115

3 719 080 3 743 030

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

14. Employee compensation and benefits
2021

R
2020

R

Salaries and wages 322 726 389 284 649 737

Defined contribution costs – retirement fund 24 364 158 21 967 678

347 090 547 306 617 415

15. Operating expenses
2021

R
2020

R

Office accommodation 13 445 774 13 506 536

Administration 7 153 633 8 446 969

Auditor’s remuneration 639 973 622 715

Bad debts 16 896 317 911

Board members’ fees 778 223 1 025 691

Computer expenses 20 928 053 21 794 460

Consultant fees 1 009 567 2 300 701

Corporate identity 1 801 701 2 920 074

Courier samples 1 158 690 1 046 636

COVID-19 expenses 3 797 052 326 597

Depreciation 5 063 748 3 701 681

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – 2 193

Insurance 484 692 437 446

Irregular expenditure – 33 595

Legal fees 674 581 752 412

Loss on disposals of assets – 677 962

Meetings and workshops 751 959 6 849 448

Outsourced ICT expenses 10 172 637 3 396 151

Subsistence and accommodation 21 876 038 22 970 384

Technical equipment and labels 10 406 931 9 964 355

Training 5 472 828 12 062 151

Transformation and corporate social investment 420 817 214 600

Travel – local and overseas 11 094 946 16 180 560

117 148 739 129 551 228
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

16. Investment revenue
2021

R
2020

R

Interest revenue – bank 4 700 633 7 100 191

17. Finance costs
2021

R
2020

R

Finance costs 1 368 5 583

18. Cash generated from/(used in) operations
2021

R
2020

R

Surplus/(deficit) 23 382 291 (4 715 127)

Adjustments for:

Movements in operating lease assets (763 898) (432 342)

Movements in provisions 16 134 783 (12 016 604)

Depreciation 5 063 748 3 701 681

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 2 892 (2 892)

Trade and other receivables (12 977 023) (7 423 543)

Trade and other payables 8 111 349 8 666 593

38 954 142 (12 222 234)

19. Auditor’s remuneration
2021

R
2020

R

Professional fees 639 973 622 715

20. Taxation
In terms of the Income Tax Act, the PPECB is not subject to taxation. No provision was made for income tax.

21. Commitments

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
2021

R
2020

R

Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 4 896 643 4 544 644

– in second to fifth year inclusive 7 384 477 4 392 766

– later than five years – 216 516

12 281 120 9 153 926

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office properties.

Joint Venture – Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development

2021
R

2020
R

Training and Development Programme – 500 000

During 2014, the PPECB entered into a Joint Venture 
agreement with the Department of Agriculture, Land 
Reform and Rural Development (DALRRD) in relation 
to various training development programmes to be 
held. The total estimated project value was R4 711 633, 
inclusive of VAT, of which the PPECB received 
R4 711 633. The Joint Venture agreement concluded in 
June 2020.

22. Related parties
The PPECB has related party relationships with 
DALRRD, members of the Board and the management 
committee. DALRRD has significant influence. Services 
delivered to related parties are on terms of business 
normally prevailing with third parties.

The PPECB rendered services of R998 292 (2020: 
R5 640 040) to companies on which some of the members 
of the Board serve. The outstanding debtors balances of 
these companies totalled R201 040 (2020: R829 657).
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

22. Related parties (continued)

Related party balances
2021

R
2020

R

Board members

Mr CG Garrett – Bertie van Zyl (Pty) Ltd 5 644 2 979

Mr AG Petersen – Capespan South Africa (Pty) Ltd* – 553 991

Mr AM Shipalana – In X-Freight (Pty) Ltd* – 14 594

Dr M van Eeden – Rhodes Food Group (Pty) Ltd 195 396 258 093

201 040 829 657

Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development

Orchard and Phytosanitary Services Programme 206 826 603 947

Laboratory Analysis and Diagnostics Programme (361 791) (166 809)

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Eastern Cape) (1 700 000) (1 700 000)

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Eastern Cape) 22 457 –

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Northern Cape) 237 592 252 425

1 805 084 2 452 425

Related party transactions
2021

R
2020

R

Board members

Mr CG Garrett – Bertie van Zyl (Pty) Ltd 5 644 351 840

Mr AJ Kruger – Fresh Produce Exporters Forum 97 750 97 750

Dr JM Mashaba – Fresh Produce Exporters Forum* – 97 750

Mr AG Petersen – Capespan South Africa (Pty) Ltd* – 3 776 744

Mr AM Shipalana – In X-Freight (Pty) Ltd* – 152 206

Mr AM Shipalana – Visko Sea Products (Pty) Ltd* – 9 585

Ms M Slabber – Hexrivier Sitrus (Edms) Bpk 15 971 17 621

Dr M van Eeden – Rhodes Food Group (Pty) Ltd 878 927 1 136 544

998 292 5 640 040

Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development

Agricultural Export Technologist Programme 584 000 –

Joint Venture – Transformation and Development – 500 000

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Eastern Cape) 22 457 1 700 000

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Free State) 82 788 –

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Mpumalanga) 348 725 –

Inter-departmental training and capacitation initiative (Northern Cape) 394 021 252 425

1 431 991 2 452 425

* Board member until 31 January 2020.

Remuneration of management
Management class: Executive management

2021

Basic 
salary

R

Performance- 
related

 payments
R

Travel 
allowance

R

Medical and 
provident 

contributions
R

Total
R

Chief Executive 
Officer 2 375 283 – 9 600 441 913 2 826 796

Chief Financial 
Officer 2 109 912 – 16 000 462 535 2 588 447

Chief Operations 
Officer 1 644 042 – 20 000 371 329 2 035 371

Chief Information 
Officer 1 750 373 – – 146 543 1 896 916

Human Capital 
Executive 1 351 243 – – 200 571 1 551 814

9 230 853 – 45 600 1 622 891 10 899 344

2020

Basic 
salary

R

Performance- 
related 

payments
R

Travel 
allowance

R

Medical and 
provident 

contributions
R

Total
R

Chief Executive 
Officer 2 083 270 368 957 9 600 416 654 2 878 481

Chief Financial  
Officer 1 825 877 338 263 48 000 428 256 2 640 396

Chief Operations 
Officer 1 431 574 265 903 48 000 333 642 2 079 119

Chief Information 
Officer 1 535 238 106 392 – 138 171 1 779 801

Human Capital 
Executive 1 198 656 135 032 – 175 456 1 509 144

8 074 615 1 214 547 105 600 1 492 179 10 886 941
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

23. Board members’ fees

Fees for services as Board members
2021

R
2020

R

Ms JM Atwood-Palm – 121 221

Mr W Bam 79 922 21 534

Mr CG Garrett 85 203 109 549

Mr KB Katoo 87 459 108 306

Ms M Kotzé 87 459 21 534

Mr AJ Kruger 98 137 103 328

Dr JM Mashaba – 165 857

Mr AG Petersen – 305 914

Dr C Nkuna 74 767 26 767

Mr RM Ramasodi* – –

Ms E Scholtz – 110 454

Mr AM Shipalana – 100 719

Ms K Sinclair 79 922 21 534

Ms M Slabber 97 895 126 770

Dr M van Eeden 87 459 21 534

778 223 1 365 021

*  Mr RM Ramasodi was appointed as the Ministerial Representative for DALRRD. He does not receive fees for services as a board member 
from the PPECB.
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procedures to assess potential clients; daily monitoring 
of collectible balance at both branch and head office 
level; and the suspension of services to accounts which 
exceed the Board’s payment terms.

The table below shows the balances of the financial 
institutions in which the Board held deposits at 
Statement of Financial Position date:

Financial institution
2021

R
2020

R

ABSA 19 562 806 18 751 244

First National Bank 5 997 485 5 773 177

Nedbank 44 485 854 21 357 555

Standard Bank 53 657 407 52 551 097

123 703 552 98 433 073

The carrying amount of financial assets in the Statement 
of Financial Position represents the Board’s exposure 
to credit risk in relation to these assets. Credit limits 
assigned to customers may be exceeded due to timing 
differences. Such instances are individually approved 
and closely monitored by management. Management 
does not expect any losses from non-performance by 
these counter-parties.

The Board’s exposure to concentrated credit risk is 
low due to the large number of customers and their 
dispersion across different geographical areas and 
product sectors.

The dispersion of income per product from statutory 
levies is:

Dispersion
2021

%
2020

%

Citrus 39 38

Grapes 25 27

Pome 13 13

Maize 7 5

Vegetables 4 5

Other products 4 4

Stone 5 4

Sub-tropical 1 2

Flowers 1 1

Avocados 1 1

100 100

24. Risk management

Financial risk management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate 
risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk.

The members of the Board acknowledge their 
responsibility for establishing and communicating 
appropriate risk and control policies and ensuring 
adequate risk management processes are in place. The 
Audit Committee assists the members of the Board in 
discharging their risk management obligations.

The principal objectives of risk management are to:

• review the Board’s risk philosophy, strategy, policies 
and processes recommended by senior management; 
review compliance with risk policies and with the 
overall risk profile of the Board;

• review and assess the integrity of the process and 
procedures for identifying, assessing, recording and 
monitoring of risk;

• review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s 
risk management function and its implementation 
by management; and

• ensure that material risks have been identified, 
assessed and receive attention.

The Board’s risk management processes, of which the 
systems of internal, financial and operating controls are 
an integral part, are designed to control and monitor risk 
throughout the Board. For effectiveness, these processes 
rely on regular communication, sound judgement and 
thorough knowledge of statutory and operational activities. 
Management is tasked with integrating the management 
risk into the day-to-day activities of the Board.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash reserves. Due to the dynamic nature of 
operational activities, the Board aims to be conservative 
in funding by keeping committed cash reserves available.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and equivalents and 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well 
as credit exposure to customers, including outstanding 
receivables and committed transactions.

Measures taken by the Board to limit credit risk to 
acceptable levels include, inter alia, an assessment of 
the credit quality of the customer, by taking into account 
their financial position; past experience and other 
factors; the application of standard credit acceptance 

Chapter 4:  Annual  Financial  Statements
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26. Irregular expenditure
2021

R
2020

R

Opening balance as 
previously reported 1 533 595 –

Opening balance as 
restated 1 533 595 –

Deviation of prescribed 
competitive tender bid 
process1 – 1 500 000

Deviation of three-quote 
procurement process2 – 15 750

Deviation of three-quote 
procurement process3 – 1 745

Deviation of three-quote 
procurement process4 – 16 100

Less: Amount condoned 
during the year (1 533 595) –

Closing balance – 1 533 595

1  During March 2019, the PPECB deviated from the prescribed 
competitive tender bid process in order to take timely 
advantage of the purchase of second-hand technical 
equipment. The PPECB entered into direct negotiations with 
the seller, Scicorp Laboratories, with the approval of the 
CEO. The expedited purchase of the second-hand technical 
equipment for the PPECB’s laboratory was believed 
necessary to improve the capabilities of the laboratory. A 
request for condonation was submitted to National Treasury 
on 5 April 2019. On 20 September 2019, National Treasury 
advised that the irregular expenditure was not condoned. 
The Board condoned the irregular expenditure on 
31 May 2019.

2  During the prior financial year, garden services were 
procured, where the three-quote procurement process was 
not followed. Prior approval from the CEO was not obtained, 
which is a deviation from National Treasury regulations.

3   During the prior financial year, accommodation for an urgent 
training session was procured, where the three-quote 
procurement process was not followed. Prior approval from 
the CEO was not obtained, which is a deviation from National 
Treasury regulations.

4   During the prior financial year, human resource services 
were procured, where the three-quote procurement process 
was not followed. Prior approval from the CEO was not 
obtained, which is a deviation from National Treasury 
regulations.

The Board condoned the irregular expenditure on 
25 June 2020.

No irregular expenditure is reported for the current 
financial year.

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Board’s interest rate risk arises from investments 
held to maturity as well as from cash and cash equivalents. 
The Board’s policy is to maintain its investments across 
a range of high-quality financial institutions. Interest 
rate exposure and investment allocations are evaluated 
by management on a regular basis. This risk is managed 
by maintaining an appropriate mix of investments 
with registered financial institutions. Interest-bearing 
investments are held with reputable financial institutions 
in order to minimise exposure.

Capital risk management
Capital is regarded as total reserves which is a result of 
accumulated surpluses. The Board strives to maintain a 
sufficient reserve as to sustain its statutory obligations. 
The level of the reserves is dependent on the approval of 
the Minister of DALRRD.

25. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
2021

R
2020

R

Opening balance as 
previously reported 2 193 387 851

Irrecoverable personnel 
costs (abscondment of 
employee) – 2 193

Less: Amount written 
off – prior period (2 193) (387 851)

Opening balance as 
restated – 2 193

Closing balance – 2 193

During the prior financial year, an employee absconded 
and did not return the PPECB laptop which was in his 
possession. The book value of the laptop amounted to 
R7 625. An amount of R5 432 was deducted from the 
employee’s available leave pay. The balance of R2 193 
was irrecoverable.

The Board approved the amount for write-off on 
25 June 2020.

No fruitless and wasteful expenditure is reported for the 
current financial year.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

Segment surplus or deficit and assets

2021

Statutory 
Services

R 

Food Safety 
Services

R

Development
 Services

R

Corporate 
Services

R
Total

R

Revenue

Income 458 078 358 21 704 702 2 682 823 5 157 062 487 622 945

Entity’s revenue  487 622 945

Expenditure

Employee compensation 263 214 340 14 417 547 11 874 970 57 583 690 347 090 547

Activity cost 36 163 346 6 574 891 133 840 95 092 42 967 169

Administrative cost 12 310 328 4 381 154 3 618 437 53 873 019 74 182 938

Total segment expenditure 311 688 014 25 373 592 15 627 247 111 551 801 464 240 654

Total segmental surplus  23 382 291

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 249 483 6 064 195 403 477 29 833 456 44 550 611

Total assets as per Statement of 
Financial Position  44 550 611

2020

Statutory 
Services

R 

Food Safety 
Services

R

Development
 Services

R

Corporate 
Services

R
Total

R

Revenue

Income 396 820 904 24 763 551 2 137 970 7 736 674 431 459 099

Entity’s revenue  431 459 099

Expenditure

Employee compensation 229 100 678 12 152 735 11 051 899 54 312 103 306 617 415

Activity cost 38 337 571 6 812 422 525 114 48 990 45 724 097

Administrative cost 16 674 543 3 611 368 12 109 327 51 437 476 83 832 714

Total segment expenditure 284 112 792 22 576 525 23 686 340 105 798 569 436 174 226

Total segmental deficit  (4 715 127)

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 490 119 5 949 192 36 390 26 454 458 35 930 159

Total assets as per Statement of 
Financial Position  35 930 159

27. Segment information

General information

Identification of segments
The segment information report reflects the reportable 
segments regularly provided, reviewed and used by the 
Board and executive management to make strategic 
decisions and assess performance of the segments. The 
Executive assesses the performance of the operating 
segments based on a measure of contribution consistent 
with that of the financial statements.

Total assets allocated are based on the operation of the 
segment and the physical location of the assets. Working 
capital is not considered to be segment specific and is 
primarily managed by the central finance function.

The operations in each reportable segment are Statutory 
Services and Food Safety Services, which provide 
mostly regulatory services at a fee to the perishable 
products industry. Statutory Services is responsible for 
delivering integrated inspection and cold chain services 
on perishable products being exported. Food Safety 
Services refers to the assurance given that food will 
not cause harm to the consumer when consumed. The 
Transformation and Development Services programme 
is aimed at building capacity through the development of 
internal and external skills. Corporate Services ensures 
coherence among the respective programmes within the 
PPECB by providing support, direction, leadership and 
promoting the services of the PPECB.
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Programme 4: Transformation and 
Development Services
The Transformation and Development Services 
Programme is aimed at building capacity through 
the development of internal and external skills. The 
programme focuses on the following:

lnternships and learnerships
The PPECB has over the past 13 years offered a 
learnership at National Qualification Framework 
(NQF) Level 5, exposing learners to the postharvest 
agricultural value chain and providing them with a 
head-start in advancing themselves professionally in 
this sector. The learnership programme is provided in 
partnership with DALRRD and the Agricultural Sector 
Education Training Authority (AgriSETA).

In collaboration with AgriSETA, the PPECB is further 
providing on-the-job exposure in fields like ICT, finance, 
human resources and marketing to unemployed 
graduates. In addition, the PPECB is also providing 
opportunities for students studying towards agriculture-
related qualifications to complete their qualifications by 
offering workplace exposure which contributes to the 
final requirement for the students graduating.

Internal capacity building
The PPECB emphasises capacity building by providing 
development opportunities for both internal and external 
stakeholders. With regard to internal stakeholders, the 
focus is on women and youth empowerment. Leadership 
development initiatives are being put in place to ensure 
that women advancements are accelerated for them to 
be able to assume leadership roles as these are currently 
occupied predominantly by men. The PPECB has also 
developed a Talent Framework to ensure that we focus 
on the development of women. The PPECB is striving to 
be a learning institution and is leveraging technology 
to ensure that training provided meets the needs of 
a younger generation. The Learning Management 
System hosts online onboarding and other learning 
material which is used for supervisory and management 
development as part of a blended learning approach, 
which reduces face-to-face classroom time and improves 
time in the field for operational employees.

Over and above the training, coaching and mentoring 
that we provide for our internal stakeholders, we also 
have a dedicated programme for ensuring uniform 
interpretation and consistent application of standards 
during execution of product inspections, cold chain 
functions and food safety audits. The learning and 
development specialists aim at mitigating the risks of 
incorrect decision-making during inspections and cold 
chain functions and enhances the confidence levels of 
employees and associated clients during service delivery.

Report on Predetermined Objectives

The PPECB’s strategy is driven and executed by four 
main programmes.

Programme 1: Corporate Services
The Corporate Services Programme is one of four 
strategic programmes within the PPECB. The purpose 
of the programme is to support, provide direction and 
leadership, instil corporate discipline and promote the 
services of the PPECB.

The Corporate Services Programme operates cross-
functionally with the primary aim of delivering 
professional support services and strategic leadership 
to the whole of the PPECB. The programme further 
plays an essential role in ensuring coherence among the 
respective business units within the entity.

Programme 2: Operational Services
The Operational Services Programme is responsible 
for delivering integrated laboratory, inspection and 
cold chain services for the export market. The aim 
of the programme is to mandate compliance and to 
deliver an effective and efficient service to all PPECB 
stakeholders. The programme is further committed to 
ensure achievement of the PPECB’s strategic objectives.

Programme 3: Food Safety Services
Food safety refers to the assurance that food will not 
cause harm to the consumer when it is prepared and/
or eaten according to its intended use. Section 2(1) of 
the Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and Disinfectants Act bars any 
person from putting into international trade any food 
that is unfit for human consumption. The Agricultural 
Product Standards Act (APS Act) controls and promotes 
specific product quality standards for the local market 
and for export purposes. It is administered and enforced 
by the Directorate: Food Safety and Quality Assurance in 
the Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development (DALRRD). With respect to food safety, the 
PPECB has been appointed and authorised to conduct 
food safety audits (Regulation R707), test groundnuts 
for aflatoxins (Regulation R1145 relating to tolerance 
for fungus-produced toxins in foodstuffs) and conduct 
compositional testing of dairy products (Regulation 
R2581 relating to dairy and imitation dairy products) 
destined for the export market.

To this end, the PPECB has identified Food Safety 
Services as one of its core programmes. The main 
objective of this programme is to ensure compliance to 
standards regarding food hygiene and food safety, as 
promulgated in Notice 707 of 13 May 2005. This is in line 
with European Commission directives EC 178/2002 and 
EC 1525/1998, including the relevant Codex principles. 
The purpose of this is to enable South Africa’s continuous 
penetration of international markets, thereby increasing 
its market share with regard to safe and quality foods.

Smallholder farmer development
The Learning and Development department’s services 
also aim to expose smallholder farmers to food safety, 
South African Good Agricultural Practices (SA GAP), 
responsible use of pesticides, cold chain management 
and product quality training in preparation for food 
safety certification and market access.

Development initiatives are run in collaboration with 
DALRRD and provincial departments of agriculture and 
service all provinces in South Africa. Collaboration not 
only extends to sister state-owned enterprises (SOEs) 
but also to commercial development partners.

PPECB employees have enviable expertise in quality 
standards, food safety and cold chain management in 
particular, and it plays to its strength as an organisation 
in imparting that knowledge. The PPECB’s mandate 
and resources are limited when it comes to providing 
a standalone training function, so it is imperative that 
the organisation performs this important function in a 
collaborative fashion.



104 PPECB Annual  Report  2020/21 105PPECB Annual  Report  2020/21

Chapter 4:  Annual  Financial  Statements Chapter 4:  Annual  Financial  Statements

Report on Predetermined Objectives (continued)

Programme 1: Corporate Services

Performance progress per quarter 2020/21

Q1 (Apr-Jun 2020) Q2 (Jul-Sep 2020) Q3 (Oct-Dec 2020) Q4 (Jan-Mar 2021)

Key performance 
indicator

Annual 
target 

2020/21
Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Comments

% of money 
spent on B-BBEE 
suppliers*

80% 75% 79% 76% 87% 78% 84% 80% 85% Target was met for the year despite challenges brought about by the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Key focus was on increased spend with B-BBEE compliant suppliers.

% of information 
provided at a 
95% accuracy 
level in week 1 of 
reporting*

95% 92% 93% 93% 95% 94% 96% 95% 96% Target achieved despite connectivity challenges and the COVID-19 pandemic.

Organisational 
customer 
satisfaction index 
measured annually 
as a %**

80% – – – – 80% 84% – –
Annual Customer Satisfaction survey was conducted in the third quarter and the PPECB 
achieved 84.14%. The PPECB excelled in service delivery despite the challenging year 
brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Number of 
manual processes 
converted to 
electronic or 
digitised*

5 1 1 2 2 4 4 5 5 Employment letters sent to employees were generated on CRS (payroll system) in place 
of the manual print and distribution of letters.

* These targets are cumulative
** These targets are reported on annually

Programme 2: Operational Services

Performance progress per quarter 2020/21

Q1 (Apr-Jun 2020) Q2 (Jul-Sep 2020) Q3 (Oct-Dec 2020) Q4 (Jan-Mar 2021)

Key performance 
indicator

Annual 
target 

2020/21
Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Comments

% of samples 
inspected on a 2% 
basis*

99% 97% 98% 97% 98% 98% 98% 99% 99% The permanent inspector complement was augmented with sufficient seasonal 
employees.

% of cartons of main 
products (citrus, 
grapes, pome, 
stone and avocados 
collectively) 
captured on 
TITAN 2.0® system*

60% 30% 45% 40% 56% 50% 59% 60% 66%

Uptake of TITAN 2.0® is dependent on industry software vendor readiness. Citrus 
and avocado uptake was higher than anticipated. High uptake of TITAN 2.0® by grape 
packhouses. 85% of grape volumes for 2020/21 season was inspected on TITAN 2.0®. 
90% of grape volumes in Citrusdal and 92% in Hex River Valley inspected on TITAN 2.0®.

Number of activity 
points interfacing 
with the PPECB 
mobile technology 
platform*

920 600 787 800 804 900 901 920 922

More citrus activity points interfaced than anticipated to prepare for Tracking Unit 
Register integration. High number of grape packhouses interfaced with TITAN 2.0® 
and the Tracking Unit Register. Minor product service requests also completed on  
TITAN 2.0®.

* These targets are cumulative
** These targets are reported on annually
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Programme 3: Food Safety Services

Performance progress per quarter 2020/21

Q1 (Apr-Jun 2020) Q2 (Jul-Sep 2020) Q3 (Oct-Dec 2020) Q4 (Jan-Mar 2021)

Key performance 
indicator

Annual 
target 

2020/21
Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Comments

Number of 
samples analysed 
using accredited 
methods* 22 500 6 000 5 092 11 500 10 194 16 500 15 058 22 500 18 562

The statutory groundnut and Pesticide Analytical Programme (PAP) samples were 
31% and 32% below budgeted samples respectively. The Mycotoxin commercial sample 
volumes historically compensated for the loss in volumes in other programmes, 
therefore, the decrease in these volumes has had a great impact on the total sample 
volumes and income. The COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown, climate conditions and 
emerging competitors all played a role in the reduction in sample volumes.

Number of food 
safety audits 
conducted*

550 200 112 300 356 400 575 550 1 286 Above target for the year due to vineyard/orchard packing and raisin drying facility 
audits.

*  These targets are cumulative
**  These targets are reported on annually

Programme 4: Transformation and Development Services

Performance progress per quarter 2020/21

Q1 (Apr-Jun 2020) Q2 (Jul-Sep 2020) Q3 (Oct-Dec 2020) Q4 (Jan-Mar 2021)

Key performance 
indicator

Annual 
target 

2020/21
Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Target Progress Comments

Number of 
students 
graduated through 
the Agricultural 
Export 
Technologist 
Programme 
(AETP) 
annually**

40 – – – – – – 40 42
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, students declined their offers; the programme was able 
to replace two students. (Target was adjusted to 40 due to the COVID-19 pandemic to 
accommodate possible further attrition.)

Number of 
smallholder 
farmers trained*

150 – – 50 – 50 24 150 53 Limited training conducted due to the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and provinces 
not concluding MOA, SLA and SCM processes.

Number of new 
skills identified 
and trained* 2 – – 1 2 1 3 2 5

• Business Analysis for Finance Employees (2) 
• Virtual Facilitation for Human Capital Employees (11)
• Artificial Intelligence for Financial Accounting (1)
• Virtual Gurus training course (31)
• Data Quality Management (11)

% of permanent 
technical 
professionals 
(inspectors 
and assessors) 
evaluated as 
technically 
competent*

92% 80% 91% 85% 92% 90% 89% 92% 92% Target achieved despite challenges on cold chain due to the impact of COVID-19. Product 
inspection targets achieved.

Number of small- 
holder farmers 
certified for 
export*

15 – – 5 18 10 33 15 129
The increase in farmers certified is due to the implementation of the Raisin SA 
Certification Framework (industry body) that required all Northern Cape raisin 
smallholder farmers to be certified.

*  These targets are cumulative
**  These targets are reported on annually

Report on Predetermined Objectives (continued)
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Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Legal form of entity Schedule 3A National Public Entity constituted and mandated in 
terms of the Perishable Products Export Control Act (Act 9 of 1983)

Registered office 45 Silwerboom Avenue
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Cape Town
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Business address 45 Silwerboom Avenue
Plattekloof
Cape Town
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Postal address PO Box 15289
Panorama
Cape Town
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Auditor SNG Grant Thornton Inc.
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Part A: Our Mandate

Legislative and Policy Mandates

The PPECB is mainly governed by the Perishable 
Products Export Control Act (the PPEC Act) and the 
Agricultural Product Standards Act (the APS Act). In 
terms of this legislation, the PPECB is responsible for 
overseeing the export of perishable produce. This is 
achieved through the inspection of listed agricultural 
products and management of the cold chain. The PPECB 
is further mandated to conduct food safety audits in 
terms of the APS Act on all Food Business Operators 
(FBOs) exporting perishable produce of plant origin. 

The PPEC Act is still under review and has not been 
finalised. To date, the PPEC Bill has been approved by 
the National Economic Development and Labour Council 
(NEDLAC) and final certification has been received from 
the Office of the Chief State Law Adviser. The next step 
will be for the Bill to be introduced to Parliament, together 
with the PPECB Levies Bill, for further consideration. 

Informed by the National Growth Path (NGP) and the 
National Development Plan (NDP), the Medium-term 
Strategic Framework (MTSF) places great emphasis on 
smallholder farmer development and rural employment, 
amongst other things. 

As subject matter experts for the inspection of listed 
agricultural products, the management of the cold chain 
and the certification of food safety for export markets, 
the PPECB is committed to supporting government in 
achieving these outcomes. 

The PPECB has formulated policies and programmes 
that will promote and facilitate the achievement of these 
outcomes. 

Part B: Our Strategic Focus

Vision

Enabling our clients to become preferred suppliers of 
perishable products worldwide. 

Mission

Empowering our people to execute the PPECB’s mandate 
to give integrity to their clients’ products.

Values

Professionalism
We aspire to do the job right first time, while displaying a 
positive attitude towards and fostering our relationships 
with our clients, colleagues and stakeholders.

Accountability
We proactively assume responsibility for all our 
deliverables and areas of influence. This is done by 
creating and maintaining an environment that fosters 
the guidance and empowerment of employees to take 
ownership of their actions.  

Passion
We are driven and committed to continually serve our 
stakeholders with energy and enthusiasm.

Integrity 
We uphold the highest standards of honesty, impartiality 
and confidentiality in the execution of our duties, 
services and stakeholder relationships.

Confidence
We believe in our people, our processes, proficiency 
and in-depth knowledge, which enable us to execute 
our duties and deliver services with conviction and 
excellence.

Collaboration
We actively engage in building and maintaining 
relationships, in which we share information and 
exchange innovative ideas with all stakeholders. 

Situational Analysis

Global perishable produce exports are becoming 
increasingly competitive as new entrants are accessing 
international markets. In addition, the drive towards 
safe and premium quality food continues. Non-technical 
trade barriers remain a great concern and the provision 
of relevant export information has become more critical 
than ever. 

Being an independent and impartial regulator for 
South African perishable exports for over 90 years, the 
PPECB is highly focused on delivering quality inspection 
services, cold chain management services and, to some 
extent, food safety certification services, based on 
minimum South African export standards. We have 
leapfrogged to an era where technological advancements 
will continue to disrupt the status quo, where privileged 
information is more readily available and consumers 
are spoiled for choice. In this context, the PPECB has 
no choice but to adapt to these rapid changes or it will 
become irrelevant. 

Clients now expect increased efficiencies, seamless 
systems integration and the faster flow of information, 
supported by proper business and market intelligence, 
as well as impeccable client service. It is clear that the 
PPECB’s value proposition should change from merely 
playing the role of a regulator to that of being an enabler. 
The organisation should therefore seek ways to augment 
its current service offering with value-adding services 
directed at making South African perishable produce 
more competitive globally. In addition to this, such 
services can create a further income stream for the 
PPECB, relieving some pressure on future levy increases. 

External Environment Analysis
Economic outlook
The global economy is expected to grow at 4% during 
2021 (World Bank, January 2021). This is, however, 
dependent on the global roll-out of the anticipated 
COVID-19 vaccine. Europe, South Africa’s major trading 
partner for fresh fruit, is expected to grow at 3.6% in 
2021, after a decline of nearly 7.4% in 2020, following the 
impact of COVID-19 on the region. It is further forecast 
that emerging markets, including China, will grow at 
around 5%. Sub-Saharan Africa is set to grow at 2.7% 
in 2021.

Whilst the South African economy remains under severe 
pressure, prospects for 2021 remain positive and the 
economy is expected to grow at a healthy 3%. South 
African inflation was 3.3% for 2020 and is estimated to 
reach 4% for 2021.

The embattled economy certainly had a negative effect 
on South Africa’s unemployment figures for the third 
quarter of 2020, reported at 30.8%. This represents an 
increase in unemployment of 7.5%, up from 23.5% in 
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Part B: Our Strategic Focus (continued)

the second quarter of 2020. The number of unemployed 
people increased by 2.2 million to 6.5 million. 
Employment increased in all sectors in the third quarter 
of 2020. Formal sector employment increased by 
242 000 (2.4%); informal sector employment by 176 000 
(7.7%); private household employment by 116 000 
(11.5%); and employment in agriculture increased by 
9 000 (1.1%). Employment increased in all industries, 
except utilities and transport.

During the 2020 State of the Nation Address, President 
Ramaphosa reiterated government’s commitment 
to economic growth in the form of job creation and 
structural transformation. The following areas were 
highlighted by the president:

• Some South African SOEs remain in distress

• The effect of load shedding on the economy

• Irregular expenditure in government

• Congestion in South African ports, especially Durban

• The high unemployment rate

• The potential of agriculture.

The agricultural sector in South Africa has great 
potential to support government’s objective to stimulate 
economic growth and fast-track the creation of additional 
jobs. Following the devastating drought over the past 
four years, it appears that the production and export 
of main fruit commodities – citrus, grapes, pome fruit, 
stone fruit and avocados – are recovering. With South 
Africa exporting roughly 60% of all fruit produced, 
the sector’s potential for job creation is not limited to 
primary production, but can also benefit us further down 
the value chain. This can be in the form of marketing, 
various modes of transport, clearing and forwarding 
service providers or related professional services.

Perishable produce exports
During 2020, South African perishable produce exports 
increased by 12.6% to 3.2 million tonnes to 92 countries. 
Year-on-year growth on this front has been steady, 
except for 2016 and 2019 when export volumes declined 
due to ongoing drought and tough market conditions. 
In contrast, during 2020, citrus fruit exports soared to 
record levels, with 145 million cartons exported (5% 
above expectation). This figure is expected to increase 
even further as new plantings come to fruition. 

During 2020 deciduous fruit exports were below 
expectation, with pome and stone fruit down by 9%. In 
addition to the above, the impact of COVID-19 on global 
logistics, and specifically the availability of refrigerated 
containers during the season, remains a concern.

The 2020 avocado season was considered another 
“off year” for avocados, resulting in total volumes of 
10.3 million cartons inspected, which was a significant 
20% lower compared to the 2019 season which was 
also not a good year. The decrease in volumes is also 
attributable to the drought that persisted in the northern 
parts of the country. The outlook for avocados in 2021 
is significantly better, with around 16 million cartons 
expected to be exported. This is mainly due to improved 
weather conditions and new plantings. 

Maize exports, on the other hand, increased from 
354 374 tonnes in 2019 to approximately 1.9 million 
tonnes in 2020. The growth in maize exports is expected 
to continue in 2021. 

Below please find a graph depicting the number of 
perishable produce pallets exported over a five-year 
period: 

3 000 000

3 500 000

2 500 000

2 000 000

1 500 000

1 000 000

500 000

0

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Pallets

Pallets exported

Higher volumes among major export commodities are 
visible for 2020. This is especially the case for citrus and 
maize. For the period up to December 2020, 145 million 
cartons of citrus were inspected, 4% more than initially 
anticipated. The trend is expected to continue over the 
medium term due to new plantings and market forces. 
A total of 1.9 million tonnes of maize had been exported 
as at 31 December 2020.

Notwithstanding the positive growth, the impact of the 
recent drought remains a huge concern, especially in 
parts of the Eastern Cape and northern parts of the 
country, which provide approximately 80% of total 
citrus fruit exports. Should the situation not improve, 
it certainly will have an impact on the citrus volumes 
for the 2021 season. The situation in the Western Cape 
was significantly better in 2020, compared to 2019. At 
the time of writing this report, dam levels were already 
at 91% on average, which is higher than 2019, when dam 
levels were reported at just above 82%. The Western 
Cape experienced an above normal rainfall season, with 
deciduous fruit volumes expected to normalise for the 
2020/21 season.

Perishable produce markets
From a market perspective, the European Union (EU), 
excluding the United Kingdom (UK), remains the biggest 
importer of South African fruit, taking 36% of exports 
during 2020. The UK took a further 14% of South African 
fruit volumes. Based on reported figures, it appears that 
BREXIT has had little effect on the volumes exported to 
this region at this point.

With Citrus Black Spot (CBS) still an unresolved issue 
in the EU, the South African citrus industry remains on 
high alert. During 2020, South Africa recorded six CBS 
interceptions in the EU, down from nine in the previous 
year. False Codling Moth (FCM) became a regulated pest 
in the EU in 2018 and 14 interceptions were recorded in 
the EU in 2020, which is lower than the 19 in 2019. In 
addition to this, Fruit Fly became a regulated pest in the 
EU on citrus, peaches, nectarines and mangoes in 2019. 

Asia remains a market with huge potential, with 18% of 
fruit exported to this region during 2020, down from 21% 
in 2019. The reduced volumes can be directly attributed 
to the effects of COVID-19, resulting in reduced buying 
power in the region. Asia remains a market with huge 
potential for South African fruit and the importance 
of increased market access to this region cannot be 
overemphasised. 

Europe is currently the main market for South African 
avocados but will not be able to absorb the additional 
avocado volumes in the future. The upside is, however, 
that avocados have become very popular in China, a 
market that can easily absorb avocado volumes from 
South Africa. It is therefore essential that efforts to 
create market access for South African avocados be 
increased to avoid negative potential for avocado 
producers and exporters. 

Other high value products are also increasing 
significantly from a South African export perspective. 
One such example is macadamia and pecan nut exports. 
These have increased from 35 239 tonnes in 2018/19 
to 39 213 tonnes in 2019/20. It is reported that these 
products are becoming extremely popular and are of 
great value to South Africa due to their high margins. 

With the role of SOEs under review, government’s vision 
for SOEs to play an even greater role in supporting 
government to achieve its objectives bodes well for 
the PPECB, whose strategy is to pursue additional 
mandates with a strategic fit. During 2017 the PPECB 
was temporarily handed the mandate by the then 
Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 
(DAFF) (now Department of Agriculture, Land Reform 
and Rural Development (DALRRD)) for one year to 
manage the phytosanitary programme for citrus exports 
to the EU. The mandate was then extended until the end 
of the 2020 citrus season. The PPECB will once again 
actively pursue other opportunities to assist government 
in achieving its objectives in a similar way. 

International markets have become extremely 
competitive, especially with new market entrants. This 
has provided consumers with more options in terms of 
the availability of fresh produce. Many new entrants can 
land their products at a lower price, often at a similar 
quality. South Africa therefore needs to differentiate 
itself by ensuring a better quality and delivering to the 
right markets at the right time. Here quality inspection 
standards, speed to market (given all the trade barriers) 
and export information are critical.

Changing systems and processes
The introduction of stricter international import 
regulations and requirements puts a lot of pressure on 
South African perishable product export systems and 
processes to ensure compliance and continued market 
access. These policy changes often require additional 
checks and validations, contributing to an already 
overburdened exporting system. In January 2018, 
FCM became a regulated pest for exports to the EU. 
This necessitated the introduction of additional controls 
for exports from South Africa, making it even more 
challenging to access this anchor market. These policy 
changes are expected to continue over the medium term, 
requiring the South African export industry to become 
even more flexible.

Volumes of major fruit products have been increasing 
over the past three years, mainly due to new plantings. 
Citrus fruit exports alone have grown by 7.4% in 2020, 
compared to 2019. The growth in citrus exports is 
expected to continue and will put additional pressure 
on ailing export infrastructure, systems and processes. 
Furthermore, volumes for emerging products like 
blueberries and macadamia nut are expected to 
rise significantly, as they become more popular in 
eastern markets.
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Finally, the need for improved connectivity and mobility has 
significantly increased the risk of cyber-attacks and data 
breaches in recent years. It is therefore no surprise that 
both cyber-attacks and data breaches have catapulted to 
amongst the top five risks globally, with South Africa having 
the third highest number of attacks. This immediately 
puts the credibility of systems under the spotlight as data 
breaches can have far-reaching implications.

The way forward
It is further believed that the following additional 
external factors will shape the business environment 
over the next three years:

• Changing client needs

• Technological advancements

• An increasingly competitive market environment

• Policy changes

• An increase in fruit export volumes

• Information security

• Changes in the world political order.

Internal Environment Analysis
Shifting towards enabling and digitisation
During 2019, the PPECB Board approved a business 
strategy in support of the PPECB’s medium-term 
objectives. The strategy is designed to move the 
organisation from simply being a regulator to being 
an enabler. The strategy is further in support of the 
PPECB’s drive towards digitisation in order to create 
further efficiencies. 

It is clear that clients expect a consistent and more 
professional service as a bare minimum. Most clients 
operate globally, making mobile interaction crucial to 
the success of their businesses. Over the past few years, 
clients have also become accustomed to individualised 
service offerings, online interactions and the instant 
availability of information. Self-service functionalities 
have become the norm rather than the exception.

Global investment in agricultural technology has 
increased by 82% between the period of 2010 to 2015 
(World Government Summit, 2018). Drones, robotics, 
the Internet of Things (IoT), to name just a few, have 
become increasingly common in agriculture, even in 
South Africa. It is expected that human intervention 
will reduce and will be replaced by machine learning. 
Businesses are therefore under pressure to respond 
to this change and integrate with such systems for an 
enhanced client experience and improved efficiencies. 

As a regulator of perishable produce destined for export, 
the PPECB has a national footprint, holds critical export 
information and is internationally renowned and 

Part B: Our Strategic Focus (continued)

ideally positioned to provide its clients with additional 
service offerings to support the competitiveness of their 
respective businesses and South Africa as a whole. The 
PPECB will therefore remain relevant and successful as 
an entity over the next three years by implementing the 
following strategic vision:

Embracing technology to ease interaction and 
establishing ourselves as the industry leader for 
the provision of intelligent market information, 
we will further review our operational 
model to allow for digitisation and change in 
methodologies, whilst continuing to ensure 
compliance. We are committed to improving the 
overall client experience through innovation 
and continuous improvement.

The PPECB must adapt its products, services and 
processes to make it more user-friendly and easier to 
do business. We will further introduce more products 
and services, over and above our core services, that will 
increase our overall value proposition to government 
and the industry.

Towards skills development and lifelong learning
Both the organisation and individuals will need to 
implement continuous skills development. Individuals 
will need to develop a different set of competencies, 
which will enable them to cope with digitalisation. 
The competencies needed will be a combination of 
behavioural, technical and practical competencies. This 
means it will not be enough to have only the knowledge: 
application also becomes important. In this rapid 
reskilling era, unlimited and unrestricted access to 
learning is becoming the game changer. However, for us 
to harness the benefits of this access to learning we need 
to develop into self-directed, agile learners with a strong 
growth mindset.

The organisational culture required is one that promotes 
lifelong learning. All generations and types of employees 
will need to be given the opportunity to upskill 
themselves. This implies that learning will have to be 
on demand, bite-sized and in different formats to suit all 
types of learning styles. The policies and procedures that 
are put in place should encourage access to the learning 
mentioned above. Innovation should be encouraged and 
people must be allowed to explore, experiment and fail, 
without fear of being punished. Employees also need the 
space to unlearn redundant competencies and relearn 
what is relevant for the future. 

The PPECB therefore needs to evolve but this cannot 
be achieved by operating and behaving like an island. 
External and internal collaboration is key and it is 
important that the evolution of the PPECB is a journey 
that includes all its ecosystem members – DALRRD; 
suppliers; clients; service providers; processes and 
services. The challenge is to move beyond silos and 
to co-create new opportunities for creating value and 

innovation. We thus need to create the relevant business 
platforms as enablers.

The way forward
To create value for our ecosystem members, we need to 
do the following as a baseline:

• Increase our infrastructure stability and connectivity

• Strengthen our business intelligence capacity 
and knowledge to provide accurate and complete 
information on time

• Properly integrate innovation into the business

• Speed up procurement

• Properly understand stakeholder needs – internally 
as well as externally

• Deliver TITAN 2.0® and Enterprise Resource Planning 
(ERP) on time

• Ensure seamless integration between the PPECB and 
client systems where possible (ERP, TITAN 2.0®)

• Discover new business models to deliver services cost 
effectively and more quickly.

With these enablers in place, more doors will open to 
enable the PPECB’s future sustainability.
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Strategic projects: TITAN 2.0® and Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP)
An ambitious annual performance target of 80% for 
main products was initially set for the TITAN system. 
This key performance indicator started the year with a 
baseline of 63% and ended at 56% (84 million cartons), 
as a saturation point was reached in terms of the number 
of packhouses adopting the TITAN platform, with the 
implementation of TITAN 2.0® being imminent. TITAN 
was decommissioned on 31 August 2019. The second 
iteration of the platform, TITAN 2.0® was launched 
on 1 October 2019 with User Registration and Service 
Request. On 18 November 2019 the mobile inspection 
module went live. 

The enhanced TITAN 2.0® application has been 
streamlined to be more effective and efficient. During the 
period 1 November 2019 to December 2020, 122 million 
cartons (54%) were inspected at 382 activity points, 
with 901 activity points interfacing with this electronic 
platform. In April 2020 TITAN 2.0® took a significant 
step forward with the integration of the tracking unit 
register (TUR). 

TUR has been introduced by DALRRD as a central 
database in the official export certification system. It is 
intended to store relevant data regarding tracking units. 
This will allow clients to send their tracking unit data 
(pallet information) to the PPECB for quality inspection 
after they have added the tracking unit into the TUR. 
The uptake of TITAN 2.0® by clients is dependent on the 
readiness of the client’s software vendor to integrate 
with the TITAN 2.0® platform. As at December 2020, 
eight software vendors had successfully integrated with 
this platform.

In December 2020 cold chain electronic bookings and a 
search function for temperature regimes (Schedule 1) 
were launched on the TITAN 2.0® platform. 

Part B: Our Strategic Focus (continued)

The orchard inspection module of TITAN 2.0® went live 
in April 2019, which facilitated automated allocation 
of the plant quarantine inspection report to the 
Phytclean platform instead of being manually uploaded. 
Enhancements for the orchard inspection module 
developed included off-line capability of the application, 
view of the orchard size to improve planning of resources 
and division of regions into sub-regions to improve the 
chief inspector’s view of the orchard inspection bookings.

In addition to the continuous development on project 
TITAN 2.0®, the PPECB has initiated the introduction of 
an ERP system to replace its legacy NAVISION system. 
The ERP seeks to create further process efficiencies and 
an enhanced customer experience. The introduction 
of the ERP is expected to take 18 months with major 
milestones to be achieved in the third and fourth quarters 
of 2021. Supporting the PPECB’s drive to digitisation and 
electronic certification, major services will be moved 
to the cloud to improve access and decrease system 
downtime. Cloud migration was initiated in November 
2020 and completion is set for the first quarter of 2021.

Part C: Measuring Our Performance 

Institutional Performance 
Information

The focus of performance over the medium term will be 
on continued service delivery without compromising 
product quality; ensuring a continued contribution 
towards social responsibility, including performing 
technical research and development; providing training 
and assistance to previously disadvantaged individuals 
and small farmers; and focusing on establishing a 
professional and well-trained staff complement that can 
add value to the perishable export industry.  

The priority for the statutory operations programme will be 
to capacitate a workforce that is multi-skilled, competent, 
consistent and uniform in its inspection activities. 

The PPECB will continue to develop its mobile platform to 
conduct electronic export certification and introduce an 
integrated Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system. 
The use of technology will create cost efficiencies in replacing 
the paper-based inspection and verification approach.

Performance will be monitored and managed through a 
system of relevant targets and metrics, leading indicators, 
data-enriched information and dialogue with stakeholders.

Impact Statement

The PPECB is an independent service provider of quality 
assurance, food safety and cold chain services, appointed 
by the Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development (DALRRD) to ensure the orderly export of 
perishable products and to improve the competitiveness 
of our customers in the international market. In addition, 
the PPECB aims to contribute to Priorities 1 and 7 of the 
National Development Plan (NDP), namely “Economic 
Transformation” and “A Better Africa and World”. 

Measuring Our Outcomes
Explanation of planned performance over the 
five-year planning period
The entity will further remain focused on delivering 
an efficient service to customers and strengthening 
relationships with stakeholders locally and abroad. The 
PPECB will also persist with its strategy of consolidation 
and seek to place a greater reliance on systems and 
technology to enhance service delivery over the 
medium term. The entity further remains committed 
to deliver services with integrity and professionalism 
and, given the current economic landscape, the PPECB 
will pay specific attention to managing and controlling 
expenditure, without compromising service delivery. 

To create value for our ecosystem members we need to 
strengthen our capabilities by:

• Increasing our infrastructure stability and 
connectivity

• Strengthening our business intelligence capacity 
and knowledge to provide accurate and complete 
information on time

• Properly integrating innovation into the business

• Properly understanding stakeholder needs – internally, 
as well as externally

• Delivering TITAN 2.0® and ERP on time

• Ensuring seamless integration between PPECB and 
client systems (ERP, TITAN 2.0®)

• Discovering new business models to deliver services 
cost effectively and more quickly.

With these enablers in place, more doors will open to add 
to the PPECB’s future sustainability.



Part C: Measuring Our Performance (continued)

MTSF PRIORITY PRIORITY 1: ECONOMIC TRANSFORMATION AND JOB CREATION
Outcomes Outcome indicators Baseline Five-year target
Strengthen the PPECB’s 
capacity to provide a 
professional suite of services 
for its clients

Customer satisfaction rating 
based on a percentage

80% 80%

Contribute to the socio-
economic transformation of 
the agricultural sector

Number of previously 
disadvantaged individuals 
upskilled through PPECB’s 
Agricultural Export 
Technologist Programme 
(AETP) and transformation 
initiatives in the agricultural 
sector

238 400

MTSF PRIORITY PRIORITY 7: A BETTER AFRICA AND WORLD
Outcomes Outcome indicators Baseline Five-year target
Enhance the credibility of 
the South African Export 
Certificate

Zero markets closed as a 
result of poor quality and food 
safety non-compliance

0 0

Support the export 
competitiveness of the South 
African perishable products 
industry

Enable percentage growth 
in main perishable product 
exports (citrus, grapes, 
pome fruit, stone fruit and 
avocados)

2% 8%

Key Risks and Mitigations

Below is a summary of the key risks and mitigations.

Outcomes Key risks Risk mitigations (current controls and actions)

Efficient service delivery Information security threats

• Conduct monthly patch management for Windows, servers and 
desktops and apply remedial action

• Monitor anti-virus and firewall, ensuring reports are being 
checked and implemented 

Process transformation

Failure of the PPECB people, 
process, systems and products 
to keep up with trends and 
advancements

• Implement business strategy
• Identify skills required to respond to new business strategy
• Keep abreast of latest technological advancements

Capacity building

Failure to adapt the current 
workforce to remain relevant 
and responsive to the “new 
world of work”

• Conduct talent forums to determine skills availability 
• Introduce training programmes aligned to the new business 

strategy

Capacity building

Mismatch between current 
culture and enabling culture to 
drive people, process, system 
and product change and 
implement strategy

• Contract accredited training provider LRMG to raise 
awareness and assist the business with implementation of the 
new business strategy 

• Review PPECB values to ensure relevance to the new business 
strategy

• Define the PPECB purpose

Efficient service delivery
Volatility of critical 
infrastructure and technology 
services

• Seek alternative back-up power for key regional offices and the 
laboratory

• Implement incident response testing in relation to disaster 
recovery plan

• Seek alternative connectivity at remote sites due to 
insufficient telecommunication infrastructure

Efficient service delivery

Successful implementation of 
TITAN 2.0® to deliver business 
value, system integration and 
business intelligence

• Conduct penetration test for TITAN 2.0®
• Monitor industry vendor readiness to deliver to clients

Process transformation 
and efficient service 
delivery

Successful implementation 
of ERP to deliver business 
value, system integration and 
business intelligence

• Formulate and implement a change management strategy 
• Integrate and align TITAN 2.0®, ERP and Master Data with 

NAVISION

Business transformation
Lack of meaningful 
contribution to industry 
transformation

• Implement the transformation strategy and new 
transformation initiatives

• Formulate action plan for Agri B-BBEE guidelines
• Create awareness in the industry

Compliance

Non-compliance with 
the Agricultural Product 
Standards (APS) Act mandate, 
Perishable Products Export 
Control (PPEC) Act and other 
key legislation

• Obtain cabinet approval for the PPEC Bill and the PPECB 
Levies Bill

• Automate controls in the ERP system to comply with 
legislation

Efficient service delivery Under-recovery of costs

• Formalise laboratory expansion strategy
• Review expenditure to contain costs
• Review the costing/funding model
• Renegotiate additional DALRRD mandates
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Part D: Technical Indicator Descriptions

Indicator title Percentage of money spent on B-BBEE suppliers

Definition
Procurement expenditure for goods and services from suppliers that are B-BBEE 
compliant

Source of data
The data is collected from a financial programme (NAVISION 13) that captures 
whether suppliers have a B-BBEE certificate as evidence of their compliance

Method of calculation or assessment
Spend on B-BBEE suppliers is divided by the total spend and that gives the 
percentage of B-BBEE spend

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance

The desired performance would be that which exceeds the target as an indication 
that the PPECB business benefits mostly the B-BBEE suppliers, especially Qualifying 
Small Enterprises (QSEs) and Exempted Micro Enterprises (EMEs) that play a vital 
role in reducing unemployment

Indicator responsibility Procurement manager

Indicator title 
Percentage of information provided at a 95% accuracy level in week one of 
reporting

Definition
The percentage of information that is captured of total volume inspected/exported 
the previous week

Source of data
A record is kept of the volumes reported in the service level agreement (SLA) 
reports that are sent to the industry

Method of calculation or assessment

When the weekly reports are sent to industry, the volume per product group 
is captured and stored: that specific week’s volume is then monitored for three 
consecutive weeks to gauge the total amount captured after three weeks, versus 
what was captured in the first week 

Assumptions
The majority of clients will subscribe to government’s and the PPECB’s electronic 
platforms

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
The aim is to have at least an average of the total information captured in the first 
week with a 95% accuracy

Indicator responsibility Coordinator inspection administrator

Programme 1: Corporate Services
Indicator title Organisational customer satisfaction index measured annually as a percentage

Definition
The percentage of customers who are satisfied with the service provided by the 
PPECB

Source of data
The data is gathered from the annual Customer Satisfaction Survey conducted by the 
marketing and communications manager

Method of calculation or assessment
Respondents to the Customer Satisfaction Survey are asked to rate the PPECB’s 
customer service levels on a scale of 1% to 100%: the percentages are then averaged 
to obtain the final score

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Performance which is higher than the target is desirable as this would indicate that 
the clients are satisfied with the PPECB’s performance

Indicator responsibility Marketing and communications manager

Indicator title Number of manual processes converted to electronic or digital form

Definition
This refers to the PPECB’s mostly manual processes that will be converted to 
electronic or digital form with the introduction of TITAN 2.0® and Enterprise 
Resource Planning (ERP)

Source of data
This is calculated based on the number of processes converted to electronic or digital 
form

Method of calculation or assessment Total number of processes converted

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance

The current attrition rate illustrates that we are experiencing difficulties with 
the changeover. However, with the introduction of TITAN 2.0®, ERP and other 
technologies, the way we operate will change considerably and some processes will 
ultimately become redundant as we leverage on technology and digitalise. The PPECB 
will have to be able to transform from manual processes to electronic or automated 
processes

Indicator responsibility CIO/COO/General managers: Operations
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Programme 2: Operational Services

Part D: Technical Indicator Descriptions (continued)

Indicator title Percentage of samples inspected on a 2% basis

Definition
100% of consignments must be inspected on a 2% sample, which is very labour-
intensive

Source of data The data is collected from consignment notes inspected at a full 2%

Method of calculation or assessment
Data is collected manually and reported monthly to a coordinator, who reports 
monthly and quarterly: the number of samples inspected on a 2% basis is expressed 
as a percentage of total samples inspected

Assumptions The fixed-percentage inspection will continue to be the officially applied methodology

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Performance which is higher than target is desirable as this would indicate an 
increase in inspections carried out at 2% sampling

Indicator responsibility General managers: Operations

Indicator title 
Percentage of cartons of main perishable products (citrus, grapes, pome fruit, 
stone fruit and avocados) captured on the TITAN 2.0® system

Definition The percentage of cartons of main perishable products captured using TITAN 2.0®

Source of data Monthly report from the PPECB mobile technology system

Method of calculation or assessment
Number of cartons captured using TITAN 2.0®, divided by the total number of 
cartons captured for a fiscal year: this is only for the main product groups (citrus, 
grapes, pome fruit, stone fruit and avocados)

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Desired performance is to achieve 60% of cartons captured on TITAN 2.0® for the 
2020/21 fiscal year

Indicator responsibility General managers: Operations

Indicator title 
Number of activity points interfacing with the PPECB mobile technology 
platform 

Definition
The number of inspection activity points that are able to exchange data with the 
PPECB tablet technology system

Source of data Monthly report from PPECB mobile technology system

Method of calculation or assessment
Total number of activity points that were able to exchange data with the PPECB 
tablet technology system during a fiscal year

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance Desired performance is to achieve at least 200 activity points in the fiscal year

Indicator responsibility Application development manager

Programme 3: Food Safety Services

Indicator title Number of samples analysed using accredited methods

Definition
Samples analysed for testing as per the Department of Agriculture, Land Reform 
and Rural Development (DALRRD) mandate for pesticides, mycotoxins and 
compositional dairy testing for export and local markets 

Source of data
Through the laboratory information management system (LIMS), sample 
information, from tracking numbers to tests conducted, are captured and recorded 
on a daily basis

Method of calculation or assessment
Volumes of samples analysed for different tests are counted by the LIMS 
automatically when received at sample reception

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
A higher than target performance is preferred, as increased samples analysed for 
testing are indicative of compliance to food and feed safety regulations, and may also 
be indicative of increased exports

Indicator responsibility Laboratory manager

Indicator title Number of food safety audits conducted

Definition
The number of exporting Food Business Operators (FBOs) who were SA GAP (R707) 
certified each quarter

Source of data The data is gathered from the Food Safety programme which issues the certificates

Method of calculation or assessment Total number of Food Safety certificates issued per quarter to exporting FBOs 

Assumptions The PPECB will continue to act as an appointed agent to DALRRD

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Performance which is higher than the target is desirable as this would indicate that 
oversight is increasing 

Indicator responsibility Programme manager: Food safety
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Programme 4: Transformation and Development Services

Part D: Technical Indicator Descriptions (continued)

Indicator title 
Number of students graduating through the Agricultural Export Technologist 
Programme (AETP) annually

Definition
The number of people who fulfil all the requirements of the learnership, who are then 
awarded with an NQF Level 5 qualification after their Portfolios of Evidence have 
been assessed and moderated

Source of data Certificates issued by SETA

Method of calculation or assessment
The indicator is calculated based on the number of students who have graduated (i.e. 
who have successfully met the learnership requirements)

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
All registered students graduate after course completion and get employment in the 
sector

Indicator responsibility Learning and development manager

Indicator title Number of smallholder farmers trained

Definition The number of smallholder farmers trained by the PPECB

Source of data Attendance registers completed by farmers during training sessions

Method of calculation or assessment Total number of farmers attending training sessions per quarter, across all registers

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Performance which is higher than the target is desirable as this would indicate that 
more smallholder farmers have an awareness of post-harvest activities

Indicator responsibility Learning and development manager

Indicator title Number of new skills identified and training needs fulfilled

Definition
The number of new skills identified in the PPECB, facilitating adaption to digital 
transformation

Source of data The data is collected from the Operations/Human Capital departments

Method of calculation or assessment Total number of new skills identified and trained for

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
The target should increase continuously as new technologies are introduced and new 
skills requirements trained for

Indicator responsibility Human Capital Executive/Business optimisation

Indicator title 
Percentage of permanent technical professionals (inspectors and assessors) 
evaluated as technically competent

Definition

The percentage of permanent inspectors and assessors evaluated as competent by 
an independent Learning and Development Product and Cold Chain Specialist within 
a four-year cycle. The organisation sets a targeted percentage based on the desired 
competency levels and the default risk tolerance manageable internally. A count of 
the number of individuals evaluated is then reported

Source of data
The data is gathered from specialists within the Learning and Development 
department, which has a national footprint in all PPECB regions. A seasonal plan is 
followed and the competence status of the inspectorate reported on quarterly

Method of calculation or assessment
The number of technical professionals evaluated as competent, expressed as a 
percentage of the total number of technical professionals employed by the PPECB

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Performance which is higher than the target is desirable as this would indicate 
that the inspectorate is better equipped to fulfil its mandated and market access 
responsibilities

Indicator responsibility Learning and development manager

Indicator title Number of smallholder farmers certified for export

Definition
The number of smallholder farmers who attained SA GAP (R707) certification in a 
quarter

Source of data The data is gathered from the Food Safety programme which issues the certificates

Method of calculation or assessment Total number of certificates issued per quarter to smallholder farmers

Assumptions N/A

Disaggregation of beneficiaries (where 
applicable)

N/A

Spatial transformation  
(where applicable)

N/A

Desired performance
Performance which is higher than the target is desirable as this would indicate that 
more smallholder farmers have gained market access

Indicator responsibility Learning and development manager
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Programme Performance Tables 

Outcomes, outputs, output indicators, targets and actual achievements tables
Subsequent to the approval of the PPECB’s Annual Financial Statements, tables relating to programme performance were 
updated to meet National Treasury requirements for instances where the entity re-tabled their Annual Performance Plan (APP) 
to accommodate for the impact of COVID-19.
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Table 1: Original annual targets vs Q1 actual achievement
The table below reflects the originally tabled APP until the date of re-tabling as per year end March 31 2021.

Programme 1: Corporate services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target

Actual achievement 
2020/21 until date 

of  re-tabling 

Deviation from planned 
target to Q1 actual 

achievement
Reason for deviation

Reason for revisions 
to the outputs/output 
indicators/annual 
targets

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Contribute to the socio-
economic transformation 
of the agricultural sector

Transformed business to 
allow black business to 
participate in the South 
African economy

% of money spent on 
B-BBEE suppliers* 78% 80% 80% 79% -1% Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
No revision to annual 
target

Support the export 
competitiveness of 
South African perishable 
products industries

Informed and satisfied 
stakeholder base

% of export and/or inspection 
information provided at a 
95% accuracy level in week 1 
of reporting*

95% 95% 95% 93% -2% Comparing first quarter 
actual to annual target

No revision to annual 
target

Strengthen the PPECB’s 
capacity to provide a 
professional suite of 
services for its clients

Informed and satisfied 
stakeholder base

Organisational customer 
satisfaction index measured 
annually as a %**

82% 80% 80% – – No revision to annual 
target

Digitised business processes
Number of manual processes 
converted to electronic or 
digitised*

N/A N/A 5 1 -4 Comparing first quarter 
actual to annual target

No revision to annual 
target

Programme 2: Operational services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target

Actual achievement 
2020/21 until date of

re-tabling 

Deviation from planned 
target to Q1 actual 

achievement
Reason for deviation

Reason for revisions 
to the outputs/output 
indicators/annual 
targets

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21
Enhance the credibility 
of the South African 
export certificate

Compliance
% of samples inspected on a 
2% basis* 98% 99% 99% 98% -1% Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
No revision to annual 
target

Support the export 
competitiveness of 
South African perishable 
products industries

Efficient service delivery 
through client subscriptions 
on e-platforms

% of cartons of main products 
(citrus, grapes, pome, 
stone fruit and avocados 
collectively) captured on 
TITAN 2.0®*

63% 6% 60% 45% -15% Comparing first quarter 
actual to annual target

No revision to annual 
target

Number of activity points 
interfacing with the PPECB 
mobile technology platform*

910 920 920 800 -120 Comparing first quarter 
actual to annual target

No revision to annual 
target

Programme 3: Food safety services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target

Actual achievement 
2020/21 until date of

re-tabling 

Deviation from planned 
target to Q1 actual 

achievement
Reason for deviation

Reason for revisions 
to the outputs/output 
indicators/annual 
targets

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Enhance the credibility 
of the South African 
export certificate

Confidence in South African 
food safety assurance 
systems

Number of samples analysed 
using accredited methods* 26 023 24 000 26 000 5 092 -20 908 Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
Output revised due to 
impact of COVID-19

Number of food safety audits 
conducted* 1 100 850 850 112 -738 Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
Output revised due to 
impact of COVID-19
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Programme 4: Transformation and development services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target

Actual achievement 
2020/21 until date 

of re-tabling 

Deviation from planned 
target to Q1 actual 

achievement
Reason for deviation

Reason for revisions 
to the outputs/output 
indicators/annual 
targets

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Contribute to the socio-
economic transformation 
of the agricultural sector

Capacity building

Number of students graduated 
through the Agricultural 
Export Technologist 
Learnership Programme 
(AETP) annually**

39 45 45 0 -45 Comparing first quarter 
actual to annual target

Output revised due to 
impact of COVID-19

Number of smallholder 
farmers trained* 170 238 200 0 -200 Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
Output revised due to 
impact of COVID-19

Number of new skills identified 
and trained* N/A N/A 2 0 -2 Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
No revision to annual 
target

Competent staff

% of permanent technical 
professionals (inspectors 
and assessors) evaluated as 
technically competent*

93% 95% 95% 91% -4% Comparing first quarter 
actual to annual target

Output revised due to 
impact of COVID-19

Market access Number of smallholder 
farmers certified for export* 57 25 20 0 -20 Comparing first quarter 

actual to annual target
Output revised due to 
impact of COVID-19

*  Targets are cumulative
**  Targets are annual

Programme 2: Operational services Audited actual 
performance

Audited 
actual 

performance

Planned annual 
target Actual achievement 

Deviation from planned 
target to actual 

achievement
Reasons for deviation

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21
Enhance the credibility 
of the South African 
export certificate

Compliance
% of samples inspected on a 2% 
basis* 98% 99% 99% 99% – Target was met. No deviation

Support the export 
competitiveness of 
South African perishable 
products industries

Efficient service delivery 
through client subscriptions 
on e-platforms

% of cartons of main products 
(citrus, grapes, pome, stone 
fruit and avocados collectively) 
captured on TITAN 2.0®*

63% 6% 60% 66% +6%
Citrus and avocado uptake was higher than initially 
anticipated. High uptake of TITAN 2.0® by grape 
packhouses (80%)

Number of activity points 
interfacing with the PPECB 
mobile technology platform*

910 920 920 922 +2
Higher number of citrus and grape activity points 
interfaced than anticipated to prepare for Tracking 
Unit Register (TUR) integration

Revised outcomes, outputs, output indicators, targets and actual achievements tables

Programme Performance Tables (continued)
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Table 2: Revised annual targets and actual achievements.
The table below reflects the re-tabled APP.

Programme 1: Corporate services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target Actual achievement 

Deviation from planned 
target to actual 

achievement
Reasons for deviation

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Contribute to the socio-
economic transformation 
of the agricultural sector

Transformed business to 
allow black business to 
participate in the South 
African economy

% of money spent on 
B-BBEE suppliers* 78% 80% 80% 85% +5%

Target was met for the year despite the challenges 
brought about by the impact of COVID-19. Key focus 
was on increased spend with B-BBEE compliant 
suppliers

Support the export 
competitiveness of 
South African perishable 
products industries

Informed and satisfied 
stakeholder base

% of export and/or inspection 
information provided at a 95% 
accuracy level in week 1 of 
reporting*

95% 95% 95% 96% +1% Target achieved despite connectivity and COVID-19 
challenges

Strengthen the PPECB’s 
capacity to provide a 
professional suite of 
services for its clients

Informed and satisfied 
stakeholder base

Organisational customer 
satisfaction index measured 
annually as a %**

82% 80% 80% 84% +4% The PPECB excelled in service delivery despite 
COVID-19 challenges

Digitised business processes
Number of manual processes 
converted to electronic or 
digitised*

N/A N/A 5 5 – Target was met. No deviation
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Programme 4: Transformation and development services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target Actual achievement 

Deviation from planned 
target to actual 

achievement
Reason for deviation

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Contribute to the socio-
economic transformation 
of the agricultural sector

Capacity building

Number of students graduated 
through the AETP programme 
annually**

39 45 40 42 +2 Due to COVID-19, students declined their offers. We 
were able to replace two students

Number of smallholder 
farmers trained* 170 238 150 53 -97

Limited training conducted due to COVID-19 
restrictions and provinces not concluding MOA, SLA 
and SCM processes

Number of new skills identified 
and trained* N/A N/A 2 5 +3

• Business analysis 
• Virtual facilitation
• Artificial intelligence
• Virtual gurus
• Data quality management

Competent staff

% of permanent technical 
professionals (inspectors 
and assessors) evaluated as 
technically competent*

93% 95% 92% 92% –
Target achieved despite challenges on cold chain due 
to impact of COVID-19. Product inspection targets 
achieved

Market access Number of smallholder 
farmers certified for export* 57 25 15 129 +114

The increase in farmers certified is due to the 
implementation of the Raisin South Africa (industry 
body) certification framework that required all 
Northern Cape raisin smallholder farmers to 
be certified

* Targets are cumulative
** Targets are annual

Programme Performance Tables (continued)
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Programme 3: Food safety services Audited actual 
performance

Audited actual 
performance

Planned annual 
target Actual achievement 

Deviation from planned 
target to actual 

achievement
Reasons for deviation

Outcome Output Output indicator 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Enhance the credibility 
of the South African 
export certificate

Confidence in South African 
food safety assurance 
systems

Number of samples analysed 
using accredited methods* 26 023 24 000 22 500 18 562 -3 938

The statutory groundnuts and Pesticide Analytical 
Programme (PAP) samples were 31% and 32% 
below budgeted samples respectively. The COVID-19 
pandemic and lockdown, climate conditions, as well 
as emerging competitors, all played a role in the 
reduction in sample volumes

Number of food safety audits 
conducted* 1 100 850 550 1 286 +736 Exceedance due to vineyard/orchard packing and 

raisin drying facility audits



Glossary of Acronyms and Abbreviations

AETP Agricultural Export Technologist Programme

AgriSETA Agricultural Sector Education Training Authority

APP Annual Performance Plan

APS Act Agricultural Product Standards Act

B-BBEE Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment

BREXIT British exit from the European Union

CBS Citrus Black Spot

CBS RMS Citrus Black Spot Risk Management System

CCA Cool Chain Association

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CIO Chief Information Officer

COBIT Control Objectives for Information and Related 
Technologies

COO Chief Operations Officer 

CSI Corporate Social Investment

DALRRD Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and 
Rural Development

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning

EU European Union 

EXCO Executive Committee

FBO Food Business Operator

FCM False Codling Moth

FCM RMS False Codling Moth Risk Management System

GDP Gross Domestic Product 

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

Gqeberha Previously known as Port Elizabeth

ICT Information and Communications Technology

IRBA Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors

ISA International Standards on Auditing

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation

KING IVTM/
KING IV 
REPORTTM

King IV Report on Corporate GovernanceTM for 
South Africa 2016

LIMS Laboratory Information Management System

LOR Lower Orange River

MANCO Operational Management Committee

MTSF Medium-term Strategic Framework

NDP National Development Plan

NGP National Growth Path

Ngqura Previously known as Coega

NQF National Qualification Framework

OHS Occupational Health and Safety

PAIA Promotion of Access to Information Act

PAP Pesticide Analytical Programme

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

POPIA Protection of Personal Information Act

PPE Personal Protective Equipment

PPEC Act Perishable Products Export Control Act

PPECB Perishable Products Export Control Board

RISCO Risk Management Committee

SA GAP South African Good Agricultural Practices

SETA Sector Education and Training Authority

SLA Service Level Agreement

SOE State-owned Enterprise

TITAN 2.0® PPECB Mobile Application

TUR Tracking Unit Register

UK United Kingdom

USA United States of America

USDA United States Department of Agriculture

YES Youth Employment Service
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